

TECHNISCHE UNIVERSITÄT MÜNCHEN

Lehrstuhl für Proteomik und Bioanalytik

Chemical Proteomics for Characterization of Small Molecule Kinase Inhibitors in Cancer and Inflammation

Huichao Qiao

Vollständiger Abdruck der von der Fakultät Wissenschaftszentrum Weihenstephan für Ernährung, Landnutzung und Umwelt der Technischen Universität München zur Erlangung des akademischen Grades eines

Doktors der Naturwissenschaften

genehmigten Dissertation.

Vorsitzende: Univ.-Prof. Dr. Iris Antes

Prüfer der Dissertation: 1. Univ.-Prof. Dr. Bernhard Küster

2. Univ.-Prof. Dr. Jürgen Ruland

Die Dissertation wurde am 10.03.2017 bei der Technischen Universität München eingereicht und durch die Fakultät Wissenschaftszentrum Weihenstephan für Ernährung, Landnutzung und Umwelt am 04.05.2017 angenommen

Table of Contents

Abstract	1
Zusammenfassung	2
CHAPTER I	4
General Introduction	4 ⊿
1.2 Kinases and their inhibitors	7
1.2.1 Protein kinases	7
1.2.2 Small molecule kinase inhibitors	10
1.3 Profiling of small molecules by chemical proteomics	18
1.3.1 Chemical proteomics	18
1.3.2 Activity-based probe profiling	18
1.3.3 Compound-centric chemical proteomics	21
1.4 Mass spectrometry	24
1.4.1 Instrumentation	24
1.4.2 Mass spectrometry-based proteomics	26
1.4.3 Protein identification and protein quantification	26
Aim of thesis	29
CHAPTER II	30
Selectivity Profiling of Cyclin-dependent Kinase Inhibitors	30
2.1 Introduction	30
2.2 Methods and materials	35
2.2.1 Four cell lines mix	35
2.2.2 Kinobeads comprtition assay	35
2.2.3 LC/MS-MS measurements	36
2.2.4 Proteins and peptides identification and quantification	36
2.3 Results and discussions	37
2.3.1 Characterization of "pan-CDK" inhibitor Alvocidib	37
2.3.2 New-generation CDK inhibitors increase CDK2 potency, but not CDK1	39
2.3.3 CDK4/6 inhibitors are more selective and potent than "pan-CDK" inhibitor	or
Alvocidib	43
2.3.4 Off-targets of second-generation CDK inhibitors	46
2.3.5 Differences and similarities of CDK inhibitors in CDK/cyclin complexes	
inhibition	48
2.3.6 Overview of CDK inhibitors in cell cycle regulation and transcription	49
2.4 Conclusions	51
CHAPTER III	52
Salt-inducible Kinase 2 Is a Potential Target in Immune Response	52
3.1 Introduction	52

3.2 Methods and materials55
3.2.1 Reagents
3.2.2 Cell lines
3.2.3 Bone-marrow-derived dendritic cell (BMDCs) culture
3.2.4 Peripheral blood mononuclear cells (PBMCs) and human DCs culture 55
3.2.5 Cytokine secretion measurement 56
3.2.6 Dose dependent cell viability assay
3.2.7 Small interfering RNA (siRNA) to knockdown SIK2 expression
3.2.8 Western blot
3.3 Results and discussions
3.3.1 Characterization of SIK2-specific inhibitor HG-9-91-01 in Kinobeads assay
3.3.2 Drug-screen profiling to determine SIK2 inhibitors in inhibitors' library 61
3.3.3 SIK2 inhibition had no effect in cell growth62
3.3.4 SIK2 inhibition reduced TNF- α production in THP-1 cell line
3.3.5 SIK2 inhibition reduced TNF- α production and induced IL-10 production in
HoxB8 cell line
3.3.6 SIK2 inhibition led to the decreasing of TNF- α and increasing of IL-10 in
both murine and human immune system68
3.3.7 Knockdown of SIK2 expression by siRNA induced IL-10 production and
reduced TNF-α secretion in THP-1 cell line71
3.4 Conclusions
CHAPTER IV75
General discussion75
Abbreviations
Acknowledgements85
List of Publications
References

Abstract

Protein kinases have been established as promising drug targets for treatment of various types of cancers. Small molecule kinase inhibitors have become increasingly important in cancer therapeutics. Currently, more than 33FDA-approved kinase inhibitors have been used as promising targeted therapeutics, and numerous (>250) inhibitors are in various stages of clinical evaluation. Kinobeadstechnology in combination with high-resolution MS has emerged a powerful tool to understand the mode of action, to identify new targets, and to characterize potential off-target effects of small molecule kinase inhibitors. In this thesis, a dose-resolved quantitative chemical proteomics approach has been used to understand the mechanism of small molecule kinase inhibitors and to highlight their off-targets.

CDKs are a family of protein kinases that play the most important role in the regulation of cell cycle transitions, and four CDKs (CDK1, CDK2, CDK4, and CDK6) are essential components of the cell cycle machinery with key functions in both human normal cells and in human cancer cells. Over-expression of CDKs is highly related with human cancers, and 14 drugs that target CDKs activity have emerged and have been tested in various stages of clinic. The other CDK inhibitors are still in clinical trials beside FDA approved CDK4/6 inhibitor Palbociclib. This study characterized 14 CDK inhibitors, which include both first- and second-generation CDK inhibitors. These inhibitors were tested using Kinobeadstechnology in a competitive approach against a large number of kinases, including CDKs and their complex partners. The results of this work show the successful development of a new generation of CDK inhibitors, but they also offer good explanations why CDK inhibitors have not been able to withstand FDA testing in the past.

Salt-inducible kinase 2 (SIK2) has been found to be a potential target in inflammation and autoimmune diseases. In this study, SIK2 has been detected as an off-target by screening 242 small molecule kinase inhibitors through Kinobeadspulldown assay. Notably, treatment of various immune responding models (THP-1, BMDCs, PBMCs, and human DCs) with SIK2 inhibitors particularly induced the production of anti-inflammatory cytokine IL-10 and reduced the production of pro-inflammatory cytokine TNF- α . Anti-TNF- α therapy and IL-10 therapy have been demonstrated to be exploited in various clinical trials for the development of therapies of several inflammatory diseases. Nevertheless, no small molecule kinase inhibitor has shown therapeutic benefits in these therapies. This work provides strong reasons to drive low molecular weight SIK2 inhibitors in the investigation of inflammatory and autoimmune diseases.

Zusammenfassung

Proteinkinasen wurden als vielversprechende therapeutische Ziele zur Behandlung verschiedener Krebsarten etabliert. Niedermolekulare Kinaseinhibitoren nehmen eine zunehmend wichtige Bedeutung als Krebsmedikamente ein. Mehr als 33 Kinaseinhibitoren wurden bereits von der FDA als vielversprechende zielgerichtete Therapeutika zugelassen und eine Vielzahl von Inhibitoren (>250) werden derzeit in verschiedenen klinischen Phasen getestet. Die KinobeadsTechnologie, kombiniert mit hochauflösender Massenspektrometrie, ist zu einer effektiven Methode geworden, um die Wirkungsweise niedermolekularer Kinaseinhibitoren zu verstehen, neue Zielproteine zu identifizieren und potentielle Nebenwirkungen zu charakterisieren. In dieser Arbeit wurde dieser chemisch-proteomische Ansatz dosis-aufgelöst angewandt, um die Wirkweise niedermolekularer Kinaseinhibitoren zu erfassen und deren weitere Zielproteine aufzuzeigen.

CDKs umfassen eine Familie von Proteinkinasen, die die wichtigste Rolle in der Regulation des Zellzyklus spielen; vier dieser CDKs sind essentielle Komponenten der Zellzyklus Maschinerie mit Schlüsselfunktionen sowohl in gesunden als auch in Krebszellen: CDK1, CDK2, CDK4 und CD6. Die Überexpression von CDKs ist eng verknüpft mit der Entstehung von Krebs und es wurden bereits 14 Medikamente, die die Aktivität von CDKs beeinflussen, entwickelt und in verschiedenen klinischen Phasen getestet. Ausser dem durch die FDA zugelassenen CDK4/6 Inhibitor Palbociclib, sind alle CDK Inhibitoren noch in klinischen Studien. Diese Arbeit charakterisiert 14 CDK Inhibitoren, welche sowohl die erste als auch die zweite Generation von CDK Inhibitoren umfassen. Diese Inhibitoren wurden mit Hilfe der KinobeadsTechnologie in einem kompetitiven Ansatz gegen eine grosse Anzahl von Kinasen, darunter auch CDKs und deren Komplexpartner, getestet. Die Ergebnisse dieser Arbeit zeigen zum einen die erfolgreiche Entwicklung einer neuen Generation von CDK Inhibitoren auf, bieten allerdings auch triftige Erklärungen weshalb CDK Inhibitoren der Prüfung durch die FDA in der Vergangenheit nicht standhalten konnten.

Salt-inducible kinase 2 (SIK2) wurde als potentielles therapeutisches Ziel in Entzündungs- und Autoimmunerkrankungen beschrieben. In der vorliegenden Studie wurden 242 niedermolekulare Kinaseinhibitoren mit Hilfe der KinobeadsTechnologie getestet und SIK2 wurde als unbeabsichtigt getroffenes Zielprotein einiger Inhibitoren identifiziert. Die Behandlung verschiedener präklinischer Modelle für Immunantwort (THP-1, BMDCs, PBMCs und humane DCs) mit SIK2 Inhibitoren induzierte die Produktion des anti-inflammatorischen Zytokins IL-10 und reduzierte die Produktion

des pro-inflammatorischen Zytokins TNF-α. Anti-TNF-α und IL-10 basierte Therapien wurden bereits in verschiedenen klinischen Studien zur Behandlung einiger Entzündungskrankheiten getestet. Allerdings konnte bisher kein niedermolekularer Inhibitor einen therapeutischen Effekt vorweisen. Diese Arbeit liefert starke Gründe dafür niedermolekulare SIK2 Inhibitoren in der Erforschung von Entzündungs- und Autoimmunerkrankungen voranzutreiben.

CHAPTERI General Introduction

1.1 Targeted cancer therapies

Cancer is a group of diseases characterized by somatic cells becoming abnormal, having out-of-control cell growth, and becoming malignant^{1, 2}. Over 100 different types of cancers have been detected, and each of them has been classified by the initially affected cell type so far³. High morbidity and mortality rates worldwide are caused by cancer, with a total of 14.1 million new cancer cases emerging and 8.2 million cancer deaths occurring in the world in 2012⁴; approximately 1.7 million new cases emerged and 0.6 million cancer-related deaths occurred in the United States in 2014⁵. Population growth and aging and risk factors such as obesity and tobacco and alcohol use have been established as factors that increase the occurrence of cancer, and smoking is the most important risk factor for around 20% of cancer-related deaths⁶⁻⁸. Elucidation of the molecular mechanism of cancer development has consequently devoted considerable efforts. There are various types of cancer therapies: surgery, radiation therapy, chemotherapy, immunotherapy, targeted therapy, hormone therapy, and stem cell transplant^{9, 10}. The understanding of cancer biology contributes toward identifying the pathways of different tumor entities. These findings are being used to generate targeted cancer therapy by selectively targeting certain proteins that have different expression levels in cancer cells and in normal cells or tissues¹¹.

More recently, targeted cancer therapy has increasingly attracted greater attention^{6, 12,} ¹³. Specific molecules, also called molecular targets, have been detected to play an essential role in tumor growth, progression, and spreading¹⁴. Thereby, targetedcancer therapy enables utilization of drugs or other substances to block the tumor growth and spreading by interfering with specific molecular targets¹⁵. Targeted cancer therapy exhibits some differences when compared with the conventional chemotherapeutic treatment¹⁶. While targeted cancer therapy works on specific tumor-associated molecular targets, most standard chemotherapies are non-specific when interfering with the growth of all rapidly dividing cells, including both normal and cancer cells. The design of targeted therapy is aimed at blocking the interaction with specific tumor-associated molecular targets, whereas most standard chemotherapies are identified because of their cytotoxicity on cells¹⁷. Targeted therapy often blocks the proliferation of tumor cells, while standard chemotherapy drugs enable tumor cell killing¹⁸.Owing to these characteristics, targeted therapy shows significant benefits over standard chemotherapy for the treatment of cancer. Currently, targeted therapies have become the focus of anti-cancer drug development. A number of different types of targeted therapies, including immunotherapies, ligand-targeted therapies, therapies, angiogenesis antisense inhibitors, tyrosine kinase inhibitors, metalloproteinase inhibitors, apoptosis agonists, have been approved for the treatment of cancer^{15, 19-22}.



Figure 1.1 An overview of targeted cancer therapy.

Chapter I General introduction

The identification of specific targets that play a critical role in cancer cell growth and survival is required in the development of targeted therapies (Figure 1.1)²³.Some approaches have been identified to carry out target identification. The first approach is to compare the expression level of individual proteins in cancer and normal cells²⁴. The specific proteins that are expressed only in cancer cells or more abundantly in cancer cells, especially if they have been demonstrated to be involved in cell growth or survival, would be potential targets. For example, human epidermal growth factor receptor 2 protein (HER-2) is present in breast and stomach cancer cells with high expression level. Trastuzumab is designed to directly work against HER-2 and is approved to treat certain breast and stomach cancers with over-expression of HER-2²⁵. The second approach of potential target identification is determining the mutant proteins that drive tumor progression²⁶. An example of such cell growth signaling protein BRAF mutant V600E is present in many melanomas. Vemurafenib has been developed to work against this mutant, which has been approved to treat metastatic melanoma with BRAF V600E²⁷. The third approach is to identify certain chromosome abnormalities that are present only in cancer cells, which result in a fusion protein and can drive tumor development²⁸. For example, Imatinibhas been developed to target Breakpoint cluster region protein-Abelson murine leukemia viral oncogene homolog (BCR-Abl) fusion protein and has been approved to treat BCR-Abl-driven leukemia²⁹.

After the identification of the candidate target, there is a key problem in the development of targeted therapy to interfere with the ability of target that induces cancer cell growth or survival. Small molecules that focus on the intracellular targets and monoclonal antibodies that focus on the extracellular targets are two common approaches of targeted therapies³⁰. Small molecule agents are designed to easily enter the cells to work against the intracellular targets. "High-throughput screen" is used to identify the candidate small molecules by determining the effects of test compounds on a specific target protein in compounds libraries³¹. Numerous versions of related effective compounds have been produced by chemical modification and

testing to determine the most effective and specific molecules for targeted therapy^{31, 32}. Monoclonal antibodies, which are relatively large and difficult to enter cells, are used to work against the extracellular targets³³. Purified target proteins are used to inject animals such as mice, enabling the animals to produce many different types of antibodies against the target. The most effective antibody that binds best to the target protein is detected from these antibodies libraries³⁴.

Although targeted cancer therapies exhibit many advantages in cancer treatment, they still have some limitations. The most serious issue is the acquired resistance after long-term drug treatment^{35, 36}. The mechanism of acquired resistance includes two ways: mutation of the targets that mutes the interaction between targeted therapy drugs and the identified targets, and introduction of a new pathway that is independent of the target and occurs to promote tumor growth. Therefore, a combination of targeted therapies that target different parts of cell signaling pathway works better in cancer treatment. Recent research has showed that a combination drug therapy slowly induces drug resistance and disease progression in melanoma with B-Raf V600E mutation³⁷. Combination of targeted therapy with traditional chemotherapy also works well in cancer treatment. The combination of the targeted therapy drug trastuzumab with the traditional chemotherapy drug docetaxel was approved for the treatment of metastatic breast cancer with over-expression of HER-2³⁸.

1.2 Kinases and their inhibitors

1.2.1 Protein kinases

Protein kinases, which play aessential role in the regulation of cell processes, have been found to be closely involved in tumor cell survival and proliferation, and represent a magnetic target in oncology drug discovery³⁹. The human genome consists of 518 protein kinases genes, which constitute about 2% of all human genes⁴⁰. Among these 518 kinases, over 150 are demonstrated to be misregulated or

mutated in various diseases, especially in cancer²⁵. Based on the sequence similarities of catalytic domain, protein kinases can be grouped into seven families: AGCK (PKA, PKC, and PKG kinases), CaMK (calcium/calmodulin-dependent protein kinases), CK1 (casein kinase 1), CMGC (CDK, GSK3, and CLK kinases), mitogen-activated protein kinase (MAPK), STE (homologs of yeast Sterile 7, Sterile 11, and Sterile 20 kinases), TK (tyrosine kinases), and TKL (tyrosine kinase-like group of kinases) (Figure 1.2A)⁴⁰. By adding phosphate groups to substrate proteins, the function of substrate proteins is changed by changing the enzyme activity and cellular location (Figure 1.2B)⁴¹. Protein kinases have been reported to be the most active in allthe cellular processes because of the kinase phosphorylation⁴².



Figure 1.2 Classification of protein kinases and catalytic cycle of protein kinases. (A) Dendrogram of the human kinome, modified from (Manning, G. et al., 2002). (B)The catalytic cycle of kinase phosphorylation, adapted from (Ubersax, J.A. & Ferrell, J.E., 2007). At first, the active site of kinase occurs the ATP binding, followed by the substrate protein binding. After ATP and substrate binding, the substrate residue including Ser, Tyr or Thr accepted a γ -phosphate of ATP (red). Then the substrate is released from the kinase after phosphorylation. Then the substrate and ADP is released in turns from the active site of the kinase.

On comparison of the 3D structures, it can be seen that most of the human kinases are very similar, especially the ATP-binding pocket, which is located in the active kinase domain⁴³.ATP binding pocket comprises three components: an α helix-dominated C-terminal lobe (C-lobe), a β sheet containing N-terminal lobe

(N-lobe), and a connecting hinge region⁴⁴. The binding region of ATP, which is located between N- and C- terminal lobes, is perturbed by most kinase inhibitors. A conserved amino-acid sequence Asp-Phe-Gly (DFG) is the start of an activation loop, which controls the access to the active site⁴⁵.Based on the binding mode, there are two groups of kinase inhibitors: reversible and irreversible. Irreversible inhibitors normally react with the kinase and change it chemically via covalent bond conformation^{46,} ⁴⁷.Reversible kinase inhibitors can be classified into four types according to the DFG motif and binding pocket conformation. As ATP-competitive inhibitors, Type I inhibitors enable to bind to the active conformation of kinases to control the residue of DFG motif fact into the kinase active site (DFG-Asp in). Typell inhibitors enable to bind to the inactive conformation of kinases to protrude the residue of DFG motif outward from the kinase ATP-binding site (DFG-Asp out). In the binding mode of type III, inhibitors bind to an allosteric pocket adjacent to ATP, and there is no interaction between the allosteric pocket and the ATP-binding pocket. In the type IV binding mode, inhibitors enable to bind to an allosteric site remote from the ATP-binding pocket. Type Vinhibitors including bivalent and bisubstrate inhibitors, bind to more than one protein kinases conformations (Figure 1.3)^{44, 48}.





1.2.2 Small molecule kinase inhibitors

Since protein kinases play an important role in the regulation of cellular activities and signal transductions, they have been established as promising drug targets for treatment of various cancers^{9, 19, 25}. The first Food and Drug Administration (FDA)-approved kinase inhibitor Imatinib, which was designed for the treatment of chronic myeloid leukemia (CML), drives the development of kinase inhibitors in the field⁴⁹. Currently, more than 33 kinase inhibitors have been approved by FDA as promising targeted therapeutics, and numerous inhibitors are in various stages of clinical evaluation⁴⁴. Among these 33 oncology drugs, most of them are tyrosine kinase inhibitors, the othersare serine/threosine kinase inhibitors Afatinib⁵¹ and lbrutinib⁵² are irreversible inhibitors, and the others are reversible inhibitors (Figure 1.4).In the current research, we have assessed the therapeutic indications and the mechanism of function of these FDA-approved kinase inhibitors.



Figure 1.4 Small molecule kinase inhibitors which approved by FDA were present here (from 2001 to 2015).

1.2.2.1 Approved tyrosine kinase inhibitors

1.2.2.1.1 Reversible non-receptor tyrosine kinase inhibitors

Imatinib(Gleevec, Novartis, 2001) was the first approved small molecule inhibitor that targeted BCR-Abl in 2001^{49, 53}. BCR-Abl exists in cancer cells only, and Imatinib blocks BCR-Abl's activity by stopping the addition of phosphate groups, which leads to apoptosis.Imatinib is the first drug that has been approved for the treatment of CML, and the structure and binding mode of Imatinib provide a basic understanding of the

design of the next-generation BCR-Abl inhibitors⁵⁴. Imatinib's resistancedrives the development of BCR-Abl inhibitors, and the most important BCR-Abl mutations that cause Imatinib resistance are T315I mutation and P-loop mutations^{55, 56}. Beside the treatment of CML, Imatinib has been assessed in the treatment of patients with gastrointestinal stromal tumors (GIST)⁵⁷, Philadelphia chromosome-positive acute lymphoblastic leukemia (Ph+ALL)⁵⁸, dermatofibrosarcoma protuberans (DFSP)⁵⁹, and hypereosinophilic syndromes/chronic eosinophilic leukemia⁶⁰. Imatinib also works against the activity of PDGFRA and c-KIT⁶¹.

So far, there are five BCR-Abl inhibitors which were approved by FDA: Imatinib (Gleevec, Novartis, 2001), Dasatinib (Sprycel, Bristol-Myers Squibb, 2006), Nilotinib (Tasigna, Novartis, 2007), Ponatinib (Iclusig, Ariad Pharmaceuticals, 2012), and Bosutinib (Bosulif, Wyeth, 2012)⁶². Imatinib, Ponatinib, and Nilotinib have been found to bind BCR-Ablinactive conformation with DFG motif; Dasatinib and Bosutinib have been reported to bind BCR-Abl active conformation with the activation loop⁶³.

Janus kinases (JAKs) family, which is one of the intracellular, non-receptor tyrosine kinases, mediates cytokine transduction via the JAK-signal transducer and activator of transcription (STAT) pathway⁶⁴. JAKs family has four isomers (JAK1, 2, 3, and tyrosine kinase 2 [TYK2]). JAK1 plays an essential role in cytokine secretion; it induces the production of IL-2, 4, 3, and 9⁶⁵. JAK2 is also important for the secretion of hormone-like cytokines, such as growth hormone (GH), prolactin (PRL), erythropoietin (EPO), and thrombopoietin (TPO)⁶⁶⁻⁶⁸. JAK3 plays an important role in the immune system, and it is exclusively expressed in lymphoid lineage. TYK2 is essential for IL-12 signaling⁶⁹. The high sequence similarity of these JAK isomers limits the development of selective JAK inhibitors⁷⁰, and JAK inhibitors are mainly focused on the treatment of autoimmune diseases and malignant neoplastic diseases so far⁷¹.

The first FDA-approved JAK inhibitor wasRuxolitinib (Jakafi, Incyte Corp. 2011), which

inhibits JAK1, 2 and was approved for the treatment of patients with myeloproliferative disorders e.g. myelofibrosis⁷². Since JAK3 is essential for the immune system and malignant neoplastic diseases, the first FDA-approved JAK3-selective inhibitor Tofacitinib(Xeljanz, Pfizer, 2012) was developed and used for the treatment of rheumatoid arthritis⁷³. However, European regulatory agencies didn't approve Tofacitinib as a JAK3-selective inhibitor because of its side effects including neutropenia and anemia, probably because of the pan-JAK inhibition^{74, 75}. Both of these JAK inhibitors have been reported to bind with the JAKsATP pocket. The development of next-generation JAK inhibitors is mainly focused on improving JAK3 inhibition to reduce its side effects⁷⁶.

1.2.2.1.2 Reversible receptor tyrosine kinase inhibitors

ErbB is a family of receptor tyrosine kinases, which includes four members: ErbB1/epidermal growth factor receptor (EGFR), ErbB2/HER-2, ErbB3/HER3, and ErbB4/HER4⁷⁷. Over-expression of ErbBs is associated with various types of solid tumor development⁷⁸. The activation of receptor tyrosine kinases phosphorylate EGFR leads to the activation of Ras/MAPK pathway, PI3K/Akt pathway, and signal transducers and activators of transcription signaling pathways⁷⁷. EGFR mutations have been detected frequently in non-small cell lung cancer(NSCLC), which leads to the development of the cancer. Over 90% of activating EGFR mutations are L858R point mutation and exon 19 deletions, which enhance the sensitivity of Gefitinib and Erlotinib^{79, 80}.Drug resistance that is conferred by a secondary mutation, which includes T790M mutation and MET amplification, has been found as the most important factor to limit the efficacy of EGFR tyrosine kinase inhibitors (TKIs)⁸¹. The study of ErbB signaling transduction pathway becomes more and more obvious, and the family of ErbB inhibitors is the largest group of approved kinase inhibitors^{77, 78}.

So far, five ErbB inhibitors have been approved: Gefitinib (Iressa, AstraZeneca, 2003), Erlotinib (Tarceva, OSI Pharmaceuticals, 2004), Lapatinib (Tykerb, GlaxoSmithKline, 2007), Vandetanib (Caprelsa, AstraZeneca, 2011), and Afatinib (Gilotrif, BoehringerIngelheim, 2013)^{79, 82}. Gefitinib and Erlotinib are EGFR inhibitors and are used for certain breast, lung, and other cancers⁸¹.The binding mode of Gefitinib is the same as Erlotinib in type I binding because of the high structural similarity⁸³. Lapatinib a dual ErbB2 and EGFR inhibitor, used for the treatment of ErbB2-positive breast cancer. Lapatinib act to bind the inactive conformation of EGFR and ErbB4 was bind by Lapatinib⁸⁴.Vandetanib is determined as a multiple kinase inhibitor that works against EGFR, VEGFR, and RET⁸⁵. Unlike the other reversible inhibitors, Afatinib acts as an irreversible covalent inhibitor of EGFR and ErbB2^{51, 86}.

Vascular endothelial growth factor receptors (VEGFRs) are the receptors of VEGF and play an important role in vasculogenesis and angiogenesis⁸². There are three main subtypes of VEGFR: VEGFR1, VEGFR2, and VEGFR3. VEGFR1 is essential in tumor progression and dissemination, and the expression of VEGFR1 increases tumor invasiveness. VEGFR2 also expresses in tumor cells, such as melanoma and hematological malignancies. VEGFR3 is essential in tumor microenvironment. Anti-VEGF therapy is an important option for the management of several human malignancies⁸⁷.

So far, there are seven FDA-approved VEGFR inhibitors: Sorafenib (Nexavar, Bayer, 2005), Sunitinib (Sutent, Pfizer, 2006), Pazopanib (Votrient, GlaxoSmithKline, 2009), Axitinib (Inlyta, Pfizer, 2012), RegoRafenib (Stivarga, Bayer, 2012), Nintedanib (Ofev, BoehringerIngelheim, 2014), and Lenvatinib (Lenvima, Eisai Inc., 2015)^{87, 88}. Many SAR studies demonstrate the binding mode of Sorafenib, Sunitinib, Axitinib, and Nintedanib with VEFGR2 in Cys919 and Glu917. Sorafenib has been shown to inhibit p38α and B-Raf^{82, 89}.

Anaplastic lymphoma kinase (ALK), which belongs to insulin receptor kinase family, shares a similar sequence with leukocyte tyrosine kinase (LTK) and plays an essential role in development of brain and nervous system⁹⁰. ALK was detected to constitutively activate in large-cell lymphomas, and the diffusion of ALK fusions were also identified

in inflammatory myofibroblastic tumors, NSCLC, systemic histiocytosis, esophageal squamous cell carcinomas, and large B-cell lymphomas. Over-expression of ALK has been detected in neuroblastomas^{91, 92}. It has been established that ALK is an anticancer target due to the expression level of ALK in various types of cancers⁹³.

Crizotinib (Xalkori, Pfizer, 2011) is the first FDA-approved ALK inhibitor used for the treatment of anaplastic large cell lymphoma, neuroblastoma, and other advanced solid tumors⁹⁴. In addition, Crizotinib was the first specific drug for the treatment of some NSCLC⁹⁵. Besides the main target being ALK, Crizotinib also inhibits ROS1, MET, and hepatocyte growth factor receptor (HGFR)⁹⁶. Crizotinibhas been found to bind the ATP-binding pocket of ALK in type I mode, but does not fully utilize the ALK ATP-binding pocket, which explains the poor selectivity⁹⁷. The second-generation ALK inhibitor, Ceritinib (Zykadia, Novartis, 2014) was approved for the treatment of NSCLC patients with acquired resistance to Crizotinibaccording to rearrangements of the ALK gene⁹⁸. Ceritinib was shown to be potently effective in overcoming ALK with L1196M, G1269 A, I1171T, and S120Y mutations, but not effective in the case of ALK with G1202R and F1174 C mutations. The binding mode of Ceritinib is similar to that of Crizotinib, but the isopropyl-sulfonylphenyl binds deeper inside the hydrophobic pocket⁹⁹.

Tyrosine-protein kinase Met (c-MET) or HGFR is the only know receptor of Hepatocyte growth factor (HGF). MET activates various cellular signaling pathways and is involved in a wide range of cellular processes, such as proliferation, motility, migration, and invasion¹⁰⁰. MET signaling pathway plays an important role in cancer development through RAS, PI3K, STAT3, and angiogenesis. The aberrant activation of MET (mutation, amplification, and protein over-expression) was identified in human cancers¹⁰¹. Thereby, MET has been confirmed as a potential candidate and biomarker for cancer treatment.

There are two approved MET inhibitors: Crizotinib (Xalkori, Pfizer, 2011) and

Cabozantinib (Cometriq, Exelixis, 2012)¹⁰².Crizotinibhas been detected to bind MET with the ATP-binding pocket in type I mode, and Cabozantinib binds MET in a potent type II binding mode¹⁰³. These MET inhibitors have multiple targets; Crizotinib works against both ALK and MET, and Cabozantinib is a dual MET and VEGFR2 inhibitor^{97, 103}. More recently, Cabozantinib has been shown to overcome Crizotinib resistance by blocking proto-oncogene tyrosine-protein kinase 1 (ROS1)-acquired mutations¹⁰⁴.

1.2.2.2 Approved irreversible protein kinase inhibitors

Targeted covalent inhibitors (TCIs) react with their target proteins to form a covalent complex in which the protein has lost its function. The advantages of covalent inhibitors are high potency, high selectivity against the related proteins, and low side effects¹⁰⁵. The high selectivity of covalent inhibitors is because of a specific cysteine targeting. Moreover, the covalent inhibitors were determined to overcome and prevent the acquired resistance that is conferred by mutations¹⁰⁶. These covalent compounds provide new and broad application for the cancer therapies.

In 2013, Afatinib was firstly approved by FDAas an irreversible pan ErbB inhibitor, followed by AZD-9291⁵¹. These two molecules covalently bind with a cysteine residue in the active site of kinases. Even though irreversible inhibitor has potential toxicities, these two inhibitors are expected to achieve better potency and selectivity. Compared with the first-generation TKIs, Afatinib is active against both EGFR-sensitive mutation (L858R) and EGFR-resistant mutation (T790M)¹⁰⁷. AZD-9291 is only active against resistance mutation (T790M); therefore, AZD-9291 is used for the treatment of EGFR-TKI resistance advanced NSCLC¹⁰⁸.

Ibrutinib (Imbruvica, Pharmacyclics Inc., 2013) is an FDA-approved Bruton's tyrosine kinase (BTK) inhibitor that is used for the treatment of mantle cell lymphoma and chronic lymphocytic leukemia (CLL)¹⁰⁹. BTK is an important component of B-cell receptor signaling, which plays an essential role in regulating the survival and proliferation of CLL cells. Ibrutinib binds with BTK ATP-binding pocket with the

activation loop displaying a "DFG-in" conformation¹¹⁰.

1.2.2.3 Approved serine/threonine kinase inhibitors

Raf serine/threonine kinases are essential signaling integrators that drive cancer cell proliferation¹¹¹. There are three members in RAF family: A-Raf, B-Raf, and C-Raf. B-Raf was validated as an anticancer target in melanoma and other cancer cell lines¹¹². About 90% of B-Raf mutations include replacement of Val600 with Glu600 in the kinase domain, and result in elevating the activation of the MAPK pathway, and then promote the cell survival and proliferation¹¹³. The B-Raf mutations are common present in cancer patients, for instance, melanoma (60%), thyroid cancer (15%), colorectal cancer (10%) and lung cancer (3%)¹¹⁴. The specific role of B-Raf drives B-Raf as a therapeutic target in melanoma, thyroid cancers and colorectal. The first B-Raf approved inhibitor, Vemurafenib (ZelboRaf, Roche, 2011), was designed to inhibit B-Raf V600E mutation, and is used for the treatment of patients with metastatic melanoma and thyroid tumors¹¹⁵. Vemurafenib bind with B-Raf in a type I binding mode by occupying ATP-binding site with a FDG-in conformation¹¹⁶.Dabrafenib (Tafinlar, GlaxoSmithKline, 2013) was approved by FDA in 2013 to against both B-Raf V600E mutation and C-Raf with a type I binding mode^{117, 118}.

Mitogen-activated protein kinase kinase (MEK) is a member of the MAPK signaling pathway, and it is active in melanoma. The related dual-specificity kinases MEK1 and MEK2 phosphorylate extracellular signal-regulated kinase 1 (ERK1) and ERK2¹¹⁹. As ERK is the only known substrate of MEK and as ERK is implicated in tumors, MEK inhibitors are developed to block cell proliferation and to induce apoptosis by blocking ERK activation¹²⁰. Only one FDA-approved MEK inhibitor, Trametinib (Mekinist, GlaxoSmithKline, 2013), is used for the treatment of metastatic melanoma with the B-Raf V600E mutation¹²¹. In addition, Trametinib has also been approved to overcome the resistance of B-Raf inhibitors¹²².

The serine/threonine kinase protein kinase B (PKB), also named as Akt, plays an

important role in glucose metabolism, apoptosis, cell proliferation, transcription, and cell migration¹²³. Akt and mammalian target of rapamycin (mTOR) are also promising targets in the PI3K/Akt/mTOR pathway⁵⁰. Even though no Akt or mTOR inhibitors have been approved, a lot of their candidates are currently in various clinical trials. Three mTOR inhibitors (sirolimustem, sirolimus, and everolimus) were approved in 1999, 2007, and 2009, respectively¹²⁴.

Cyclin-dependent kinases (CDKs) play a key role in regulating cell cycle, transcription, and mRNA processing¹²⁵. Four CDKs(CDK1, CDK2, CDK4, and CDK6) are important components of the cell cycle machinery with key functions both in human normal cells and in human cancer cells. Over-expression of CDK1 is highly related with some human cancers, such as ovarian cancer, colorectal cancer, and breast cancer. CDK2 has been reported as a target for cancer therapy as the over-expression of CDK2 regulates cell cycle abnormality in cancer cells. CDK4/6 activation leads to uncontrolled cell cycle in many types of cancers, especially in breast cancer¹²⁶. Owing to these features, numerous drugs that target CDKs activity have emerged and have been tested in various stages of clinic over the past 2 decades^{125, 127, 128}.Palbociclib (lbrane, Pfizer, 2015) was approved for the treatment of breast cancer¹²⁹. As a dual CDK4 and CDK6 inhibitor, Palbociclib potently inhibits CDK6 compared with other pan-CDK inhibitors¹³⁰.

1.2.2.4 Approved lipid kinase inhibitors

Lipid kinases, such as phosphatidylinositol-4, 5-bisphosphate 3-kinase (PI3Ks), and other components of PI3K signaling pathway play important roles in tumor development¹³¹.Idelalisib (Zydelig, Gilead Sciences, 2014) was approved as the first PI3K inhibitor for the treatment of CLL in combination with rituximab¹³². As a PI3K inhibitor, Idelalisib binds with PI3Kδ in a type II mode. There are more than 20 PIK3 inhibitors in clinical trials, which include single isoform inhibitors, dual PI3K mTOR inhibitors, pan-PI3K inhibitors, and selective-isoform inhibitors¹³³.

1.2.2.5 Limitations and challenges of kinase-based drug discovery

Over the last decade, the development and discovery of kinase-based cancer drugs has received tremendous progress. Most notably, small molecule kinase inhibitors that focus on particular kinase dependencies and mutation of cancer cells have established individual drug strategy. The discovery and development of small molecule kinase inhibitors reflect several significant challenges, such as lack of inhibitor selectivity and efficacy, drug resistance, and difficulty of drug target validation^{15, 134}.

1.3 Profiling of small molecules by chemical proteomics

1.3.1 Chemical proteomics

Chemical proteomics, which is a mass spectrometry (MS)-based affinity chromatography approach, provides a powerful tool for the identification and validation of novel drug targets and/or natural products¹³⁵⁻¹³⁷. The major applications of chemical proteomics include activity-based probe profiling (ABPP)¹³⁸, which uses active site-directed chemical probes to assess the enzymatic activity of a particular protein family and compound-centric chemical proteomics (CCCP)¹³⁹, which focuses on target discovery and drug modes of action (MoA)(Figure 1.5).

1.3.2 Activity-based probe profiling

ABPP is used both in the detection of active enzymes in disease to identify the new targets and in the determination of selectivity profiling of drugs targeting an enzyme family. As a functional proteomics technology, the basic part of ABPP is the chemical probe. The probe is used to react with the enzymes and can be divided into three key components¹³⁸: a reactive functional group ("warhead"), a flexible linker, and a reporter tag (Figure 1.5). The reactive functional group is the most important element in ABPP, and it becomes the biggest challenge in the design of affinity-based probe (ABP). In the reactive group, a covalent attachment of the probe is provided to attach the catalytic residue of the protease active site. Therefore, specific and high activity

interactions with target proteins are necessary.



Figure 1.5 Ageneral workfolw of chemical proteomics approaches by using activity-based probe profiling (ABPP) and compound-centric chemical proteomics (CCCP).(adapted fromLiu Y. & Guo M., 2013)

There are two elements in ABP: a photo-reactive group and a non-specific covalent bond forming event. The photo-reactive group is designed from a non-covalent bond to a specific site on a protein. Both "directed ABPP" and "non-directed ABPP" are used for the design of reactive groups. A flexible linker is also necessary in the design of ABP, which provides a space between the reactive group and the reporter tag. The function of the reporter tag is easy detection. Biotin, fluorophores, isotope, and hemagglutinin (HA) are commonly used in the design of reporter tag^{140, 141}.



Figure 1.6 Experimental workflows of (A) comparative profiling ABPP and (B) competitive profiling ABPP.(A) Comparative ABPP: Same ABP is used to label the normal and disease samples. SDS-PAGE is used to resolve the target proteins to identify the specific disease-related drug target candidates (*). (B) Competitive proteomics: all the disease samples are incubated with individual small-molecule inhibitors and labeled with ABP. The small molecule selective inhibitor specifically binds with the target protein, then ABP can't label the target protein. Therefore, the target protein is missing on SDS-PAGE (adapted from Liu Y. & Guo M., 2014).

Comparative profiling and competitive profiling are two common usages of ABPP¹⁴². Comparative ABPP is used to compare the healthy and diseased state in biological systems to identify different activity levels of enzyme(s); therefore, the major application of comparative ABPP is target discovery¹⁴³. Competitive ABPP is used to discover the potent and selective inhibitors for discrete enzymes in native proteomes (reversible and irreversible inhibitors) from large compound libraries; therefore, the major application of competitive ABPP is inhibitor screening¹⁴⁴. In comparative ABPP, two or more proteomes are analyzed by ABPP to detect the specific enzyme activity (Figure 1.6A). In competitive ABPP, proteomes are incubated with small molecule inhibitors, and a broad probe is used to react with most enzymes (Figure 1.6B).

1.3.3 Compound-centric chemical proteomics

CCCP is mainly used for target discovery and drug MoA. It can identify both the enzymatic function binder and the non-enzymatic function binder^{139, 145}. Affinity chromatography and advanced MS techniques contribute to the global profiling of a bioactive compound in CCCP identification¹⁴⁶ (Figure 1.5).

In the typical CCCP, firstly, a hydrophilic linker and a commercially available solid matrix (agarose, sepharoseor magnetic beads) are used to immobilize a bioactive compound. A specific chemical group (sulfhydryl, amino, hydroxyl, or carboxyl group) of a bioactive compound is necessary for the attachment of the linker. Secondly, target proteins are captured by the target compound after the incubation of protein extracts and drug-immobilized matrix. Thirdly, salts, pH changes, and free compounds are used to achieve the ligand-bound proteins. Finally, the ligand-bound proteins are resolved by SDS-PAGE, digested by trypsin, and identified by LC-MS/MS¹³⁶.

The biggest problem of CCCP is that low abundance and low binding affinity of the target candidates result in non-specific binding to the drug-immobilized matrix^{147, 148}. Several essential control experiments are necessary to solve this problem (Figure 1.7). An activated resins without drug molecule control is necessary for the identification of non-specific binding proteins. The optimization of low-abundance targets (nuclear proteins and membrane-bound proteins) is also important. If the target proteins are membrane-associated, the specific cell lysis conditions are important, and affinity-based techniques are used in the application of membrane proteins because of the advantages such as specificity and enrichment^{149, 150}.



Figure 1.7 CCCP in drug target deconvolution. (A) Matrix immobilizing compound is incubated with cell lysates to bind protein targets. (B) Matrix alone is incubated with cell lysated. (C) Matrix immobilizing an inactive analog is incubated with cell lysates. The target proteins of nonspecific inhibitor are identified because of the inactive analog binding. (D) Excess free compound is pre-incubated with cell lysates, following by labeling with immobilized compound. Proteins are considered to be real targets only competed by free compound. (E) Matrix immobilizing compound is incubated with cell lysates, the binding protein is removed. Fresh matrix immobilizing compound is incubated with the remaining extract and the nonspecific binding proteins are similar in both matrices. The interest protein target is represented with asterisk (Adapted from K. Wang et al. 2012).

Chemical proteomics has been used to solve many problems, which include the drug action mechanism and novel medical usages. Candidate compounds, such as small molecule kinase inhibitors, natural products, and established drugs, have been profiled by affinity chromatography-based proteomics in the past few years^{15, 136, 151, 152}. Affinity chromatography-based proteomics is commonly used for target identification of small molecule kinase inhibitors of drug development¹⁵³. Protein kinases play an important role in a wide range of diseases, such as cancer and autoimmune diseases^{45, 46}.

"Kinobeads[™], which immobilize non-specific kinase inhibitor to capture a broad range of expressed kinome, have been used to "profile the targets of kinase inhibitors^{154, 155}. In native proteins, Kinobeads, which are immobilized chemical probes to affinity resins, can reversibly bind the ATP pockets. Our group first published versions of Kinobeads(Figure 1.8) that can bind about 350 kinases as well as over 2000 additional ATP and nucleotide binding proteins from different cell lines¹⁵⁶.As a powerful tool in kinome research, Kinobeadscan determine chaperones, ATPases, transporters, and metabolic enzymes¹⁵⁷⁻¹⁵⁹.

In the typical Kinobeadspulldown experiment^{160, 161}, at first, a concentration range of inhibitor is incubated with four different cancer cell line lysate mixture. The aim of cell lysate mixture is to improve the kinome coverage. The ATP-competitive inhibitor competes with the immobilized inhibitors on the affinity matrix to bind the kinasesin with the lysate. Kinases, which are the targets of the inhibitor, compete in a dose-dependent manner because they lose their binding ability to the matrix; the non-targeted kinases are not affected. Kinobeadsselectivity screenings can be performed in high throughput and engage a public–private partnership to screen thousands of advanced drug molecules from the pharmaceutical industry with the purpose to unlock the current state of the drug-able kinome. This will allow the detection of new chemical probes or give a starting point for medicinal chemistry in the future.



Figure 1.8 Immobilized Kinobeads.Each compound was covalently bond with Sepharose beads and equal amount Kinobeadswere added in the kinome profiling.

Another application of affinity chromatography-based proteomics is the profiling of natural product candidates^{162, 163}. However, the immobilization of the natural products to the matrix is difficult because of their structural complexity and diversity¹⁶². In addition to maximizing novel therapeutics for other diseases and/or to minimize the side effects and toxicity, emerging technologies were used to re-examine the established drugs in order to detect the drug action mechanism in primary disease therapy. For example, functional proteomics approach was used to detect the mechanism of quinolines in malaria treatment¹⁶⁴. In addition to identifying novel quinoline-binding proteins, this method exploited the similarities of the structure between ATP purine ring and quinoline compounds. ALDH1 and QR2 were found as the novel targets of quinolines¹⁶⁵, and these findings might provide new applications of these established compounds.

1.4 Mass spectrometry

The application of MS, which measures mass-to-charge ratios (m/z) of ions for the identification and quantification of molecules in simple and complex mixtures, has significantly improved in the study of chemical proteomics and has become an essential tool in proteomics analysis over last 15 years¹⁶⁶⁻¹⁶⁸. Chemical proteomics exhibit a large-scale study of the expression, structures, and functions of proteins and the high-throughput large-scale protein studies called "shotgun proteomics"^{169, 170}. The "shotgun proteomics" consists of high pressure liquid chromatography (HPLC) coupled with high-performance tandem MS¹⁷⁰.

1.4.1 Instrumentation

In general, allmass spectrometers consist of three basic components^{171, 172}: an ion source to convert the sample into ions; a mass analyzer to take ionized masses and separate them according to m/z; and a detector to register the ions at m/z value. Ionization refers to the production of gas phase ions suitable for resolution in the mass analyzer or mass filter, and it occurs in the ion source. Hard ionization techniques (i.e.

electron ionization [EI]) are processes that impart high quantity of residual energy in the subject molecule, invoking great degree of fragmentation¹⁷³. Soft ionization (i.e. electrospray ionization [ESI]) and matrix-assisted laser desorption/ionization [MALDI]) refer to the processes that impart little residual energy onto the subject molecule and as such result in little fragmentation¹⁷⁴⁻¹⁷⁶.



Figure 1.9 Electrospray ionization (ESI) techniques.(copied from Steen and Mann, 2004).

In the typical experiment (Figure 1.9), proteins are digested into peptides by specific protease before the subjection of LC-MS/MS analysis. Trypsin is commonly utilized to cleave proteins on the carboxyl-terminal side of lysine and arginine residues. In the current study, additionally, alternative proteases including Glu-C, LysN, Lys-C, Asp-N, or chymotrypsin were used to increase the individual protein sequence coverage and/or the generation of unique peptide sequences¹⁷⁷. Peptide mixtures were eluted by reverse phase liquid chromatography with volatile solvents, such as acetonitrile, water, and organic acids. Soft ionization (ESI) was used to facilitate the measurement of large bio-molecules. After the elution of peptide mixtures, they were sprayed into an electric field from a fine capillary on which a high voltage was applied. Electrically charged droplets. Next, the continuous evaporation of solvent was broken down into smaller highly charged droplets when the Coulomb repulsion overcame the surface tension of a droplet. There are two major types of MS: the scanning MS that includes

quadrupole (Q) and time-of-flight (TOF) analyzer and the trapping MS that includes ion traps (linear and 3D) and orbitrap analyzers¹⁷⁸. Orbitrap analyzer has dominated proteomics since it was developed in 2000¹⁷⁹ and has been used in this project as well.

1.4.2 Mass spectrometry-based proteomics

In general, MS-based proteomics is important in the disease-associated biomarker discovery and new target identification, and it provides a powerful tool in protein and peptide identification and quantification^{168, 180}. Top-down proteomics¹⁸¹, which focuses on the identification and characterization of intact proteins, and bottom-up proteomics¹⁸², which focuses on the identification of proteins and characterization of protein amino acid sequences and post-translational modifications (PTMs), are two main MS-based proteomics strategies. Top-down approach has many advantages, such as the detection of degradation products, sequence variants, and combinations of PTM¹⁸³. Bottom-up proteomics achieves higher resolution separation compared with top-down approach¹⁸⁴.

1.4.3 Protein identification and protein quantification

The most versatile and widely used application of tandem MS/MS is high resolution MS-based peptide identification¹⁸⁴⁻¹⁸⁶. The full-scan mass spectrum and second mass spectrum are required for this purpose. The m/z values of the intact peptides are determined by the full-scan mass spectrum. The second mass spectrum enables the isolation and fragmentation of the interested precursors, and records various fragment ions. In the full MS results, b-(N-terminal) and y-ions (C-terminal) are generated based on the fragmentation of the precursor ion, and the amino acid sequences are determined according to the differences between these ions series (Figure 1.10)^{187, 188}.



Figure 1.10 The nomenclature of peptide fragmentation. N-terminal are named a, b, c ions, and C-terminal fragments are named x, y, z ions. (adapted from Roepstorff and Fohlman, 1984).

The most common application of peptide and protein identification is database searching in large-scale proteomics studies^{189, 190}. The protein sequence database searching approach containing the theoretical fragmentation of each peptide is performed to compare with the experimental peptides. Then, the peptide is assigned to the best match and is defined based on the database scores and specific parameters. Lastly, the defined peptide is assigned to the proteins. The target-decoy searches, which search all tandem spectra against the target, are used to assess the quality of protein identification¹⁹¹. An assumption that any matches in the decoy search are false assignments is used to compute the false discovery rate (FDR)¹⁹².

Quantitative proteomics has provided powerful tools to determine large-scale protein expression in complex biological systems in recent years^{168, 180, 193, 194}. Isotope labeling and label-free approaches are two major methods in the application of protein quantification (Figure 1.11). The most popular methods for isotope labeling, which include stable isotope labeling by amino acids in cell culture (SILAC)¹⁹⁵, trypsin-catalyzed ¹⁸O labeling¹⁹⁶, isotope-coded affinity tagging (ICAT)¹⁹⁷, and isobaric tags for relative and absolute quantitation (iTRAQ)¹⁹⁸ enable the achievement of internal standard. Protein quantification enables us to compare the mass spectrometric signal intensities of the same peptide with different labelings to offer an accurate quantification. More recently, label-free quantification that determines the relative amount of proteins in different biological samples has attracted more and

Chapter I General introduction

more attention¹⁹⁹. The label-free quantification methods consist of precursor ion intensity or spectral counting of the same protein. Spectral counting enables us to count the number of peptides of a protein that are collected by tandem mass spectra, and then integrates the quantified results for all the measured peptides of the protein. In contrast, precursor ion intensity method provides a significant advantage in the integration and comparison of the ion intensity for same peptide in different biological samples^{194, 200-202}.Owing to these advantages, label-free approach is the most accurate technique in the mass spectrometric quantification method. In addition, label-free approach offers few additonal advantages, such as allowing the comparison of unlimited biological samples, being inexpensive, and consuming less time^{169, 182}.



Figure 1.11 An overview of general common quantitative MS workflows. (copied from M. Bantscheff et al., 2007). Two different experimental conditions are represented with blue and yellow boxes. Horizontal lines indicate that the samples are pulled together. The experimental variation is indicated with dotted lines.

Aim of thesis

Protein kinases have been established as promising drug targets for treatment of various types of cancers. Small molecule kinase inhibitors have become increasingly important in cancer therapeutics. Currently, more than 33 kinase inhibitors have been approved by FDA as promising targeted therapeutics, and numerous (>250) inhibitors are in various stages of clinical evaluation. Kinobeadstechnology in combination with high-resolution MS has emerged a powerful tool to understand the mode of action, to identify new targets, and to identify potential off-target of small molecule kinase inhibitors.

In this thesis, a dose-resolved quantitative chemical proteomics approach has been used to understand the mechanism of small molecule kinase inhibitors and to identify the off-targets. In chapter II, 14 CDK inhibitors, which include both first- and second-generation CDK inhibitors were characterized. These inhibitors were tested using Kinobeadstechnology in a competitive approach against a large number of kinases, including CDKs and their complex partners. Since only one CDK inhibitor Palbociclib has been approved by FDA, our results try to explain the success of Palbociclib and the failure of the other CDK inhibitors in clinical stages at the protein level. In addition, CDK inhibitors can be classified in effecting the regulation of cell cycle and/or transcription in our study. The identification of off-targets of CDK inhibitors may drive them into new anti-cancer therapies. In chapter III, salt-inducible kinase 2 (SIK2) has been detected as an off-target by screening 242 small molecule kinase inhibitors through Kinobeadspulldown assay. Furthermore, immunity cell models have been used to characterize the role of SIK2 inhibition in immune response.No small molecule kinase inhibitor has shown therapeutic benefits in inflammatory therapies. This work enables to provide strong reasons to drive low molecular weight SIK2 inhibitors in the investigation of inflammatory and autoimmune diseases.

CHAPTER II Selectivity Profiling of Cyclin-dependent Kinase Inhibitors

2.1 Introduction

CDKs are a family of protein kinases that play the most important role in the regulation of cell cycle transitions¹²⁵. They also participate in regulating mRNA processing, transcription, and differentiation of nerve cells. CDK sub-family comprises 13 members (CDK1-13) based on function and similarities in sequence²⁰³. Four CDKs (CDK1, CDK2, CDK4, and CDK6) are essential components of the cell cycle machinery with key functions in both human normal cells and in human cancer cells²⁰⁴.In activation of human cell cycle¹²⁵, at first, CDK-4/6 facilitates the progression of the cell cycle from the growth phase (G1) to the S-phase, which is associated with DNA synthesis. Retinoblastoma protein (Rb) was phosphorylated by CDK4/6-cyclin D and CDK2/cyclin E complexes, and the inactivation Rb protein is necessary in G1/S phase. The formed CDK2/cyclin A complex facilitates to execute the S phase events e.g. DNA replication and centrosome cycle. The CDK1/cyclin A and CDK1/cyclin B are required for DNA damage checkpoint control and G2/M phase transition and initiation of mitosis, respectively (Figure 2.1).

Normal controls of the cell cycle are deranged in all cancers based on the role of CDKs in cell division control²⁰⁵. Over-expression of CDK1 is highly related with some human cancers, such as ovarian cancer, colorectal cancer, and breast

cancer²⁰⁶.CDK2 has been reported as a target for cancer therapy as the over-expression of CDK2 regulates cell cycle abnormality in cancer cells²⁰⁷. CDK4/6 activation leads to uncontrolled cell cycle in many types of cancers, especially in breast cancer²⁰⁸. Owing to these features, numerous drugs that target CDKs activity have emerged and have been tested in various stages of clinic over the past 2 decades^{125, 209, 210}.



Figure 2.1 An overview of human cell cycle activation and transcriptional regulation, and an overview of the CDK/cyclin complexes function in both cell cycle regulation and transcription.

The first generation of CDK inhibitors that includeFlavopiridol (Alvocidib; developed by Sanofi-Aventis) and Roscovitine (Seliciclib; developed by Cyclacel) were developed to work against most of the CDK sub-units¹²⁸. Alvocidib has been shown to inhibit CDK1, 2, 4, 6, 7, and 9 in cell free assay²¹¹. It can do both, induce cell cycle arrest in G1/2 phase by targeting CDK1 and CDK2, and lead to suppression of transcription by targeting CDK7 and CDK9. Alvocidib has also been shown to have substantially high level of clinical activity in vitro and low level of clinical activity in vivo²¹². Clinical studies have indicated that Alvocidib has a weakly effect in solid tumors and a strong effect in mantle cell lymphoma and CLL^{213, 214}. Roscovitine was evaluated to target CDK1, 2, 5, 7, and 9 that lead to cell cycle arrest and the inhibition of transcription²¹⁵. It has been tested for the treatment of leukemia and NSCLC^{216, 217}. Due to the broadspectrum of CDK sub-unit inhibition, the non-specific-based first-generation CDK inhibitors were referred to "pan-CDK" inhibitors²¹⁸.

The development of second-generation CDK inhibitors aims to either increase the selectivity of CDK1 and CDK2 or increase the overall potency²⁰⁵. Numerous second-generation CDK inhibitors have been developed following Alvocidib and Roscovitine (Table 2.1).Palbociclib (PD-0332991, developed by Pfizer) was approved under FDA as a treatment (in combination with letrozole) for patients with estrogen receptor positive advanced breast cancer in 2015¹²⁹. Besides Palbociclib, other CDK inhibitors are still in clinicaltrilas, and few of them have been reported to have remarkable effects in clinical research studies^{219, 220}. Dinaciclib (MK7965 and SCH-727965; developed by Merck) was designed to specific potent inhibit the activity of CDK1, CDK2, CDK5, and CDK9²²¹. Compared with Alvocidib and Roscovitine, Dinaciclib suppresses cell cycle progression in various tumor cell lines and induces the regression of solid tumors^{221, 222}. It has been evaluated in clinical trials for various cancer indications, such as NSCLC, advanced acute myeloid leukaemia, and CLL²²²⁻²²⁵. AT-7519 (developed by Astex) was developed to inhibit CDK1, CDK2, CDK4, CDK6, and CDK9, and it has been evaluated in combination with bortezomib to treat the patients with multiple myeloma (MM)²²⁶. BMS-387032 (SNS-032; developed by Bristol-Myers Squibb) was developed as a high selectivity CDK2 inhibitor²²⁷, and it was also reported to weekly inhibit CDK1, CDK4, CDK7, and CDK9²²⁸.

Numerous CDK inhibitors have been tested in various stages of clinic over the past 2 decades, but a lot of them were failed in clinical trials. There are at least three key principles that explain the failure of non-selective CDK inhibitors²⁰⁵.Firstly, there is a lack of clear understanding of the action mechanism for many low-specificity CDK inhibitors. The lack of clear recognition regarding which CDK is actually inhibited in vivo may become the corresponding mechanism of the therapeutic effect; secondly, appropriate patient selection is another restriction. There are no key biomarkers for the sensitive sub-populations that respond to this class of inhibitors; thirdly, there is no suitable therapeutic window. Many CDK inhibitors inhibit the critical proliferation of

protein CDK1 and the survival of associated protein CDK9 in both cancer cells and normal cells. Therefore, these non-selective CDK inhibitors cannot discriminate between cancerous and healthy tissues and result in side effects. The limitation of non-selective CDK inhibitors suggests that increase in certain CDK selectivity is important for the development of CDK inhibitors. More recently, selective CDK2 inhibitors became the new research direction in cyclin E-derived tumors²²⁹. In certain contexts, targeting CDK1 is synthetically lethal with KRAS mutation and MYC^{230, 231}. As cancer cells may harbor unique vulnerabilities to selective suppression, targeting basal transcription-associated protein CDK7, CDK8, and CDK9 is another alternative strategy^{205, 232}.

Inhibitors	Name	Company	Reported targets	STATU
HMR-1275	Alvocidib	Sanofi-aventis	CDK	Phase III
AZD-5438		AstraZeneca	CDK1/2/9	Phase I
PHA-793887		Nerviano Medical Sciences	CDK1/2/4	Phase I
SCH-727965	Dinaciclib	Schering-Plough, Pharmacopeia	CDK1/2/5/9	Phase II
R-547		Hoffmann-La Roche Inc	CDK1/2/4/9	Phase II
P-276-00	Riviciclib	Piramal Life Sciences	CDK1/4/9	Phase II
BMS-387032		Bristol-Mvers Squibb	CDK2	Phase I
PHA-848125	Milciclib	Nerviano Medical Sciences	CDK1/2/4	Phase II
AT-7519		Astex Therapeutics	CDK2/4/5/9	Phase II
CYC-202	Roscovitine, Seliciclib	Cyclacel Pharmaceuticals	CDK2/7/9	Phase II
PD-332991	Palbociclib	Pfizer	CDK4/6	Approved
LY-2835219	Abemaciclib	Lilly	CDK4/6	Phase I
LEE-011	Ribociclib	Nocartis	CDK4/6	Phase II
RGB-286638		Agennix AG	CDK1/2/3/4/9	Phase I



More recently, CDK4/6 has been a growing concern, and the CDK4/6 dual inhibitor Palbociclib was reviewed and approved by FDA in 2015¹²⁹. CDK4/6 activation leads to uncontrolled cell cycle in many types of cancers, especially in breast cancer²³³. The development of CDK4/6 inhibitors includes three important features²⁰⁸. Firstly, CDK4/6 inhibitor may arrest tumor cells in G0/G1 phase; secondly, CDK4/6 inhibitor may directly result in the RB protein suppressing gene expression and proliferation; thirdly, CDK4/6 inhibitor may result in CDK4/6 deregulation tumors.LY-2835219 (Abemaciclib;
developed by Eli Lilly) and LEE-011 (developed by Novartis) were developed as CDK4/6 dual inhibitors and have been evaluated in clinical trials besidesPalbociclib. These CDK4/6 inhibitors demonstrate a similar structure and distinct from pan-CDK inhibitors.

In this study, 14 CDK inhibitors, which include both first- and second-generation CDK inhibitors, have been evaluated to against the maximum number of kinases, including both CDKs and their complex partners in Kinobeadscompetition assay. CDKs have little kinase activity without cyclins, and cyclins bound different CDKs. Kinobeadscompetition assay provides a powerful tool in indicating the interaction between CDKs inhibitors and their targets in vitro. The characterization of CDK inhibitors enabled us to understand the effectiveness of CDK inhibitors in multiple biological processes including cell cycle, transcription, and some other processes. Only one CDK inhibitor Palbociclib has been approved by FDA, our results try to find evidence to the success of Palbociclib. Meanwhile, the failure of the other CDK inhibitors in clinical stages should also detected in Kinobeads assay.Additionally, the identification of off-targets might provide a positive proof to drive CDK inhibitors into new cancer therapies.

2.2 Methods and materials

2.2.1 Four cell lines mix

MV4-11, K562, SK-N-BE2 and Colo205 were cultured in cell culture incubator with 37°C and 5% CO₂. The cell culture medium was supplemented with 10% FBS (Sigma-12003C) and 1% antibiotic solution (Sigma-A5955).MV4-11 and K562 cells were cultured in roller bottle culture in RPMI-1640 medium. Cells were harvested upon density (approx. 5 x 10⁶/ml), centrifuged with 1000 rpm in 5 minutes and washed with 2 times cold PBS (without Ca²⁺ and Mg²⁺).The cells were lysed in lysis buffer andthe cell lysate was centrifuged for 20 minutes at 4 °C in 148,000g and afterwards stored at -80 °C until usage.SK-N-BE2 cells and Colo205 cells were cultured in stationary culture (15 cm dish) in DMEM/HAMS F-12 medium and RPMI-1640 medium, respectively. Cells were harvested upon 90% dish's surface area. Lysis buffer were added to dish and confluence by mechanical detachment. The lysate was centrifuged for 20 minutes at 4 °C in 148,000g and afterwards stored at -80 °C until usage.

2.2.2 Kinobeadscomprtition assay

Kinobead competition assay (96-well plate) has been performed as described previously¹⁵⁶.. In total 1 ml cell lysates mixture containing 5 mg/ml proteins were used in each well. Different compound which diluted in DMSO (0 nM, 3 nM, 10 nM, 30 nM, 100 nM, 300 nM, 1 μ M, 3 μ M, and 30 μ M) were incubated with cell lysates for 45 min at 4 °C in a head-over shaker. 35 μ I settled beads containing KB γ or KBd, F2, Compound 18, VI compound and Compound 2 were incubated with cell lysates for 30 min at 4 °C. DMSO control was recovered to calculate the depletion factor. Beads were washed by CP buffer and LDS buffer containing DTT were used to elute the bound proteins. The coupling of the inhibitors to the sepharose beads was kindly performed by Stefanie Heinzlmeier.

2.2.3 LC/MS-MS measurements

LC/MS-MS mensurement has been performed as described previously¹⁵⁶.. Briefly, a nanoLC-Ultra 1D+ (Eksigent, Dublin, CA) coupled to an Orbitrap Elitemass spectrometerwere used to analyze the peptides which generated by in-gel trypsin digestion. Then peptides were delivered to a trap column (100 μ m × 2 cm, packed in-house with Reprosil-Pur C18-AQ 5 μ m resin, Dr.Maisch) at a flow rate of 5 μ l/min in 100% solvent A. An analytical column (75 μ m × 40 cm, packed in-house with Reprosil-Gold C18, 3 μ m resin, Dr. Maisch) and a flow rate of 300 nl/minin 100 min gradient ranging from 4-32% solvent Bin A were used to separate the peptides.The mass spectrometer was operated in data dependent mode, automatically switching between MS and MS2 spectra. Up to 15 peptide precursors were subjected to fragmentation by higher energy collision-induced dissociation (HCD) and analyzed in the Orbitrap. Dynamic exclusion was set to 20s. A Kinase peptide inclusion list (including 3 most intense peptides per kinase) was enabled.Measurements were kindly performed by Susan Kläger.

2.2.4 Proteins and peptides identification and quantification

MaxQuant(version1.4.0.5) and Uniprot database (v22.07.143) were used to process the raw data.Label free quantification and match-between-runs were used, and 1% peptide and protein FDRs were used to filter the results. Selected dose-inhibition curves where analysed in GraphPad Prism (v. 5.04)¹⁵⁶.

2.3 Results and discussions

2.3.1 Characterization of "pan-CDK" inhibitor Alvocidib

As a broad spectrum "pan-CDK" inhibitor, Alvocidib competes with ATP to inhibit CDKs, including CDK1, CDK2, CDK4, and CDK6, and prevents the cell cycle progression in either G1 or G2²⁰⁵. As a first-generation CDK inhibitor, Alvocidib was reported to be a "pan-CDK" inhibitor, and Alvocidibwas demonstrateda broad CDK inhibition including CDK1, CDK2, CDK5, CDK7, CDK9, and CDK12 with K_D < 1 μ M (CDK1: 955 nM, CDK2: 861 nM, CDK5: 69 nM, CDK7: 576 nM, CDK9: 7 nM, CDK12: 96 nM, respectively), and a weakly inhibition of CDK6 with the K_D of 1193 nM (Figure 2.2A). These findings also validated that the Kinobeadsassay is quite effective in the research of kinase inhibitors as they are consistent with the previous studies¹⁵⁴. CDKs have little kinase activity without cyclins, and only CDK-cyclin is an active kinase¹²⁶.Compared with recombinant protein technology in small molecule drug discovery, the Kinobeads competition assay provided an advantage in capturing CDK-cyclin complex partners, including CCNA2, CCNB1, CCNB2, CCNH, CCNI, CCNK, CCNT1, and CCNT2.In our study, most CDK/cyclin complexes were detected in Kinobeads assay, such as CDK1/CCNB and CDK2/CCNB complexes (CCNB1: K_D = 239 nM, CCNB2: K_D=258nM), CDK7/CCNH complex (CCNH: K_D=1027 nM, ERCC2: K_D=508 nM, MNAT1: K_D=692 nM), and CDK9/CCNT complex (CCNT1: K_D=3 nM, CCNT2: K_D=2nM) (Figure 2.2C). Alvocidib had an effect on in both cell cycle regulation and transcription regulation (Figure 2.2B). Besides the reported targets CDKs, Alvocidib was detected to weekly inhibit TBK1, GSK3A, GSK3B, PRKD2, PRKD3, DYRK1A, CAMKK2, and PRKCD with the K_D of 1949nM, 971nM, 740nM, 1316nM, 856nM, 909nM, 1378nM, and 1592nMin our study (Figure 2.2C).

Alvocidib wasdesigned as a CDK1, CDK2, CDK4, and CDK6 inhibitor from the beginning²³⁴. Surprisingly, in our study,Alvocidib strongly inhibited transcription

positive regulator CDK9 and its complex (CDK9: K_D =9 nM, CCNT1: K_D =3nM, CCNT2: K_D =2 nM). CDK9 is a sub-unit of the positive transcription elongation factor b (P-TEFb), which binds to T-type cyclin (T1 and T2) that controls RNA polymerse II²³⁵. CDK9 inhibition can drive cancer cells into apoptosis, and recent publication highlights CDK9 as an anticancer target²³⁶.Cell-based studies also have shown that Alvocidib-induced cell death is independent of the cell cycle²¹², demonstrating that CDK9 is the primary target of Alvocidib. According to our data, the primary target of Alvocidib was CDK9 by comparing the K_D of the main target CDK1, CDK2 and CDK9 (955 nM, 861 nMvs.7nM). This finding may provide a new opportunity for research on Alvocidib and drive Alvocidib as a CDK9 inhibitor in the treatment of CDK9-related cancer therapies.



Figure 2.2 Characterization of "pan-CDK" inhibitor Alvocidib. (A) Kinometree of Alvocidib. The size of the dots correspond to K_D of targets. (B) Dose response curves for Alvocidib of thecell cycle progression associateddrug targets CDK1, CDK2and their complex partners CCNA2, CCNB1 and CCNB2; the transcriptional processes associated drug targets CDK5 and their complex partners FIBP, C2CD5 and CANLES1. (C) Histogram dissociation constants (K_D) obtained for Alvocidib of target proteins.

2.3.2 New-generation CDK inhibitors increase CDK2 potency, but not CDK1

One aim of the development of new-generation CDK inhibitors is to increase the selectivity of CDK1 and CDK2 following Alvocidib and Roscovitine²⁰⁵. In our study, 12 second-generation CDK inhibitors (AZD-5438, PHA-793887, SCH-727965, R-547, P-276, BMS-387032, AT-7519, PHA-848125, RGB-286638, LEE-011, LY-2835219, PD-0332991, Rociletinib, and Rigosertib) were characterized in

Kinobeadscompetition assay (Figure 2.4).



Figure 2.3 Overview of CDK1 and CDK2 inhibition for CDK inhibitors identified in Kinobeadscompetition assay. Histogram of dissociation constants (K_D) obtained by chemical proteomics for CDK inhibitors.

Our data demonstrated that many second-generation CDK inhibitors enhanced the selectivity of CDK2 (Figure 2.3) and few second-generation CDK inhibitors increased the overall potency(Table 2.2). RGB-286638, Dinaciclib, R-547, PHA-793887, BMS-387032, AZD-5438, and AT-7519 were more potent to work against CDK2 compared with Alvocidib (CDK2: K_D = 36 nM, 44 nM, 5 nM, 157 nM, 198 nM, 252 nM, 161 nM vs. 861 nM). Most of the second-generation CDK inhibitors can't increase CDK1 inhibition except R-547 and Dinaciclib compared with Alvocidib (K_D= 90 nM, 465 nM vs. 955 nM). This finding may indicate the success of the second-generation CDK inhibitors is increase the potency of CDK2. CDK2 has been reported as a key regulator in cell cycle, and CDK2 over-expression leads to disorder of the cell cycle control²⁰⁷. In addition, CDK2 has been reported to be a potentially therapeutic target for cancer therapy, and selective CDK2 inhibitors may become the new research direction in cyclin E-derived tumors^{206, 215}. Therefore, the identification of potent CDK2 inhibitors in our study may do the effect in the treatment of CDK2-related cancer.

targets	CDK1	CDK1	CDK1	CDK1	CDK1	CDK2	CDK4	CDK5	CDK6	CDK7	CDK9
Inhibitors		2	3	6	7						
Alvocidib	1079	143	3196	1637	NA	791.4	NA	68.9	1149	581.2	5.2
R-547	85.1	NA	NA	NA	NA	6.8	NA	7.9	3000	408.4	28.1

SCH-727965 489.6 7.6 13.6 41.1 103.3 56.1 289.5 45.4 7.4 169.3 2.7

Table 2.2 CDK inhibitors Alvocidib, R-547, and SCH-727965 and their main target CDK family sub-units present in the profiling system panel.

Second-generation CDK inhibitors R-547 and SCH-727965 were demonstrated a promising effect in increasing the overall potency of CDK sub-units (Table 2.2). R-547 highly increased the overall potency in CDK1, CDK2, CDK5, and CDK7 inhibition when it was compared with Alvocidib (CDK1: 85 nM vs. 1079 nM, CDK2: 7 nM vs. 791 nM, CDK5: 8 nM vs. 69 nM, CDK7: 408 nM vs. 541 nM). A phase I clinical trial of R-547 in solid tumoralso showed that R547 is a potent and selective CDK1 and CDK2 inhibitor²³⁷. As an unspecific CDK inhibitor, SCH-727965 increased the overall potency in CDK2, CDK6, CDK12, CDK13, CDK16, and CDK17 inhibition when it was compared with Alvocidib (CDK2: 56.1 nM, CDK6: 7.4 nM, CDK12: 7.6 nM, CDK13: 13.6 nM, CDK16: 41.1 nM, CDK17: 103.3 nM). CDK12 and CDK13 play a key role of regulators of transcription elongation and regulate the expression of genes involved in DNA repair; they are also required for the maintenance of genomic stability^{238, 239}. They have been reported as promising new drug targets for cancer treatment^{240, 241}. Few CDK12 and CDK13 covalent inhibitors were developed to target the remote cysteine and were evaluated for the treatment of breast cancer, acute leukemia, and ovarian cancer²⁴². In our study, SCH-727965 was detected to strongly target CDK12 and CDK13, and this finding may also drive SCH-727965 into the application of cancer therapies.

The goals of development of second-generation CDK inhibitors include either increasing the selectivity of CDK1 and CDK2 or increasing the overall potency²⁰⁵.Many of second-generation CDK inhibitors such as BMS-387032, R-547, PHA-793887, AT-7519, Dinaciclib and P-276-00 were detected to achieve this aim (Figure 2.4B). However, few second-generation CDK inhibitors including RGB-286638, AZD-5438 and Milciclibwere characterized to fail to achievethese goals in our study (Figure 2.4A). In our results, the most non-selective CDK inhibitor was RGB-286638.

Although RGB-286638 increased the overall potency against CDK sub-units, it also found various off-targets. Meanwhile, AZD-5438 and Milciclib was demonstrated to neither increase the selectivity of CDK1 and CDK2 nor increase the overall potency of CDKs, and it still achieved greaternumber of targets. These findings, on one hand, provided strong evidence to prove the success of second-generation CDK inhibitors and promoted these promising CDK inhibitors in further clinical research studies; on the other hand, may explain the failure of certain CDK inhibitors, such as non-selectivity and low potency on CDK sub-units. In summary, Kinobeadscompetition assay provides a powerful tool in the characterization of CDK inhibitors. Some second-generation CDK inhibitors were indicated to potently work against CDK sub-units, especially the cell cycle regulator CDK2. Some second-generation CDK inhibitors, such as R-547 and SCH-727965, were indicated to increase the overall potency to work against all of the CDK sub-units. Moreover, these findings may help us screen the appropriate compounds in clinical research.



Figure 2.4 Characterization of second-generation CDK inhibitors.(A)Kinometrees of AZD-54738, Milciclib, RGB-286638 and (B) BMS-387032, P-276-00, PHA-793887, R-547, AT-7519 and Dinaciclib. The size of the dots corresponds to the K_D of target. Red dots denote CDK sub-units, blue dots denote non-CDKs.

2.3.3 CDK4/6 inhibitors are more selective and potent than "pan-CDK" inhibitor Alvocidib

CDK4/6 complexes are a part of the cell cycle regulatory pathway that drive proliferation in the G1 phase in many tumorigenic events, and targeting CDK4/6 has

been reported to be an anticancer strategy^{233, 243, 244}.Palbociclib (PD-0332991, IBRANCE, Pfizer, 2015) was successfully reviewed and approved under FDA as a treatment (in combination with letrozole) for patients with estrogen receptor positive advanced breast cancer in 2015¹²⁹. In our study, three CDK4/6 dual inhibitors (Abemaciclib, Ribociclib, Palbociclib) were characterized in Kinobeadscompetition assay. For the CDK4/6-specific inhibition, our result showed that all of the CDK4/6 dual inhibitors potently inhibit the activity of CDK6 and/or CDK4 (Abemaciclib: CDK6 with K_D of 214 nM, Ribociclib: CDK6 with K_D of 271 nM, Palbociclib: CDK4 with K_D of 420 nM, CDK6 with K_D of 40 nM)(Figure2.5). As an FDA-approved CDK4/6 inhibitor, Palbociclib was demonstrated to be a very potent and selective CDK4 and CDK6 inhibitor compared with first-generation CDK inhibitors. This may provide an overwhelming evidence of thesuccess of FDA-approved drug Palbociclib. Besides the main target CDKs, Palbociclib weakly inhibited translation initiation factor 3 J (EIF3J), casein kinase 2 sub-units CSNK2A1, CSNK2A2, CSNK2B with the K_{D} of 700 nM, 760 nM, 507 nM, 447 nM, respectively. EIF3J plays an important role in the recruitment and assembly of the translation initiation machinery²⁴⁵. EIF3J has been reported to interact with CSNK2 and be phosphorylated by CSNK2²⁴⁶. Casein kinase 2 is involved in cellular processes, such as cell cycle control, DNA repair, and circadian rhythm²⁴⁷. Moreover, casein kinase 2 has been reported as an an attractive target for anti-cancer drug design²⁴⁸.

Previous studies have shown that these CDK4/6 dual inhibitors have similar structure that is distinct from pan-CDK inhibitors; thereby, these inhibitors should show a similar feature to work against the kinome. Nevertheless, Abemaciclib was detected as a broad spectrum inhibitor in our study. Moreover, the main targets were not CDKs in the selectivity profiling of Abemaciclib. CSNK2A1, CSNK2A2, CSNK2B, GSK3A, GSK3B, PIM1, CAMK2G, CAMK2D, and CLK1 were potently inhibited byPalbociclib with K_D of 4 nM, 20 nM, 34nM, 18 nM, 25 nM, 7 nM, 17nM, 22 nM, and 3 nM, respectively. As mentioned before, casein kinase 2 is involved in cellular processes such as cell cycle control, DNA repair, and circadian rhythm. It has been

reported to phosphorylate the aminoterminal domain CDK11, which leads to the regulation of RNA transcriptionand processing events. GSK3 families are active in cellular proliferation, migration, glucose regulation, and apoptosis, and they have been implicated in inflammation and cancer²⁴⁹. GSK3 became a potential target in cancer therapy based on the tumor suppressor functions²⁵⁰.CDC-like kinase 1 (CLK1) is involved in pre-mRNA processing in the cell nucleus, and it was reported as a novel target for Alzheimer's disease²⁵¹.In our result, the characterization of Abemaciclib may drive Abemaciclib in the treatment of Alzheimer's disease based on the most potent target CLK1. In the profiling of Ribociclib, no CDKs were detected as potential targets (K_D< 100 nM). CSNK2A2 and CAMKK2 were inhibited with the K_D of 85 nM and 93 nM, respectively. The characterization of Ribociclib provides strong evidence to halt the clinical trials of Ribociclib.



Figure 2.5 Characterization of CDK4/6 dual inhibitors. (A) Kinometrees of CDK4/6 inhibitors Abemaciclib, Ribociclib and Palbociclib. The size of the dots corresponds to the K_D of targets.

Red dots denote CDKs, blue dots denote non-CDKs. (B) Histogram dissociation constants (K_D) obtained for CDK4/6 inhibitors of target proteins.

2.3.4 Off-targets of second-generation CDK inhibitors

Our results enable to detect all of the potential targets, which include both new CDK sub-units and non-CDKs, by screening 14 CDK inhibitors. New CDK sub-units CDK12, CDK13, CDK16, and CDK17 were performed as new targets of some CDK inhibitors (Figure 2.6A). AT-7519, BMS-387032, Dinaciclib, and Alvocidib inhibited CDK12 with K_D of 148 nM, 98 nM, 14 nM, and 98 nM, respectibely.AT-7519, P-276-00, and BMS-387032 were found as CDK13 inhibitors in our results (K_D = 203 nM, 4 nM, and 356 nM, respectively). CDK12 and CDK13 play as key regulators of transcription elongation and regulate the expression of genes involved in DNA repair; they are also required for the maintenance of genomic stability^{238, 242}. CDK12 and CDK13 bind cyclin K in human cells, and depletion of CycK/Cdk12 induces spontaneous DNA damage, resulting in DNA damage agents becoming sensitive²³⁹. Our finding detected few new CDK12 and CDK13 inhibitors, and may drive these CDK12/CDK13 inhibitors in the combination with DNA damage agents for cancer treatment.

Abemciclib, AT-7519, and BMS-387032 were demonstrated to inhibit CDK16 with the K_D of 53 nM, 4 nM, and 71 nM. CDK16, which belongs to the cdc2/cdkx complex, is essential in signal transduction cascades. It has been reported to be up-regulated in several transformed cancer lines²⁵², which may suggest that CDK16 inhibitor can be used in the treatment of some transformed cancers. AT-7519, BMS-387032, and Alvocidib inhibited CDK17 with the K_D of 8 nM, 4 nM, and 7 nM. CDK17 belongs to the cdc2/cdkx complex and has been reported to be involved in terminally differentiated neurons¹²⁵. Meanwhile, silence of CDK17 led to cell death in breast cancer cell line, which may promote CDK17 inhibitors in the treatment of breast cancers to evaluate the effects²³².



Figure 2.6 Off-targets of CDK inhibitors. Histogram dissociation constants (K_D) obtained for (A)Alvocidib, PHA-793887, Dinaciclib, P-276-00, BMS-387032, Milciclib, AT-7519 and Abemaciclib of CDK sub-units CDK12, CDK13, CDK16, CDK17; (B) Abemaciclib, AT-7519, BMS-387032, Dinaciclib, PHA-793887, AZD-5438, Alvocidib and RGB-286638 of GSK3A and GSK3B; (C) RGB-286638, Abemaciclib, Palbociclib and AZD-5438 of CSNK2A1, CSNK2A2, CSNK2B and EIF3J.

Besides the CDKs, our results also detected some off-targets, which were non-CDKs in the characterization of CDK inhibitors through Kinobeadscompetition assay. Some CDK inhibitors including Abemaciclib, AT-7519, PHA-793887, AZD-5438, and RGB-286638 were demonstrated to inhibit the activity of glycogen synthase kinase 3 Alpha (GSK3A) and GSK3B in our data (Figure 2.6B). RGB-286638 resulted in the most potential inhibition of GSK3A and GSK3B with K_D of 4 nM and 6nM. As mentioned, GSK3 familiesare active in cellular proliferation, migration, glucose regulation, and apoptosis, and they have been implicated in inflammation and cancer.GSK3 became a potential target in cancer therapy based on the tumor suppressor functions^{249, 250, 253}, and our data detected some new GSK3A/B inhibitors. Casein kinase 2 is involved in cellular processes such as cell cycle control, DNA repair, and circadian rhythm. Besides CDK4/6 inhibitor Abemaciclib, second-generation CDK inhibitor RGB-286638 was found to inhibit CK2 sub-units very potently(CSNK2A1,

CSNK2A2, CSNK2B, and EIF3J with K_D of 7 nM, 9 nM, 6 nM, and 11 nM, respectively). Casein kinase 2 is a novel player in MM, acute leukemia, and breast cancer phogenesis. Casein kinase 2 specific inhibitor CX-4945 (Silmitasertib) has entered into phase II clinical trials as a potential anticancer drug²⁵⁴. Our findings suggest that Abemaciclib and RGB-286638 might be CK2 inhibitors in cancer therapies.

2.3.5 Differences and similarities of CDK inhibitors in CDK/cyclin complexes inhibition

By analyzing the highly significant elastic net features associated with response to all the CDK inhibitors for the potential targets, our data demonstrated that (Figure 2.7): (1) Most CDK inhibitors were non-specific to work against CDK sub-units besidesPalbociclib and AZD-5438, which indicated that the development of selective CDK inhibitors was still aformidable challenge; (2) CDK/cyclin complexes including CDK2/CCNA2 complex, CDK1/CCNB1/CCNB2 complex, CDK7/CCNH complex, CDK12/CDK13/CCNK complex, and CDK9/CCNT1/CCNT2 complex were detected in Kinobeadscompetition assay. All of the CDK inhibitors played their biologic role primarily via inhibit the activity of CDK/cyclin complex; (3) CDK9/CCNT1/CCNT2 was inhibited by almost all the CDK inhibitors. There were two CDK inhibitors that potently inhibited CDK9/CCNT with the $K_D < 10$ nM (SCH-727965: 3 nM, Alvocidib: 5 nM). Since CDK9 has been reported to be a promising anti-cancer target because CDK9 inhibition can drive cancer cells into apoptosis¹⁸, this finding may promote SCH-727965 and Alvocidib into CDK9-related cancer therapies; (4) For the CDK6 inhibition, Dinaciclib was detected to be more potent than CDK4/6-specific inhibitorsPalbociclib, Abemaciclib, and Ribociclib (K_D= 5 nM vs. 30 nM, 71 nM, 254 nM), which suggests that Dinaciclib can be used in the treatment of estrogen receptor positive advanced breast cancer; (5) First-generation CDK inhibitor Seliciclib, second-generation CDK inhibitors P-276-00, Rociletinib, and Rigosertib did not potentially inhibit any CDKs. This finding may explain the failure of them in the clinical research studies and provides strong evidence to halt their clinical trials. In summary,

these results demonstrated the failure of CDK inhibitors because of the non-specific CDK inhibition. CDK inhibitors function in the CDK/cyclin complex inhibition, and CDK9 complex inhibition might drive some CDK9-specific inhibitors to get new insights into the clinical research.



Figure 2.7 Heatmap of highly significant elastic net features associated with response to all the CDK inhibitors. The shades of color of the nodes correspond to the K_D of targets. The K_D the lower is, the darker the color is.

2.3.6 Overview of CDK inhibitors in cell cycle regulation and transcription

Our data demonstrated the different roles of CDK inhibitors in the regulation of cell cycle, transcription, and other processes based on the potency of each CDK inhibitor in different CDK/cyclin complexes(Figure 2.8).Almost all of CDK inhibitors (Abemaciclib, Palbociclib, RGB-286638, Dinaciclib, AT-7519, BMS-387032, PHA-793887, Alvocidib and Milciclib) functioned in cell cycle regulation, transcription and other processes through different CDK/cyclin inhibition. For examples, R-547 regulated cell cycle by mainly targeting CDK2/CCNA/CCNE complex, and regulated transcription by targeting CDK9/CCNT complex; Palbociclibregulated cell cycle by mainly targeting CDK9/CCNT complex. BMS-387032 regulated cell cycle by mainly targeting CDK16 and CDK17,

and regulated transcription by targeting CDK6. Only few CDK inhibitors functioned in either cell cycle regulation or transcription. For examples, P-276-00regulated the transcription level by mainly targeting CDK9/CCNT complex; Seliciclib also involved intranscriptional regulation by targeting CDK7/CCNH and CDK9/CCNT complexes. This result showed that almost all the CDKs inhibitors were non-specific CDK inhibitors, which is the major problem of the failure of CDK inhibitors in the clinical trials.



Figure 2.8 Relationships betweenCDK inhibitors and CDK/cyclin complexes. Dark blue color denotes the cell cycle-associated complexes. Gray, light blue, and pink color denote transcription-associated complexes. White color denotes CDK inhibitors. The boldness of the lines corresponds to the K_D of targets.

2.4 Conclusions

The current study screened 14 CDK inhibitors, which include both first- and secondgeneration CDK inhibitors, against the maximum number of kinases, including both CDKs and their complex partners in Kinobeadscompetition assay. Kinobeads[™] provided an advantage in capturing CDK-cyclin complex partners, including CCNA2, CCNB1, CCNB2, CCNH, CCNI, CCNK, CCNT1, and CCNT2.Our results indicated that most CDK inhibitors were non-specific for targeting CDKs and cyclins beside FDA-approved CDK4/6 inhibitor Palbociclib. Second-generation CDK inhibitors were demonstrated to more potent to work against CDK2, but not against CDK1 compared with first-generation CDK inhibitor Alvocidib. New CDK sub-units (CDK12/13/16/17/18) were detected in the profiling of most CDK inhibitors. Our results also demonstrated that CDK inhibitors were involved in multiplebiological processes including cell cycle, transcription, and some other biological processes, and explained the failure of CDK inhibitors at the protein level. Off targets (Casein kinase 2, GSK3A/B) were detected besides the main target CDKs and cyclins of CDK inhibitors.

To summarize, our results characterized all the CDK inhibitors at the protein level. On one hand, the results of this work offer good explanations why CDK inhibitors have not been able to withstand FDA testing in the past; on the other hand, our data detected new potential off-targets of CDK inhibitors.

CHAPTER III Salt-inducible Kinase 2 Is a Potential Target in Immune Response

3.1 Introduction

Salt-inducible kinase (SIK) family is a serine/threonine protein that belongs to adenosine-monophosphate (AMP)-activated protein kinase (AMPK)-related kinase superfamily²⁵⁵. It modulates the efficiency of insulin signal transduction by phosphorylating insulin receptor substrate 1 (IRS-1) in insulin-stimulated adipocytes²⁵⁶. It also phosphorylates the cAMP response element-binding protein (CREB)-specific coactivator TORC, which leads to the inhibition of CREB activity^{257, 258}.

There are three isoforms in SIK family: SIK1 (SNF1LK), SIK2 (QIK or SNF1LK2), and SIK3 (QSK or KIAA0999)²⁵⁹. SIK1 is a key regulator in cell cycle, gluconeogenesis and lipogenesis, and tumor suppression²⁶⁰. SIK3 is a diagnostic marker because it is highly expressed in ovarian cancer²⁶¹. SIK3 depletion increases mitotic arrest and cell death, and over-expression of SIK3 promotes G1/S cell cycle progression²⁶². SIK2 is a key regulator in insulin secretion by phosphorylating CDK5 activator p35²⁶³, and it is involved in neuron survival²⁶⁴ and hepatic metabolism²⁶⁵. Recent studies have shown that SIK2 is a potential target in ovarian cancer, and SIK2 depletion both delays G1/S transition and sensitizes ovarian cancers to paclitaxel²⁶⁶. Moreover, SIK2 has been found to be a potential target in inflammatory and autoimmune diseases^{267, 268}. In

classically activated macrophages (M1), regulatory (M2 B) macrophages, and dendritic cells (DCs), SIK2 plays a pro-inflammatory role to suppress the interleukin (IL)-10 secretion by phosphorylating CRTC3^{268, 269}.

SIK2 plays an essential role in LKB1-SIK-CRTC3 signaling pathway (Figure 3.1)²⁶⁸. In the activation of LKB1-SIK-CRTC3 signaling pathway, at first, Toll-like receptor (TLR) agonists activate MAPKs, which leads to the activation of MSK1/2. The activation of MSK1/2 phosphorylates CREB. SIK2 is highly activated by liver kinase B1 (LKB1). CREB co-activator CRTC3 is phosphorylated by SIK2, which increases the interaction with 14-3-3 protein and leads to CRTC3 arrest in the cytosol. SIK2 inhibition leads to dephosphorylation of CRTC3, which results in the increase in CREB-dependent gene transcription, thereby inducing anti-inflammatory cytokine IL-10 and reducing the secretion of pro-inflammatory cytokine TNF- α . TNF- α is involved in acute and chronic inflammatory diseases²⁷⁰, and IL-10 has been reported to switch from tumor-promoting inflammation to antitumor immunity²⁷¹. These findings suggest that SIK2 inhibition may be important for the immune system and provide an opportunity to utilize SIK2 inhibitors in the treatment of inflammatory diseases.



Figure 3.1 The model for regulation of TNF-α and IL-10 production by LKB1-SIK-CRTC3 signaling pathway.SIK2 inhibition dephosphorylates CRTC3, and induce anti-inflammatory

cytokine IL-10 and reduce the pro-inflammatory cytokine TNF- α secretion.

Pharmacological inhibition of SIK2 plays an important role in innate immune system, and few FDA-approved drugs such as Dasatinib and Bosutinib were found to induce anti-inflammatory macrophages by inhibiting SIK2²⁶⁷. However, there is no global screening of SIK2 inhibitors in kinase inhibitors' library. In this study, SIK2-specific inhibitor HG-9-91-01 was evaluated in Kinobeadsassay to detect the on/off targets.242 kinase inhibitors containing both FDA-approved drugs and small molecule kinase inhibitors in clinic were screened by Kinobeadsassay. The detected SIK2 inhibitors were characterized according to the cytotoxicity in some cancer cell lines, which were highly associated with inflammation. These SIK2 inhibitors were evaluated in immune responding model containing murine and human cell lines (BMDCs, HoxB8, THP-1, PBMCs, and Human DCs) to observe the role of SIK2 inhibition in immune system, such as cytokine (TNF- α and IL-10) secretion. Anti-TNF- α therapy and IL-10 therapy have been demonstrated to be exploited in various clinical trials for the development of therapies of several inflammatory diseases.Nevertheless, no small molecule kinase inhibitor has shown therapeutic benefits in these therapies. This work try to find some evidence to drive low molecular weight SIK2 inhibitors in the investigation of inflammatory and autoimmune diseases.

3.2 Methods and materials

3.2.1 Reagents

Small molecule kinase inhibitors were dissolved in DMSO as 10mM solutions and stored at -20 °C. HG-9-91-01 was obtained from MedChem Express. Recombinant human GM-CSF, IL-4, mouse GM-CSF and IL-4 were obtained from Peprotech. SIK2 antibody (D28G3) was obtained from Cell Signaling Technology. Human TNF- α (88-7346-88), Human IL-10 (88-7106-88), Mouse TNF- α (88-7324-88), and Mouse IL-10 (88-7105-88) ELISA Ready-SET-Go kits were obtained from eBioscience. The TLR agonists Zymosan (Zym) and lipopolysaccharide (LPS) were kind gifts from Prof. Dr. Jürgen Ruland.

3.2.2 Cell lines

THP-1 cell line was grown in RPMI 1640 medium (Biochrom GmbH) supplemented with 10% FBS (Biochrom GmbH), 1% antibiotics solution (Sigma), 10 mM HEPES (Biochrom) and 0.1 mM 2-Mercaptoethanol (Sigma). MV4-11, HL60, CCRF, THP-1, Molt4 K562, SR and RPMI cell lines were grown in RPMI 1640 medium (Biochrom GmbH) supplemented with 10% FBS (Biochrom GmbH), 1% antibiotics solution (Sigma).

3.2.3 Bone-marrow-derived dendritic cell (BMDCs) culture

Bone marrow was harvested from femurs and tibias of C57BL/6 mice. Bone-marrow–derived dendritic cells (BMDCs) were differentiated in DMEM medium (Biochrom GmbH) supplemented with 2 mMGlutaMAX (Thermo Fisher Scientific), 10% FBS, 1% antibiotics solution, and 2% mouse GM-CSF. Cells were differentiated for 7 d and analyzed for >90% CD11c (BD Biosciences) by flow cytometry before use in experiments.

3.2.4 Peripheral blood mononuclear cells (PBMCs) and human DCs culture Peripheral blood mononuclear cells (PBMCs) were isolated in using density gradient

centrifugation by Ficoll-Paque (Pharmacia Biotech). Followed by purification of PBMCs by plastic adherence for 1 h and washed 5x with PBS. In PBMCs pool, monocytes were differentiated toward DCs supplemented with IL-4 (50 ng/mL, Peprotech) and GM-CSF (50 ng/mL, Peprotech) for 7 d. Half of cell culture medium supplemented with 2 mMGlutaMAX (Thermo Fisher Scientific), 10% FBS, 1% antibiotics solution, IL-4 (50 ng/mL) and GM-CSF (50 ng/mL) were replaced after 3 d.

3.2.5 Cytokine secretion measurement

THP-1 were seeded into 96-well plates at 50000 cells per well in 100 μ L RPMI 1640 medium supplemented with 10% FBS, 1% antibiotics, 10 mM HEPES and 0.1 mM 2-Mercaptoethanol followed by incubation at 37°C for 4h. Compounds (50 μ L per well) were transferred into 96-well plates for 48 hours followed by stimulation with LPS (100 ng/mL final concentration) dispersed in culture medium (10 μ L per well) for 24 hours. After LPS stimulation, the cell culture medium was removed, clarified by centrifugation for 5 min at 14000g. The concentration of TNF- α and IL-10 were determined using human/mouse TNF- α ELISA ready-set-go (eBioscience) and human/mouse IL-10 ELISA ready-set-go (eBioscience).

3.2.6 Dose dependent cell viability assay

Alamar blue cell viability assay (Thermo Fisher Scientific) was used to determine cell viability. For THP-1, cells were seeded into 96-well plates at 50000 cells per well in 100 μ L RPMI 1640 medium supplemented with 10% FBS, 1% antibiotics, 10 mM HEPES and 0.1 mM 2-Mercaptoethanol followed by incubation at 37°C for 4h. Different concentrations (from 3 nM to 3 μ M) of each inhibitor were added to each well then the cells were incubated for 72 h at 37 °C. 10% alamar blue reagent was added to each well to perform cell viability assay. The reduction from resazurin to resorufin was measured after 4 h using a fluorescence spectrophotometer (BMG Labtech) at 544 nm (excitation) and 584 nm (emission).

3.2.7 Small interfering RNA (siRNA) to knockdown SIK2 expression

THP-1 cells were seeded into 12 well plates (3 × 105 cells per well) and incubated for 24 h at 37 °C. siRNA (Qiagen: SI02665439, SI00604667, SI04439099, SI04439092) were diluted in Opti-MEM medium. INTERFERINTM (PolyPlus) was added to siRNA and mix for 10 s, followed by 10 min incubation at room temperature. Then added the mixture into each well and incubated 48 h. THP-1 cells were harvest for the western blot assay and the supernatant was collected for the ELISA assay.

3.2.8 Western blot

Cells were extracted in lysis buffer (150 mMNaCl, 50 mM Tris/HCl, pH 7.5, 1 mM Na3VO4, 5% glycerol, 0.8% NP40, 1.5 mM MgCl₂, 0.375 mMNaF, 1 mM DTT). The protein concentration was measured by Bradford assay. To detect SIK2 in cell lysates, 20 µg of protein was separated by SDS/PAGE and transferred to PVDF membranes. SIK2 was detected by SIK2 antibody in immune-blotting.

3.3 Results and discussions

3.3.1 Characterization of SIK2-specific inhibitor HG-9-91-01 in Kinobeadsassay

SIK-specific inhibitor HG-9-91-01 was characterized in Kinobeadsassay in two different set-ups. For the original Kinobeadspulldown assay, different concentrations of HG-9-91-01 were first incubated with cell lysate mix (SK-N-BE 2, MV4-11, Colo 205, and K562), followed by affinity enrichment of kinome. Quantitative MS was used for the identification of targets. In order to further evaluate HG-9-91-01 in living cells, HG-9-91-01 was pre-incubated with MV4-11 cell line, followed by cell lysis and Kinobeadsassay. In this study, SIK2 was potently inhibited by HG-9-91-01 in both set-ups (Figure 3.2), and it was inhibited stronger when HG-9-91-01 was pre-incubated with MV4-11 ($K_D = 0.06$ nM vs. 27.4 nM). This result indicated that HG-9-91-01 plays a greater role in the internal environment that is closer to the organism. Surprisingly, SIK2 wasn't the most potent target in the profiling of HG-9-91-01 in the original Kinobeadsassay (Figure 3.2A). The off-targets PTK6, RIPK2, EPHA2, GAK, FRK, and LIMK2 were inhibited more potently than SIK2 inhibition ($K_D = 1.2$ nM, 2.6 nM, 7.0 nM, 13.4 nM, and 15.6 nM, respectively). When HG-9-91-01 was pre-incubated with MV4-11 cell line, SIK2 was found to be the most potent target with K_D of 0.06 nM (Figure 3.2B). Especially SIKs sub-unit family member SIK3 was determined in the profiling of HG-9-1-01 with K_D of 0.33 nM. Meanwhile, RIPK2, EPHB4, GAK, and LIMK1 were found as off-targets of HG-9-91-01 (K_D = 0.16 nM, 2.6 nM, 2.9 nM, 7.9 nM, and 9.7 nM, respectively). Briefly, the pre-incubation of HG-9-91-01 with MV4-11 identified more off-targets with K_D < 1µM (27 vs. 21) compared with original Kinobeadsassay. HG-9-91-01 has been reported as a specific SIK inhibitor in the previous studies^{258, 260, 263, 266}; however, our result confirmed that SIK-specific inhibitor HG-9-91-01 was not selective to work against SIKs. The general usage of HG-9-91-01 is as a tool compound in SIK2 research, such as insulin secretionand the regulation of lipid homeostasis and adipogenesis^{258, 265}. The non-selectivity of HG-9-91-01 in this study indicated that

off-target effect of HG-9-91-01 might have a negative influence on SIK2 research, since few potential off-targets were determined as off-targets of HG-9-91-01in both set-ups, such as RIPK2 and LIMKs. Recently, research studies have shown that RIPK2 plays an important role in the modulation of immune responses²⁷², and that LIMK inhibition leads to the suppression of tumor growth in vivo²⁷³. The inhibition of RIPK2 might contribute in SIK2-mediated immune-regulation. The off-targets of HG-9-91-01 provide new research directions concerned and drive HG-9-91-01 as an RIPK2 and LIMK inhibitor in anti-inflammatory and anti-cancer therapies.



Figure 3.2 Characterization of SIK2-specific inhibitor HG-9-91-01 in Kinobeadspulldown assay with different set-ups. (A) HG-9-91-01 was incubated with cell lysis mix (SK-N-BE 2, MV4-11, Colo 205 and K562), followed by affinity enrichment of kinome. Quantitative mass spectrometry was used for the identification of targets. (B) HG-9-91-01 was pre-incubated with MV4-11 cell line, followed by Kinobeadspulldown assay. Kinometrees of HG-9-91-01 in two different set-ups. The sizes of the dots correspond to K_D of target proteins. Red color denotes SIK2 and green color denotes the off-targets of HG-9-91-01. Histogram dissociation constants (K_D) obtained for HG-9-91-01 of target proteins.

3.3.2 Drug-screen profiling to determine SIK2 inhibitors in inhibitors' library

In this study, 26 small molecule kinase inhibitors were determined to inhibit SIK2 with K_D < 1 µM in Kinobeadscompetition assay (Table 3.1) by screening 242 small molecule kinase inhibitors. These 26 SIK2 inhibitors included six FDA-approved anti-cancer and anti-inflammation drugs (Bosutinib, Dasatinib, K252A, Vargatef, CEP-701, and Dabrafenib) and 19 small molecule kinase inhibitors that are currently under clinical trials. Dasatinib and Bosutinib were designed as BCR/ABL inhibitors for the treatment of chronic myeloid leukaemia²⁷⁴. K252A and CEP-701 were approved for the treatment of psoriasis by FDA²⁷⁵. As a small molecule kinase inhibitor, Vargatef targets VEGFR, FGFR, and PDGFR for NSCLCpatients²⁷⁶.Dabrafenib was developed for metastatic melanoma patients with BRAF (V600) mutation²⁷⁷. The other SIK2 inhibitors in clinic had various targets, such as CDK inhibitors (RGB-286638, PHA-848125), Aurora inhibitors (PF-38914735, AT-9283, AT-9283, GSK1070916), and JAKs inhibitors (PRT062070, XL-019, TG101348). Even though 14 inhibitors have been reported to inhibit SIK2 in various literatures^{278, 279}, only Dastinib and Boutinib were evaluated in SIK2-associated immune research²⁶⁷.

In our result, SIK2 was determined as a new potential off-target of AT-9283, PF-477736, PRT062070, RGB-286638, SCH-900776, and ASP-3026 with K_D < 100 nM (20 nM, 30 nM, 40 nM, 80 nM, 89 nM, and 94 nM, respectively). AT-9283 and PRT062070, which were designed as JAKs inhibitors, were developed for the patients with advanced solid tumor, CLL or non-hodgkin's lymphoma (NHL), or multiple myloma²⁸⁰. PF-477736 and SCH-900776 were developed to inhibit Chk1, and Chk1 inhibition became a novel therapeutic strategy in breast and ovarian cancers²⁸¹.RGB-286638 was designed as a CDK inhibitor in the treatment of patients with solid tumurs²⁰⁹. Inflammation is crucial for cancer development²⁸², and SIK2 inhibition plays an important role in the immune system. Therefore, the potential inhibition of SIK2 by these inhibitors may contribute toward suppressing cancer development.

Inhibitors	Reported targets	SIK2K _D (nM)	STATU	known/unknown target SIK2
UCN-01	РКС	5	Phase I	Known
AZD-7762	Chk1,2	5	Phase I	Known
Dasatinib	Src, Abl	6	Approved	Known
Crenolanib	PDGFRB, FLT3	10	Phase III	Known
PF-03814735	Aurora	17	Phase I	Known
AT-9283	Aurora, JAK1, 2	20	Phase II	Unknown
PF-477736	Chk1	30	Phase I	Unknown
K252A	TrkA, CaMK, PKA	34	Approved	Known
PRT062070	JAKs, Syk	40	Phase II	Unknown
BMS-690514	Pan-ErbB, VEGF2	58	Phase II	Known
Bosutinib	Src, Abl	72	Approved	Known
Vargatef	VEGFR, FGFR	72	Approved	Known
RGB-286638	CDKs	80	Phase II	Unknown
SCH-900776	Chk1	89	Phase I	Unknown
ASP-3026	ALK	94	Phase I	Unknown
CEP-701	Flt3, JAK2, TrkA	100	Approved	Known
XL-019	JAK2	113	Phase II	Unknown
PHA-848125	CDK1, 2, 4, TrkA	120	Phase II	Unknown
TAK901	Aurora	153	Phase I	Unknown
Dabrafenib	BRAF	297	Approved	Known
GSK1070916	Aurora	365	Phase I	Known
R-406	SYK	547	Phase II	Known
Saracatinib	Src, Abl	630	Phase III	Unknown
TG101348	JAK2, Flt3, Ret	670	Phase II	Known
XL-228	IGF1R, Src, Bcr-Abl	753	Phase II	Unknown
Danusertib	Abl, FGF1, Ret	858	Phase II	Unknown

 Table 3.1 SIK2 inhibitors and their targets present here.
 Kinobeadspulldown assay was used to screen small molecule kinase inhibitors.

3.3.3 SIK2 inhibition had no effect in cell growth

After detecting SIK2 inhibitors and characterizing SIK2-specific inhibitor HG-9-91-01 in Kinobeadscompetition assay, five leukemia cell lines (MV4-11, HL60, CCRF, THP-1, Molt4), two lymphoma cell lines (K562, SR), and one melanoma cell line (RPMI), which are highly associated with inflammation, were incubated with SIK2-specific

HG-9-91-01 to observe the cytotoxicity of SIK2 inhibition. In this study, HG-9-91-01 didn't show any cytotoxicity in most of the cell lines besides MV4-11 and K562 (IC50 = 39.6 nM and 291.4 nM) (Figure 3.3 A). An FLT3 inhibitor Crenolanib, which also showed potent SIK2 inhibition with K_D of 10 nM in Kinobeadsassay, was observed for cytotoxicity in these cell lines by cell viability assay (Figure 3.3B). Only MV4-11, which highly expressed FLT3-ITD mutation, was strongly inhibited by FLT3-specific inhibitor Crenolanib. Combining the cell viability results of HG-9-91-01 and Crenolanib, it was confirmed that SIK2 inhibition had no effect on cell growth.Next step, all of the SIK2 inhibitors were used in these cancer models to evaluate the role of SIK2 inhibition in immune response, especially in cytokine secretion.



Figure 3.3 Response curves of (A) HG-9-91-01 and (B) Crenolanib. Cells were seeded into 96 well plates and different concentration of HG-9-91-01 and Crenolanib were treated with cells for 72 hours. 10% alamar blue reagent was added to each well to perform cell viability assay. The reduction from resazurin to resorufin was measured after 4 h using a fluorescence spectrophotometer (BMG Labtech) at 544 nm (excitation) and 584 nm (emission).

3.3.4 SIK2 inhibition reduced TNF- α production in THP-1 cell line

THP-1 cell line, which is an in vitro cell model for immune modulation approach²⁸³, was used to evaluate the cytotoxicity of SIK2 inhibition. In cell viability assay, most of SIK2 inhibitors had no effect in cell growth (Figure 3.4A). Only few SIK2 inhibitors were demonstrated to have very potent cytotoxicity of THP-1. For examples, CDK-specific inhibitor RGB-286638, PKC inhibitor UCN-01, BCR-Abl inhibitor Bosutinib, and MAPK inhibitor K252A suppressed THP-1 cell growth with the IC50s of 6.8 nM, 21.1 nM, 69.7 nM, and 399.2 nM, respectively. The reported targets of these

inhibitors were determined in Kinobeadspulldown assay, and these targets also demonstrated significant potent inhibition in this study (Figure 3.4B). CDK inhibitor RGB-286638 inhibited CDK16, GAK, GSK3A, GSK3B, and CDK9 with K_D of 6.5 nM, 7.6 nM, 7.5 nM, 8.1 nM, and 8.5 nM. PRKCA, PRKCB, PRKCD, MARK2, and MARK3 were determined as potent targets of PKC inhibitor UCN-01 with K_D of 7.4 nM, 7.4 nM, 3 nM, 7.6 nM, and 7.8 nM. BCR-Abl inhibitor Bosutinib inhibited BCR, ABL1, and ABL2 with K_D of 7.7 nM, 3 nM, and 8.5 nM. MAPK family members MAP2K6, MAP3K5, MAP4K2, MAP4K4, and MAP4K5 were potently inhibited by MAPK inhibitor K252A with K_D of 3 nM, 7.1 nM, 5.5 nM, 6.0 nM, and 6.9 nM, respectively. The results indicated that Kinobeadspulldown assay determines the reported targets of these inhibitors in potent inhibition, and the potent inhibition of these targets leads to cell death.



Figure 3.4 Dependent curves of SIK2 inhibitors in responding to THP-1 and reported targets determined in Kinobeadsassay. (A) Does dependent curves of SIK2 inhibitors in responding THP-1. THP-1 cells were seeded in 96 well plates and different concentration of

SIK2 inhibitors were treated with cells for 72 hours. 10% alamar blue reagent was added to each well to perform cell viability assay. The reduction from resazurin to resorufin was measured after 4 h using a fluorescence spectrophotometer (BMG Labtech) at 544 nm (excitation) and 584 nm (emission). (B) Reported targets of SIK2 inhibitors were determined in Kinobeadscompetition assay.

Since most of SIK2 inhibitors had no significant influence on the growth of THP-1 cell line (Figure 3.5B), 500 nM of SIK2 inhibitors were treated with THP-1 to evaluate the role of SIK2 inhibition in immune response, especially in cytokine secretion. Two experiments with different treatment times (2 hours and 72 hours) were set up in this study (Figure 3.5A). In 2-hour SIK2 inhibitors treatment condition, many SIK2 inhibitors reduced tumor necrosis factor alpha (TNF- α) secretion. K252A, AZD-7762, PF-3814735, Crenolanib, and HG-9-91-01 had a significant effect on TNF- α secretion. TAK-901, PHA-848125, and Dasatinib reduced around 50% of TNF- α secretion. In 48-hour SIK2 inhibitors treatment condition, TNF- α secretion was inhibited in a certain extent by almost all of the SIK2 inhibitors. GSK-1070916, K252A, AZD-7762, TAK-901, TG-101348, PF-3814735, Crenolanib, HG-9-91-01, Dasatinib, Bosutinib, and PF-477736 completely suppressed TNF- α production. PHA-848125, Saracatinib, and Vargatef reduced around 50% of TNF-α secretion. K252A, AZD-7762, and Bosutinib reduced TNF- α secretion by inhibiting the cell growth with IC50 of 399.7 nM, 139.6 nM, and 69.7 nM, respectively (Figure 3.5B). BRAF inhibitor Dabrafenib increased the TNF- α production at the very beginning, but there was no effect in TNF- α secretion over time. Surprisingly, JAKs inhibitor AT-9283, which was developed for the patients with advanced solid tumor, CLL or NHL, or multiple myloma²⁸⁰, induced TNF-a secretion in a time-dependent trend. JAK1 and TYK2 were determined as the potential targets of AT-9283 with K_D of 247.5 nM and 369.3 nM (Figure 3.5C). JAKs inhibition in macrophages leads to an increase in lipopolysaccharide-induced cytokine production²⁸⁴. This might explain AT-9283 inducing the secretion of TNF-a in this study.

In summary, most SIK2 inhibitors showed time-dependent inhibition in TNF-a

secretion in this study. SIK2 inhibition leads to the decrease of TNF- α secretion. TNF- α , which is chiefly produced by activated macrophages, plays an important role in the regulation of immune cells. As a pro-inflammatory cytokine, TNF- α induces inflammation and is involved in a number of human diseases, such as Alzheimer's disease, cancer, psoriasis, and inflammatory bowel disease (IBD)²⁷⁰. The detection of new potential SIK2 inhibitors in this study may drive these inhibitors toward a new research direction in the treatment of immune diseases.



Figure 3.5Eeffect of SIK2 inhibition on TNF- α secretion inTHP-1 cell line. (A) TNF- α secretion measurement in ELISA. THP-1 cells were treated with 500 nM of each inhibitor 48 hours followed by 100ng/ml LPS stimulated 24 hours. Supernatants were harvested and an ELISA assay was used to measure TNF- α concentrations by ELISA kits. (B) Cellular IC50s of potential SIK2 inhibitors in THP1 cells were determined by cell viability. (C) Reported targets of AT-9283 were detected by Kinobeadspulldown assay.

3.3.5 SIK2 inhibition reduced TNF- α production and induced IL-10 production

in HoxB8 cell line

HoxB8 cell line, which indicates important similarity with DCs, represents a unique

inflammatory characteristic in vitro model²⁸⁵.In this study, SIK2-specific inhibitor HG-9-91-01 was treated with HoxB8 cell line to evaluate the role of SIK2 inhibition in immune response at first. We demonstrated that HG-9-91-01 indicates a dose-dependent inhibition in TNF- α secretion and a dose-dependent trend in increasing IL-10 secretion in the range of 5 nM to 100 nM HG-9-91-01 treatment (Figure 3.6A). In 500 nM HG-9-91-01 treatment condition, the reason of decrease in IL-10 production may be the cytotoxicity of the cell growth (cellular IC50 = 411.5 nM) (Figure 3.6B). Most SIK2 inhibitors had no effect on cell growth; only few SIK2 inhibitors demonstrated cytotoxicity in cell viability assay of HoxB8 cell line (Figure 3.6B). AT-9283, K252A, AZD-7762, and PF-3814735 inhibited cell growth with cellular IC50s of 177.5 nM, 399.7 nM, 128.8 nM, and 54.5 nM, respectively.

According to the cell viability result in HoxB8 (Figure 3.6B), 500 nM of each compound was confirmed in the evaluation of SIK2 inhibition in immune response. In the cytokine secretion assay, many SIK2 inhibitors reduced the TNF- α secretion, and few SIK2 inhibitors induced IL-10 secretion (Figure 3.6C). For TNF- α production measurement, FDA-approved BCR-Abl inhibitor Dasatinib had a significant inhibition on TNF-a secretion, and Dabrafenib, Crenolanib, and Bosutinib reduced around 50% of TNF- α secretion. Meanwhile, HG-9-91-01, AT-9283, K252A, AZD-7762, and PF-3814735 also inhibited TNF- α production significantly because of the very potent cytotoxicity on cell growth (Figure 3.6B). For IL-10 production measurement, FDA-approved drugs Bosutinib and Dabrafeinib significantly induced IL-10 secretion. Interestingly, FLT3 inhibitor Crenolanib and JAK2 inhibitor TG-101348 potently increased IL-10 production. K252A, AZD-7762, and PF-3814735 reduced IL-10 production because of the cytotoxicity on cell growth (Figure 3.6B). As an anti-inflammatory cytokine, IL-10 has been reported to switch from tumor-promoting inflammation to antitumor immunity²⁷¹. The inhibition of SIK2 leads to the increasing of IL-10 secretion in this study, which may drive these potential SIK2 inhibitors in antitumor immunity research.





3.3.6 SIK2 inhibition led to the decreasing of TNF- α and increasing of IL-10 in both murine and human immune system

Bone marrow dendritic cells (BMDCs), which are included in the most commonly used model in the immune system, play an important role in immune response and are essential for innate immunity to intracellular infection²⁸⁶. In this study, BMDCs were used to characterize the role of SIK2 inhibition in the murine immune system. Most SIK2 inhibitors had no effect on cell growth; only few SIK2 inhibitors demonstrated cytotoxicity in cell viability assay of BMDCs (Figure 3.7A). K252A, Dabrafenib, AZD-7762, and Dasatinib inhibited cell grow with cellular IC50s of 178.4 nM, 363.5

nM, 51.3 nM, and 102.2 nM, respectively. According to the result of cell viability assay, 500 nM of each compound was determined. In the cytokines secretion assay, many SIK2 inhibitors demonstrated the inhibition of TNF- α production, and few SIK2 inhibitors induced IL-10 secretion (Figure 3.7B). For TNF- α production measurement, AT-9283, PF-3814735, Crenolanib, and HG-9-91-01 had a significant effect on TNF- α secretion. Meanwhile, K252A, AZD-7762, and Dasatinib inhibited TNF- α production because of the cytotoxicity on BMDCs. For IL-10 production measurement, almost all of the SIK2 inhibitors slightly induced IL-10 secretion, and only Vargatef significantly induced the IL-10 secretion. Vargatef, which was designed as a PDGFR, VEGFR, and FGFR inhibitor, was approved in the treatment of NSCLC²⁸⁷. Vargatef has also shown consistent anti-inflammatory activity in animal models, and our result indicated that Vargatef significantly induced the IL-10 production in the murine system.



Figure 3.7 The effect of SIK2 inhibition on TNF- α secretion and IL-10 secretion in BMDCs. (A) Cellular IC50s of potential SIK2 inhibitors in BMDCs cells were determined by cell viability. (B) TNF- α and IL-10 secretion measurement in ELISA. BMDCs were treated with 500 nM of each SIK2 inhibitor 48 hours followed by 4µg/ml zymosan stimulated 24 hours. Supernatants were harvested and an ELISA assay was used to measure TNF- α and IL-10 concentrations.

Peripheral blood mononuclear cells (PBMCs) and human DC subsets, which are critical for the immune system functioning²⁸⁸, were also used for the characterization of SIK2 inhibition. SIK2 inhibitors showed similarity in both PBMCs and human DCs in this study (Figure 3.8). For TNF- α production measurement, SIK2-specific inhibitor HG-9-91-01 was indicated to show a significant inhibition in the secretion of TNF- α . FDA-approved drug Dasatinib also obviously reduced TNF- α production. Crenolanib,
AT-9283, Dabrafenib, and PF-3814735 slightly inhibited TNF- α secretion. The inhibition of TNF- α production by K252A might be because of the cytotoxicity in PBMCs and human DCs. For IL-10 production measurement, AT-9283 significantly induced IL-10 production in PBMCs and human DCs. GSK-1070916, TAK-901, and PHA-848125 slightly induced the IL-10 production in human DCs. In general, SIK2 inhibition led to the decrease of TNF- α production, and few SIK2 inhibitors induced the IL-10 production in human immune responding model.





3.3.7 Knockdown of SIK2 expression by siRNA induced IL-10 production and reduced TNF- α secretion in THP-1 cell line

Owing to the fact that all of the SIK2 inhibitors were non-selective in SIK2 inhibition, even SIK2 "specific" inhibitor HG-9-91-01 had more than 20 potential targets (Figure 3.2). This can substantially complicate matters for the role of SIK2. Small interfering RNA (siRNA) was used to knockdown SIK2 expression in THP-1 cell line to characterize the role of SIK2 in immune response. In this study, SIK2 was knocked down to 50% and 60% by 5 nM and 20 nM siRNA, respectively (Figure 3.9A). SIK2 knockdown led to the decrease of TNF-a production and the increase of IL-10 production in THP-1 cell line (Figure 3.9B). For TNF- α production measurement, 50% SIK2 knockdown slightly reduced the TNF-a secretion, and 60% SIK2 knockdown observably decreased the TNF-a production. Interestingly, SIK2 knockdown had a significant effect on IL-10 production; even 60% of SIK2 knockdown led to tenfold IL-10 production. Specific SIK2 inhibition was evaluated to play an important role in the immune response by increasing the anti-inflammatory cytokine IL-10 secretion and decreasing the production of pro-inflammatory cytokine TNF- α . Thereby, development of specific SIK2 inhibitor is required in the future and the SIK2 specific inhibitor may play an important role in immune-related disorders by reducing pro-inflammatory cytokine TNF- α secretion and inducing anti-inflammatory cytokine IL-10 production.



Figure 3.9 Silencing of SIK2 expression in THP-1 cells. (A) Knockdown of SIK2 by siRNA in THP-1 cells. Western blot was used to detect the SIK2 expression level in THP-1. (B) SiRNA reagent incubated with THP-1 for 72 hours, followed by harvest the supernatants and ELISA assay.

In summary, the SIK2 inhibition lead to the increase of IL-10 production and the decrease of TNF- α production in human and murine immune response models. Even though these cytokine secretion were analyzed just one time, these results revealed a uniform trend toward similarly reduced pro-inflammatory cytokine TNF- α and induced anti-inflammatory cytokine IL-10. These results were confidence and SIK2 was proved as a promising target in immune response. SIK2 inhibition may provide an advantage for the treatment of inflammatory and autoimmune diseases.

3.4 Conclusions

In this study, we evaluated the selective SIKs inhibitor HG-9-91-01, and the data demonstrated HG-9-91-01 as a "non-specific" SIKs inhibitor with more than 20 off-targets. We screened 26 small molecule kinase inhibitors containing approved drugs and inhibitors in the clinical trials that inhibit SIK2. Notably, treatment of various immune responding models (THP-1, BMDCs, PBMCs, and human DCs) induced the production of anti-inflammatory cytokine IL-10 and reduced the production of pro-inflammatory cytokine TNF-α. Six FDA-approved drugs (Bosutinib, Dasatinib, K252A, Vargatef, CEP-701, and Dabrafenib) were determined to inhibit SIK2 in the Kinobeadsassay. Dasatinib and Bosutinib were developed as BCR/ABL inhibitors for the treatment of chronic myeloid leukemia; K252A and CEP-701 were approved for the treatment of psoriasis; Vargatef was developed to work against VEGFR and was used for NSCLC patients; and Dabrafenib was designed as an anti-cancer drug for metastatic melanoma patients with BRAF (V600) mutation. Few new potential SIK2 inhibitors were also determined in this study, such as AT-9283, PF-477736, PRT062070, RGB-286638, SCH-900776, and ASP-3026.

The non-selective nature of inflammatory disease therapies, which rely heavily on glucocorticoids and/or immunosuppressants, has multiple side effects. Neutralizing antibodies were developed to inhibit the actions of particular pro-inflammatory cytokines, such as anti-TNF- α humira. TNF- α is produced primarily by activated macrophages. Pro-inflammatory cytokineTNF- α occurs a variety of chronic effects and acute pathologies.Consequently, TNF- α is involved in acute and chronic inflammatory diseases (AIDS, Crohn's disease, rheumatoid arthritis). IL-10 is produced by many different types of immune cells (TH2, TH17, TReg, B cells, DCs, natural killer cells, and mast cells). As an anti-inflammatory cytokine, IL-10 plays an important role in the prevention of host damage by limiting the immune response, and is being exploited in clinical trials for the development of several inflammatory diseases therapies. The orally available drugs that improve the treating effect of

chronic inflammatory and autoimmune diseases have become a new hot point. SIK2 inhibition that induces anti-inflammatory cytokine production and reduces pro-inflammatory cytokine production may provide an advantage for the treatment of these diseases.

CHAPTER IV General discussion

Label-free LC-MS approaches, which provide higher dynamic range of quantification, play an essential role in guantitative studies^{193, 201, 289}. Compared with other protein quantification methods that use isotope labeling to make the compound chemically bind to the protein, label-free quantification has been used to directly determine the relative or absolute proteins through correlating the intact proteolytic peptides signal or counting the peptide sequencing events number with MS in two or more biological samples^{199, 200}. Moreover, the significant changes of a complex mixture in a single experiment can be measured by label-free LC-MS approaches²⁹⁰. So far, the label-free approach is the most accurate mass spectrometric quantification method as it reflects all the systematic and non-systematic variations in different experimental data in consideration of the overall experiment. Kinobeads[™] represents the covalent attachment of kinase inhibitors with sepharose beads to enrich the affinity of kinomes in cell lines or tissue lysates¹⁵⁴. In this study, Kinobeadsin combinationwith quantitative MS was briefly used to describe the interaction of kinase inhibitors with cancer cell lines' kinome (around260 kinases). Protein kinases have become an attractive target in the development and discovery of oncology drugs because they play a crucial role in promoting cancer cell survival and proliferation^{45, 291}. Currently, 33 kinase inhibitors have been approved, and numerous (>250) inhibitors are in various stages of clinical evaluation^{44, 46, 134}. In this thesis, 242 small molecule kinase inhibitors including both FDA-approved anti-cancer drugs and small molecule kinase inhibitors that are in the stage of clinical trials were characterized by kinodeads competition assay, a dose-resolved quantitative chemical proteomics approach, to indicate the on and off-targets, understand the mechanism of action, and develop the novel targeted

cancer therapies.

CDKs are a family of protein kinases that play the most important role in the regulation of cell cycle transitions. CDKs have been reported to misregulate in many different human tumors^{125, 128}. Over-expression of CDK1 has been found to highly relate withovarian cancer, colorectal cancer, and breast cancer. CDK2 has been reported as a magnetic target for cancer therapies because the over-expression of CDK2 regulates cell cycle abnormality in cancer cells. CDK4/6 activation leads to the uncontrolled cell cycle in many types of cancers, especially in breast cancer^{206, 207,} ²³³.Owing to the central role of CDKs in the control of cell division, numerous drugs that target CDKs activity have emerged and have been tested in the stages of clinical trials. So far, fourteen CDK inhibitors have been developed and reported in various clinical trials, but only CDK4/6 inhibitor Palbociclib (PD-0332991, IBRANCE, Pfizer, 2015) was successfully reviewed and approved under FDA as a treatment (in combination with letrozole) for patients with estrogen receptor positive advanced breast cancer¹²⁹. There are three key principles of the failure of non-selective CDK inhibitors. Firstly, the lack of clear understanding of the action mechanism of many low specificity CDK inhibitors, and the lack of clear recognition regarding which CDK is actually inhibited in vivo may become the corresponding mechanism of the therapeutic effect. Secondly, appropriate patient selection is another restriction, and there are no key biomarkers for the sensitive subpopulations that respond to this class of inhibitors. Thirdly, there is no suitable therapeutic window. The limitation of non-selective CDK inhibitors suggests that increase in certain CDK selectivity is important for the development of CDK inhibitors, which provides a direction for new research.

In chapterII, 14 CDK inhibitors, which include both first- and second-generation CDK inhibitors against the maximum number of kinases, involving both CDKs and their complex partners were characterized in Kinobeadscompetition assay. As a first-generation CDK inhibitor, Alvocidib was reported to be a "pan-CDK" inhibitor, and

our result demonstrated broad CDK inhibition, including CDK1, CDK2, CDK5, CDK7, CDK9, and CDK12 with $K_D < 1 \mu M$ (Figure 2.2A). These findings, on the other hand, validate that the Kinobeadsassay is quite effective in the research of kinase inhibitors because they are consistent with the previous studies. Moreover, Kinobeads[™] provided an advantage in capturing CDK-cyclin complex partners, including CCNA2, CCNB1, CCNB2, CCNH, CCNI, CCNK, CCNT1, and CCNT2 compared with recombinant protein technology in small molecule drug discovery (Figure 2.2, Figure 2.7). Further screening the second-generation CDK inhibitors in Kinobeadscompetition assay, our results indicated that most CDK inhibitors were non-specific for targeting CDKs and cyclins (Figure 2.4, Figure 2.5, Figure 2.7). Since one aim of the development of new-generation CDK inhibitors is to increase the selectivity of CDK1 and CDK2, our results demonstrated that second-generation CDK inhibitors were more potent to work against CDK2, but not against CDK1 compared with Alvocidib (Figure 2.3). This may indicate the success of the second-generation CDK inhibitors. Interestingly, only FDA-approved CDK inhibitor Palbociclib was characterized to possess high selectivity in targeting CDKs in kinodeads pulldown assay (Figure 2.5). Furthermore, new CDK sub-units (CDK12/13/16/17/18), which are involved in transcription and other processes were found in the profiling of most CDK inhibitors. When classifying all CDK inhibitors that show CDK binding according to their K_D, CDK inhibitors functioned almost all of in cell cycle regulation(CDK1/2/4/5/6/7), transcription (CDK12/13/16/17), and other processes (CDK16/17/18) (Figure 2.8). These findings demonstrated that CDK inhibitors were involved in multiplebiological processes including cell cycle, transcription, and some other processes, and explained the failure of CDK inhibitors at the protein level. Besides the main target CDKs and cyclins of CDK inhibitors, some kinases such as GSK3A, GSK3B, casein kinase 2 complex partners CSNK2A1, CSNK2A2, CSNK2B, and EIF3J were detected as off-targets of CDK inhibitors (Figure 2.6). GSK3 families are active in cellular proliferation, migration, glucose regulation, and apoptosis, and they have been implicated in inflammation and cancer. GSK3 became a potential target in cancer therapy based on the tumor suppressor functions²⁴⁹.Casein kinase is

involved in cellular processes, such as cell cycle control, DNA repair, and circadian rhythm, and casein kinase 2 is a novel player in MM, acute leukemia, and breast cancer phogenesis^{248, 254}. The detection of off-targets provides strong evidence to drive some CDK inhibitors in GSK3 and casein kinase 2-associated tumor research studies. To summarize, our results characterized all the CDK inhibitors at the protein level. These findings, on one hand, indicate the success of the development of next-generation CDK inhibitors, while on the other hand, provide strong evidence to explain the failure of CDK inhibitors in the review of FDA.

Inflammation is a biological process of self-protection that occurs when body tissues suffer from harmful foreign stimuli (damaged cells, pathogens and irritants) and begin the healing process²⁸². Inflammatory diseases, such as Alzheimer's disease, Crohn's disease, arthritis, and asthma, demonstrate high levels of inflammation in the connective tissues²⁹². Various disadvantages of the existing drugs have been noticed in the treatment of inflammatory diseases, such as multiple side effects that result from non-selective drugs glucocorticoids and/or immunosuppressants²⁹³ and expensive purchasing because of neutralizing antibodies²⁹⁴. Therefore, the orally available drugs that improve the treating effect of chronic inflammatory and autoimmune diseases have become a new hot point. Cancer is a group of diseases characterized by somatic cells becoming abnormal, going through out-of-control cell growth, and becoming malignant¹. Numerous research studies have shown that inflammation is crucial in the development of cancer, and that infection, chronic irritation, and inflammation lead to many types of cancers. It is clear that inflammatory cells orchestrate the tumor microenvironment and many pro-inflammatory molecules are up-regulated to foster tumor growth in chronic inflammation²⁸². Many anti-cancer drugs have been used for the treatment of inflammatory diseases because of the strong correlation between inflammation and cancer. On one hand, low dose of chemotherapy drugs is used for rheumatic or autoimmune diseases because the chemotherapy drugs reduce the production of certain products that cause the inflammatory response through inhibiting the cell reproduction²⁹⁵. On the other hand,

few small molecule kinase inhibitors have been identified to have anti-inflammatory properties. For example, Src inhibitor Dasatinib was found to inhibit immune cell activation and reduce the inflammatory responses in vitro experiment²⁹⁶. Furthermore, Dasatinib was demonstrated to show therapeutic value in arthritis and allergic asthma²⁹⁷.

In chapter III, we indicated that SIK2 plays an important role in inflammatory response, especially in cytokine secretion, such as TNF- α and IL-10. In Kinobeadspulldown assay, SIK2 was detected as an off-target by screeningsmall molecule kinase inhibitors' library including both FDA-approved anti-cancer drugs and small molecule kinase inhibitors that are in the stage of clinical trials. Among these 242 inhibitors, 26 small molecule kinase inhibitors, including six FDA-approved anti-cancer drugs (Bosutinib, Dasatinib, K252A, Vargatef, CEP-701, and Dabrafenib) were detected to potently inhibit SIK2 (Table 3.1). Among these 26 SIK2 inhibitors, few new potential SIK2 inhibitors were determined in this study, such as AT-9283, PF-477736, PRT062070, RGB-286638, SCH-900776, and ASP-3026.Dasatinib and Bosutinib were developed as BCR/ABL inhibitors for the treatment of chronic myeloid leukemia; K252A and CEP-701 were approved for the treatment of psoriasis; Vargatef was developed to work against VEGFR and was used for NSCLC patients; and Dabrafenib was designed as an anti-cancer drug for metastatic melanoma patients with BRAF (V600) mutation^{118, 267, 287}. In order to characterize the role of SIK2 inhibition in immune response, at first, a tool compound that showed selective SIKs inhibition in the previous study, HG-9-91-01, was characterized in Kinobeadsassay, and our result demonstrated that HG-9-91-01 was a "non-specific" SIK inhibitor with >26 targets (Figure 3.2).Notably, SIK2 inhibition had no effects on the cell survival and proliferation (Figure 3.3, Figure 3.4). These findings strongly promote SIK2 inhibitors in the immune diseases based on low cytotoxicity. Moreover, these SIK2 inhibitorswere treated in various immune responding models (THP-1, BMDCs, PBMCs, and human DCs), indicating that SIK2 inhibition induces the production of anti-inflammatory cytokine IL-10 and reduces the production pro-inflammatory cytokine TNF- α (Figure

3.5, Figure 3.6, Figure 3.7, Figure 3.8). Since almost all of SIK2 inhibitors indicated the non-selectivity in targeting SIK2, siRNA was used to knockdown the expression level of SIK2 in THP-1 cell line. This cytokine production result of SIK2 knockdown provided a strong evidence to prove that SIK2 inhibition leads to an increase of IL-10 and a decrease of TNF- α (Figure 3.9).

TNF- α , which is produced primary by activated macrophages, plays a crucial role in mediating the systemic inflammatory response to infection. As a pro-inflammatory cytokine, TNF- α induces inflammation and is involved in a number of human diseases, such as Alzheimer's disease, cancer, psoriasis, rheumatoid arthritis, and IBD. TNF- α inhibitors including both monoclonal antibody (infliximab, adalimumab, and golimumab) and simple molecules (xanthine derivatives, bupropion) were designed and successfully approved in the treatment of autoimmune and immune-mediated diseases²⁷⁰. Nevertheless, no small molecule kinase inhibitors have been found in anti-TNF- α therapies. Our results indicated that a number of SIK2 inhibitors suppress TNF- α secretion in many immune response models. This finding provides a potential opportunity to drive these small molecule kinase inhibitors in the treatment of TNF- α -associated immune disease. Anti-inflammatory cytokine IL-10 is produced by many different types of immune cells (TH2, TH17, TReg, B cells, DCs, natural killer cells, and mast cells). IL-10 plays an important role inimmune-regulation and inflammation²⁷¹. Additionally, IL-10 is also involved in increasing B cell survival, blocking NF-kB activity, and regulating JAK-STAT signaling pathway²⁸⁴. Moreover, IL-10 suppresses the secretion of pro-inflammatory cytokines, including IL-2, TNF-a, IL-3, IFN-y, and GM-CSF²⁹⁸. Recent studies have shown that recombinant human IL-10 was reviewed in patients with autoimmune diseases in various stages of clinical trials. IL-10 therapy exhibited promising effect in psoriasis, but it had no significant effect in rheumatoid arthritis or Crohn's disease²⁹⁹. A mice study showed that IL-10 counteracted the inflammatory effect in the allergic reaction³⁰⁰. In summary, IL-10 has been exploited in clinical trials for the development of therapies of several inflammatory diseases based on these features of IL-10. In our study, few small

molecule kinase inhibitors (Dabrafenib, Crenolanib, AT-9283, Bosutinib, vargataf, AT-9283) that showed SIK2 inhibition were detected to particularly induce the IL-10 secretion. These findings may drive these SIK2 inhibitors in the research of some autoimmune diseases, such as psoriasis.

In summary, this study indicated that SIK2 inhibition is a key regulator in the cytokine secretion, which particularly enhances the production of IL-10 and reduces the secretion of TNF- α . Anti-TNF- α therapy and IL-10 therapy have been demonstrated to be exploited in various clinical trials for the development of therapies of several inflammatory diseases. Nevertheless, no small molecule kinase inhibitor has shown therapeutic benefits in these therapies. This study provides strong evidence to drive these SIK2 small molecule kinase inhibitors into research of anti-immune diseases.

Abbreviations

Abl	Abelson murine leukemia viral oncogene homolog
ABP	Affinity-based probe
ABPP	Activity-based probe profiling
AGCK	PKA, PKC, and PKG kinases
Akt	Protein kinase B
ALK	Anaplastic lymphoma kinase
AMP	Adenosine-monophosphate
AMPK	AMP-activated protein kinase
BCR	Breakpoint cluster region protein
BMDC	Bone-marrow-derived dendritic cell
CaMK	Calcium/calmodulin-dependent protein kinases
CCCP	Compound-centric chemical proteomics
CDK	Cyclin-dependent kinase
CK1	Casein kinase 1
CLK1	CDC-like kinase 1
c-Met	Tyrosine-protein kinase Met
CML	Chronic myeloid leukemia
CREB	CAMP response element-binding protein
DC	Dendritic cell
DFG	Asp-Phe-Gly
DFSP	Dermatofibrosarcoma protuberans
EGFR	Epidermal growth factor receptor
EI	Electron ionization
EPO	Erythropoietin
ERK	Extracellular signal-regulated kinases
ESI	Electrospray ionization
FDA	Food and Drug Administration
FDR	False discovery rate

GH	Growth hormone
GIST	Gastrointestinal stromal tumors
НА	Hemagglutinin
HCD	Higher energy collisional dissociation
HER-2	Human epidermal growth factor receptor 2
HGF	Hepatocyte growth factor
HPLC	High pressure liquid chromatography
IC50	Half maximal inhibitory concentration
ICAT	Isotope-coded affinity tagging
IL-10	Interleukin 10
iTRAQ	Isobaric tags for relative and absolute quantitation
JAK	Janus kinases
LFQ	Label free quantification
LTK	Leukocyte tyrosine kinase
MALDI	Matrix-assisted laser desorption/ionization
МАРК	Mitogen-activated protein kinase
MEK	Mitogen-activated protein kinase kinase
МоА	Modes of action
MS	Mass spectrometry
mTOR	Mammalian target of rapamycin
NSCLC	Non-small cell lung cancer
PBMC	Peripheral blood mononuclear cell
ЫЗК	Phosphatidylinositol-4,5-bisphosphate 3-kinase
PRL	Prolactin
P-TEFb	Positive transcription elongation factor b
РТМ	Post-translational modification
Rb	Retinoblastoma protein
SIK2	Salt-inducible kinase
SILAC	Amino acids in cell culture

siRNA	Small interfering RNA
STAT	Signal transducer and activator of transcription
STE	Homologs of yeast Sterile 7, Sterile 11, and Sterile 20 kinases
TCI	Targeted covalent inhibitor
тк	Tyrosine kinases
ткі	Tyrosine kinase inhibitor
TKL	Tyrosine kinase-like group of kinases
TNF-α	Tumor necrosis factor alpha
TORC	CREB-specific coactivator
ТРО	Thrombopoietin
TYK2	Tyrosine kinase 2
VEGFR	Vascular endothelial growth factor receptor

Acknowledgements

It is my great pleasure to thank those who helped me complete my thesis works. You made my life and this thesis possible with your collaborations, advices and support.

Firstly, I would like to express my deep gratitude to **Prof. Dr. Bernhard Kuster** for giving me the opportunity to perform this PhD project in your group on such an inspiring research topic. I thank you for your supervision, critical comments and continuous support during the past years. While instilling a tough scientific attitude in me, you were also able to maintain a fantastic working atmosphere in the lab, which made it not only stimulating to work there but also fun.

Secondly, **Susan Klaeger**and **Andrea Hubauer** help me with the sample preparation;**Mathias Wilhelm** and **Dr. Chen Meng** contribute a lot in data analysis; and **Dr. Dominic Helm**and**Stephanie Heinzlmeir**help me for discussion.

Thirdly, many thanks to **Prof. Dr. Jürgen Ruland**provide such a great oppotunity to do the further immuno experiments. **Paul-Albert König, Danny Kupka** and **ZsuzsannaKurgyis** help me with the sample preparation.

I also want to thank our secretaries **Gabriele Kroeppelt** and **Silvia Roetzer**. As a foreign student, I really appreciate their support in administrative issues and many others. I would also like to thank all present and former members of the Chair of proteomics and bioanalyticsfor creating a scientifically stimulating working environment.

Last, I would like to thank to my girlfriend, **Lei**, for being there every step of my way. Without you, I should be far away from this final exciting day! I would like to express my deepest respect and love to **my parents**and**my grandpa**for your support and constant encouragement throughout my whole life.

List of Publications

Medard, G., Pachl, F., Ruprecht, B., Klaeger, S., Heinzlmeir, S., Helm, D., **Qiao, H.**, Ku, X., Wilhelm, M., Kuehne, T., Wu, Z., Dittmann, A., Hopf, C., Kramer, K. &Kuster, B. Optimized chemical proteomics assay for kinase inhibitor profiling. Journal of proteome research 14, 1574-1586 (2015).

Heinzlmeir, S., Kudlinzki, D., Sreeramulu, S., Klaeger, S., Gande, S.L., Linhard, V., Wilhelm, M., **Qiao, H.**, Helm, D., Ruprecht, B., Saxena, K., Medard, G., Schwalbe, H. &Kuster, B. Chemical Proteomics and Structural Biology Define EPHA2 Inhibition by Clinical Kinase Drugs. ACS ChemBiol 11, 3400-3411 (2016).

Klaeger, S., Gohlke, B., Perrin, J., Gupta, V., Heinzlmeir, S., Helm, D., **Qiao, H.**, Bergamini, G., Handa, H., Savitski, M.M., Bantscheff, M., Medard, G., Preissner, R. &Kuster, B. Chemical Proteomics Reveals Ferrochelatase as a Common Off-target of Kinase Inhibitors. ACS ChemBiol 11, 1245-1254 (2016).

References

- 1. Hanahan, D. & Weinberg, R.A. The hallmarks of cancer. *Cell***100**, 57-70 (2000).
- Aktipis, C.A., Boddy, A.M., Jansen, G., Hibner, U., Hochberg, M.E., Maley, C.C. & Wilkinson, G.S. Cancer across the tree of life: cooperation and cheating in multicellularity. *Philosophical transactions of the Royal Society of London. Series B, Biological sciences***370** (2015).
- 3. Vogelstein, B., Papadopoulos, N., Velculescu, V.E., Zhou, S., Diaz, L.A., Jr. & Kinzler, K.W. Cancer genome landscapes. *Science (New York, N.Y.)***339**, 1546-1558 (2013).
- 4. Torre, L.A., Bray, F., Siegel, R.L., Ferlay, J., Lortet-Tieulent, J. & Jemal, A. Global cancer statistics, 2012. *CA: a cancer journal for clinicians***65**, 87-108 (2015).
- 5. Siegel, R., Ma, J., Zou, Z. & Jemal, A. Cancer statistics, 2014. *CA: a cancer journal for clinicians*64, 9-29 (2014).
- Anand, P., Kunnumakkara, A.B., Sundaram, C., Harikumar, K.B., Tharakan, S.T., Lai, O.S., Sung,
 B. & Aggarwal, B.B. Cancer is a preventable disease that requires major lifestyle changes. *Pharmaceutical research*25, 2097-2116 (2008).
- Schwarz, S., Messerschmidt, H. & Doren, M. [Psychosocial risk factors for cancer development]. *Medizinische Klinik*102, 967-979 (2007).
- 8. Henderson, I.C. Risk factors for breast cancer development. *Cancer***71**, 2127-2140 (1993).
- Miller, K.D., Siegel, R.L., Lin, C.C., Mariotto, A.B., Kramer, J.L., Rowland, J.H., Stein, K.D., Alteri, R. & Jemal, A. Cancer treatment and survivorship statistics, 2016. *CA: a cancer journal for clinicians*66, 271-289 (2016).
- Rosenberg, S.A. The development of new cancer therapies based on the molecular identification of cancer regression antigens. *The cancer journal from Scientific American*1, 90-100 (1995).
- 11. Vander Heiden, M.G. Targeting cancer metabolism: a therapeutic window opens. *Nature reviews. Drug discovery***10**, 671-684 (2011).
- 12. Ortega, J., Vigil, C.E. & Chodkiewicz, C. Current progress in targeted therapy for colorectal cancer. *Cancer control : journal of the Moffitt Cancer Center***17**, 7-15 (2010).
- 13. Simone, C.B., 2nd, Burri, S.H. & Heinzerling, J.H. Novel radiotherapy approaches for lung cancer: combining radiation therapy with targeted and immunotherapies. *Translational lung cancer research***4**, 545-552 (2015).
- 14. Gui, G.P. & Carpenter, R. Molecular and cellular basis of cancer invasion and metastasis: implications for treatment. *The British journal of surgery***82**, 852-853 (1995).
- 15. Hoelder, S., Clarke, P.A. & Workman, P. Discovery of small molecule cancer drugs: successes, challenges and opportunities. *Molecular oncology***6**, 155-176 (2012).
- 16. Rosland, G.V. & Engelsen, A.S. Novel points of attack for targeted cancer therapy. *Basic & clinical pharmacology & toxicology***116**, 9-18 (2015).
- 17. Gerber, D.E. Targeted therapies: a new generation of cancer treatments. *American family physician***77**, 311-319 (2008).
- Collins, I. & Workman, P. New approaches to molecular cancer therapeutics. *Nature chemical biology*2, 689-700 (2006).
- 19. Fisher, R., Pusztai, L. & Swanton, C. Cancer heterogeneity: implications for targeted therapeutics. *British journal of cancer***108**, 479-485 (2013).
- 20. Ahmad, G. & Amiji, M.M. Cancer stem cell-targeted therapeutics and delivery strategies.

Expert opinion on drug delivery, 1-12 (2016).

- 21. Afghahi, A. & Sledge, G.W., Jr. Targeted Therapy for Cancer in the Genomic Era. *Cancer journal***21**, 294-298 (2015).
- 22. Scott, A.M., Wolchok, J.D. & Old, L.J. Antibody therapy of cancer. *Nature reviews. Cancer***12**, 278-287 (2012).
- 23. Hassan, M., Watari, H., AbuAlmaaty, A., Ohba, Y. & Sakuragi, N. Apoptosis and molecular targeting therapy in cancer. *BioMed research international***2014**, 150845 (2014).
- 24. Kosti, I., Jain, N., Aran, D., Butte, A.J. & Sirota, M. Cross-tissue Analysis of Gene and Protein Expression in Normal and Cancer Tissues. *Scientific reports***6**, 24799 (2016).
- 25. English, D.P., Roque, D.M. & Santin, A.D. HER2 expression beyond breast cancer: therapeutic implications for gynecologic malignancies. *Molecular diagnosis & therapy***17**, 85-99 (2013).
- 26. Raphael, B.J., Dobson, J.R., Oesper, L. & Vandin, F. Identifying driver mutations in sequenced cancer genomes: computational approaches to enable precision medicine. *Genome medicine***6**, 5 (2014).
- 27. Spagnolo, F., Ghiorzo, P., Orgiano, L., Pastorino, L., Picasso, V., Tornari, E., Ottaviano, V. & Queirolo, P. BRAF-mutant melanoma: treatment approaches, resistance mechanisms, and diagnostic strategies. *OncoTargets and therapy***8**, 157-168 (2015).
- 28. Thompson, S.L. & Compton, D.A. Chromosomes and cancer cells. *Chromosome research : an international journal on the molecular, supramolecular and evolutionary aspects of chromosome biology***19**, 433-444 (2011).
- 29. Hantschel, O. Structure, regulation, signaling, and targeting of abl kinases in cancer. *Genes & cancer***3**, 436-446 (2012).
- 30. Imai, K. & Takaoka, A. Comparing antibody and small-molecule therapies for cancer. *Nature reviews. Cancer***6**, 714-727 (2006).
- Szymanski, P., Markowicz, M. & Mikiciuk-Olasik, E. Adaptation of high-throughput screening in drug discovery-toxicological screening tests. *International journal of molecular sciences*13, 427-452 (2012).
- 32. Sliwoski, G., Kothiwale, S., Meiler, J. & Lowe, E.W., Jr. Computational methods in drug discovery. *Pharmacological reviews***66**, 334-395 (2014).
- 33. Chames, P., Van Regenmortel, M., Weiss, E. & Baty, D. Therapeutic antibodies: successes, limitations and hopes for the future. *British journal of pharmacology***157**, 220-233 (2009).
- 34. Lipman, N.S., Jackson, L.R., Trudel, L.J. & Weis-Garcia, F. Monoclonal versus polyclonal antibodies: distinguishing characteristics, applications, and information resources. *ILAR journal***46**, 258-268 (2005).
- 35. Zahreddine, H. & Borden, K.L. Mechanisms and insights into drug resistance in cancer. *Frontiers in pharmacology***4**, 28 (2013).
- 36. Housman, G., Byler, S., Heerboth, S., Lapinska, K., Longacre, M., Snyder, N. & Sarkar, S. Drug resistance in cancer: an overview. *Cancers***6**, 1769-1792 (2014).
- 37. Spagnolo, F., Ghiorzo, P. & Queirolo, P. Overcoming resistance to BRAF inhibition in BRAF-mutated metastatic melanoma. *Oncotarget***5**, 10206-10221 (2014).
- 38. Peddi, P.F. & Hurvitz, S.A. Trastuzumab emtansine: the first targeted chemotherapy for treatment of breast cancer. *Future oncology***9**, 319-326 (2013).
- 39. Ma, H., Deacon, S. & Horiuchi, K. The challenge of selecting protein kinase assays for lead discovery optimization. *Expert opinion on drug discovery***3**, 607-621 (2008).

40.	Manning, G., Whyte, D.B., Martinez, R., Hunter, T. & Sudarsanam, S. The protein kinase
	complement of the human genome. Science (New York, N.Y.) 298 , 1912-1934 (2002).

- 41. Ubersax, J.A. & Ferrell, J.E., Jr. Mechanisms of specificity in protein phosphorylation. *Nature reviews. Molecular cell biology***8**, 530-541 (2007).
- Dremier, S., Dumont, J.E. & Pinna, L.A. Protein phosphorylation, kinases, and phosphates:
 20th European Symposium on Hormones and Cell Regulation Strasbourg, France, September
 22-25, 1995. *Trends in endocrinology and metabolism: TEM***7**, 69-71 (1996).
- Smyth, L.A. & Collins, I. Measuring and interpreting the selectivity of protein kinase inhibitors. *Journal of chemical biology*2, 131-151 (2009).
- 44. Wu, P., Nielsen, T.E. & Clausen, M.H. FDA-approved small-molecule kinase inhibitors. *Trends in pharmacological sciences***36**, 422-439 (2015).
- 45. Johnson, L.N., Noble, M.E. & Owen, D.J. Active and inactive protein kinases: structural basis for regulation. *Cell***85**, 149-158 (1996).
- 46. Garuti, L., Roberti, M. & Bottegoni, G. Irreversible protein kinase inhibitors. *Current medicinal chemistry***18**, 2981-2994 (2011).
- 47. Barf, T. & Kaptein, A. Irreversible protein kinase inhibitors: balancing the benefits and risks. *Journal of medicinal chemistry***55**, 6243-6262 (2012).
- 48. Pakaski, M., Rakonczay, Z. & Kasa, P. Reversible and irreversible acetylcholinesterase inhibitors cause changes in neuronal amyloid precursor protein processing and protein kinase C level in vitro. *Neurochemistry international***38**, 219-226 (2001).
- 49. Habeck, M. FDA licences imatinib mesylate for CML. *The Lancet. Oncology***3**, 6 (2002).
- 50. Fiorcari, S., Brown, W.S., McIntyre, B.W., Estrov, Z., Maffei, R., O'Brien, S., Sivina, M., Hoellenriegel, J., Wierda, W.G., Keating, M.J., Ding, W., Kay, N.E., Lannutti, B.J., Marasca, R. & Burger, J.A. The PI3-kinase delta inhibitor idelalisib (GS-1101) targets integrin-mediated adhesion of chronic lymphocytic leukemia (CLL) cell to endothelial and marrow stromal cells. *PloS one***8**, e83830 (2013).
- 51. Hirsh, V. Next-Generation Covalent Irreversible Kinase Inhibitors in NSCLC: Focus on Afatinib. *BioDrugs : clinical immunotherapeutics, biopharmaceuticals and gene therapy***29**, 167-183 (2015).
- 52. Dubovsky, J.A., Beckwith, K.A., Natarajan, G., Woyach, J.A., Jaglowski, S., Zhong, Y., Hessler, J.D., Liu, T.M., Chang, B.Y., Larkin, K.M., Stefanovski, M.R., Chappell, D.L., Frissora, F.W., Smith, L.L., Smucker, K.A., Flynn, J.M., Jones, J.A., Andritsos, L.A., Maddocks, K., Lehman, A.M., Furman, R., Sharman, J., Mishra, A., Caligiuri, M.A., Satoskar, A.R., Buggy, J.J., Muthusamy, N., Johnson, A.J. & Byrd, J.C. Ibrutinib is an irreversible molecular inhibitor of ITK driving a Th1-selective pressure in T lymphocytes. *Blood*122, 2539-2549 (2013).
- 53. Parmar, K.K. & King, R.S. Imatinib mesylate: a new pill for chronic myelogenous leukemia. *Cancer practice***9**, 263-265 (2001).
- 54. Capdeville, R., Silberman, S. & Dimitrijevic, S. Imatinib: the first 3 years. *European journal of cancer***38 Suppl 5**, S77-82 (2002).
- 55. Manley, P.W., Cowan-Jacob, S.W. & Mestan, J. Advances in the structural biology, design and clinical development of Bcr-Abl kinase inhibitors for the treatment of chronic myeloid leukaemia. *Biochimica et biophysica acta***1754**, 3-13 (2005).
- 56. Lambert, G.K., Duhme-Klair, A.K., Morgan, T. & Ramjee, M.K. The background, discovery and clinical development of BCR-ABL inhibitors. *Drug discovery today***18**, 992-1000 (2013).

- 57. Tanriverdi, O., Unubol, M., Taskin, F., Meydan, N., Sargin, G., Guney, E. & Barutca, S. Imatinib-associated bilateral gynecomastia and unilateral testicular hydrocele in male patient with metastatic gastrointestinal stromal tumor: a literature review. *Journal of oncology pharmacy practice : official publication of the International Society of Oncology Pharmacy Practitioners***18**, 303-310 (2012).
- 58. Ojeda-Uribe, M., Merieau, S., Guillon, M., Aujoulat, O., Hinschberger, O., Eisenmann, J.C., Kenizou, D., Debliquis, A., Veyradier, A. & Chantrel, F. Secondary thrombotic microangiopathy in two patients with Philadelphia-positive hematological malignancies treated with imatinib mesylate. *Journal of oncology pharmacy practice : official publication of the International Society of Oncology Pharmacy Practitioners***22**, 361-370 (2016).
- 59. Han, A., Chen, E.H., Niedt, G., Sherman, W. & Ratner, D. Neoadjuvant imatinib therapy for dermatofibrosarcoma protuberans. *Archives of dermatology***145**, 792-796 (2009).
- 60. Torres, C.D. & Chandia, M. [Sustained hematologic response in chronic eosinophilic leukemia with low dose imatinib. Report of one case]. *Revista medica de Chile***142**, 516-520 (2014).
- Nurmio, M., Toppari, J., Zaman, F., Andersson, A.M., Paranko, J., Soder, O. & Jahnukainen, K. Inhibition of tyrosine kinases PDGFR and C-Kit by imatinib mesylate interferes with postnatal testicular development in the rat. *International journal of andrology***30**, 366-376; discussion 376 (2007).
- 62. Jabbour, E. & Lipton, J.H. A critical review of trials of first-line BCR-ABL inhibitor treatment in patients with newly diagnosed chronic myeloid leukemia in chronic phase. *Clinical lymphoma, myeloma & leukemia***13**, 646-656 (2013).
- 63. Reddy, E.P. & Aggarwal, A.K. The ins and outs of bcr-abl inhibition. *Genes & cancer***3**, 447-454 (2012).
- 64. Rane, S.G. & Reddy, E.P. Janus kinases: components of multiple signaling pathways. *Oncogene***19**, 5662-5679 (2000).
- Sakamoto, K., Wehde, B.L., Yoo, K.H., Kim, T., Rajbhandari, N., Shin, H.Y., Triplett, A.A., Radler, P.D., Schuler, F., Villunger, A., Kang, K., Hennighausen, L. & Wagner, K.U. Janus Kinase 1 Is Essential for Inflammatory Cytokine Signaling and Mammary Gland Remodeling. *Molecular* and cellular biology**36**, 1673-1690 (2016).
- Saemann, M.D., Zeyda, M., Stulnig, T.M., Bohmig, G.A., Wekerle, T., Horl, W.H. & Zlabinger,
 G.J. Janus kinase-3 (JAK3) inhibition: a novel immunosuppressive option for allogeneic transplantation. *Transplant international : official journal of the European Society for Organ Transplantation*17, 481-489 (2004).
- 67. Malaviya, R., Laskin, D.L. & Malaviya, R. Janus kinase-3 dependent inflammatory responses in allergic asthma. *International immunopharmacology***10**, 829-836 (2010).
- 68. Wu, W. & Sun, X.H. Janus kinase 3: the controller and the controlled. *Acta biochimica et biophysica Sinica***44**, 187-196 (2012).
- Bacon, C.M., McVicar, D.W., Ortaldo, J.R., Rees, R.C., O'Shea, J.J. & Johnston, J.A. Interleukin
 12 (IL-12) induces tyrosine phosphorylation of JAK2 and TYK2: differential use of Janus family
 tyrosine kinases by IL-2 and IL-12. *The Journal of experimental medicine*181, 399-404 (1995).
- 70. Menet, C.J., Rompaey, L.V. & Geney, R. Advances in the discovery of selective JAK inhibitors. *Progress in medicinal chemistry***52**, 153-223 (2013).
- 71. Roskoski, R., Jr. Janus kinase (JAK) inhibitors in the treatment of inflammatory and neoplastic diseases. *Pharmacological research***111**, 784-803 (2016).

- Deisseroth, A., Kaminskas, E., Grillo, J., Chen, W., Saber, H., Lu, H.L., Rothmann, M.D., Brar, S., Wang, J., Garnett, C., Bullock, J., Burke, L.B., Rahman, A., Sridhara, R., Farrell, A. & Pazdur, R. U.S. Food and Drug Administration approval: ruxolitinib for the treatment of patients with intermediate and high-risk myelofibrosis. *Clinical cancer research : an official journal of the American Association for Cancer Research* **18**, 3212-3217 (2012).
- 73. Traynor, K. FDA approves tofacitinib for rheumatoid arthritis. *American journal of health-system pharmacy : AJHP : official journal of the American Society of Health-System Pharmacists* **69**, 2120 (2012).
- 74. Ni, H., Moe, S., Myint, K.T. & Htet, A. Oral janus kinase inhibitor for the treatment of rheumatoid arthritis: tofacitinib. *ISRN rheumatology***2013**, 357904 (2013).
- 75. Zeidler, C., von Kockritz, A., Luger, T.A., Stander, S., Husstedt, I.W. & Tsianakas, A. Tofacitinib, a novel JAK3 inhibitor, as a potential cause of distal symmetric polyneuropathy. *Journal of the European Academy of Dermatology and Venereology : JEADV***30**, 1066-1067 (2016).
- 76. Telliez, J.B., Dowty, M.E., Wang, L., Jussif, J., Lin, T., Li, L., Moy, E., Balbo, P., Li, W., Zhao, Y., Crouse, K., Dickinson, C., Symanowicz, P., Hegen, M., Banker, M.E., Vincent, F., Unwalla, R., Liang, S., Gilbert, A.M., Brown, M.F., Hayward, M., Montgomery, J., Yang, X., Bauman, J., Trujillo, J.I., Casimiro-Garcia, A., Vajdos, F.F., Leung, L., Geoghegan, K.F., Quazi, A., Xuan, D., Jones, L., Hett, E., Wright, K., Clark, J.D. & Thorarensen, A. Discovery of a JAK3-Selective Inhibitor: Functional Differentiation of JAK3-Selective Inhibition over pan-JAK or JAK1-Selective Inhibition. ACS Chem Biol11, 3442-3451 (2016).
- 77. Wieduwilt, M.J. & Moasser, M.M. The epidermal growth factor receptor family: biology driving targeted therapeutics. *Cellular and molecular life sciences : CMLS***65**, 1566-1584 (2008).
- 78. Seshacharyulu, P., Ponnusamy, M.P., Haridas, D., Jain, M., Ganti, A.K. & Batra, S.K. Targeting the EGFR signaling pathway in cancer therapy. *Expert opinion on therapeutic targets***16**, 15-31 (2012).
- 79. Gazdar, A.F. Activating and resistance mutations of EGFR in non-small-cell lung cancer: role in clinical response to EGFR tyrosine kinase inhibitors. *Oncogene***28 Suppl 1**, S24-31 (2009).
- Taus, A., Vollmer, I. & Arriola, E. Activating and resistance mutations of the epidermal growth factor receptor (EGFR) gene and non-small cell lung cancer: a clinical reality. *Archivos de bronconeumologia*47, 103-105 (2011).
- 81. Morabito, A., Costanzo, R., Rachiglio, A.M., Pasquale, R., Sandomenico, C., Franco, R., Montanino, A., De Lutio, E., Rocco, G. & Normanno, N. Activity of gefitinib in a non-small-cell lung cancer patient with both activating and resistance EGFR mutations. *Journal of thoracic oncology : official publication of the International Association for the Study of Lung Cancer***8**, e59-60 (2013).
- 82. Underiner, T.L., Ruggeri, B. & Gingrich, D.E. Development of vascular endothelial growth factor receptor (VEGFR) kinase inhibitors as anti-angiogenic agents in cancer therapy. *Current medicinal chemistry***11**, 731-745 (2004).
- 83. Singh, D., Attri, B.K., Gill, R.K. & Bariwal, J. Review on EGFR Inhibitors: Critical Updates. *Mini reviews in medicinal chemistry***16**, 1134-1166 (2016).
- 84. Liao, J., Gallas, M., Pegram, M. & Slingerland, J. Lapatinib: new opportunities for management of breast cancer. *Breast cancer***2**, 79-91 (2010).
- 85. Sathornsumetee, S. & Rich, J.N. Vandetanib, a novel multitargeted kinase inhibitor, in cancer

therapy. Drugs of today 42, 657-670 (2006).

- Solca, F., Dahl, G., Zoephel, A., Bader, G., Sanderson, M., Klein, C., Kraemer, O., Himmelsbach,
 F., Haaksma, E. & Adolf, G.R. Target binding properties and cellular activity of afatinib (BIBW 2992), an irreversible ErbB family blocker. *The Journal of pharmacology and experimental therapeutics*343, 342-350 (2012).
- 87. Ivy, S.P., Wick, J.Y. & Kaufman, B.M. An overview of small-molecule inhibitors of VEGFR signaling. *Nature reviews. Clinical oncology***6**, 569-579 (2009).
- 88. Massey, P.R., Okman, J.S., Wilkerson, J. & Cowen, E.W. Tyrosine kinase inhibitors directed against the vascular endothelial growth factor receptor (VEGFR) have distinct cutaneous toxicity profiles: a meta-analysis and review of the literature. *Supportive care in cancer : official journal of the Multinational Association of Supportive Care in Cancer***23**, 1827-1835 (2015).
- 89. Funakoshi, T., Latif, A. & Galsky, M.D. Safety and efficacy of addition of VEGFR and EGFR-family oral small-molecule tyrosine kinase inhibitors to cytotoxic chemotherapy in solid cancers: a systematic review and meta-analysis of randomized controlled trials. *Cancer Treat Rev***40**, 636-647 (2014).
- 90. Palmer, R.H., Vernersson, E., Grabbe, C. & Hallberg, B. Anaplastic lymphoma kinase: signalling in development and disease. *Biochem J***420**, 345-361 (2009).
- Rossi, A., Maione, P., Sacco, P.C., Sgambato, A., Casaluce, F., Ferrara, M.L., Palazzolo, G., Ciardiello, F. & Gridelli, C. ALK inhibitors and advanced non-small cell lung cancer (review). *International journal of oncology*45, 499-508 (2014).
- Pan, Z., Hu, S., Li, M., Zhou, Y., Kim, Y.S., Reddy, V., Sanmann, J.N., Smith, L.M., Chen, M., Gao,
 Z., Wang, H.Y. & Yuan, J. ALK-positive Large B-cell Lymphoma: A Clinicopathologic Study of 26
 Cases With Review of Additional 108 Cases in the Literature. *The American journal of surgical pathology***41**, 25-38 (2017).
- 93. Holla, V.R., Elamin, Y.Y., Bailey, A.M., Johnson, A.M., Litzenburger, B.C., Khotskaya, Y.B., Sanchez, N.S., Zeng, J., Shufean, M.A., Shaw, K.R., Mendelsohn, J., Mills, G.B., Meric-Bernstam, F. & Simon, G.R. ALK: a tyrosine kinase target for cancer therapy. *Cold Spring Harbor molecular case studies***3**, a001115 (2017).
- 94. Malik, S.M., Maher, V.E., Bijwaard, K.E., Becker, R.L., Zhang, L., Tang, S.W., Song, P., Liu, Q., Marathe, A., Gehrke, B., Helms, W., Hanner, D., Justice, R. & Pazdur, R. U.S. Food and Drug Administration approval: crizotinib for treatment of advanced or metastatic non-small cell lung cancer that is anaplastic lymphoma kinase positive. *Clinical cancer research : an official journal of the American Association for Cancer Research* 20, 2029-2034 (2014).
- 95. O'Bryant, C.L., Wenger, S.D., Kim, M. & Thompson, L.A. Crizotinib: a new treatment option for ALK-positive non-small cell lung cancer. *The Annals of pharmacotherapy***47**, 189-197 (2013).
- Huber, K.V., Salah, E., Radic, B., Gridling, M., Elkins, J.M., Stukalov, A., Jemth, A.S., Gokturk, C.,
 Sanjiv, K., Stromberg, K., Pham, T., Berglund, U.W., Colinge, J., Bennett, K.L., Loizou, J.I.,
 Helleday, T., Knapp, S. & Superti-Furga, G. Stereospecific targeting of MTH1 by (S)-crizotinib as
 an anticancer strategy. *Nature*508, 222-227 (2014).
- 97. Shaw, A.T., Solomon, B. & Kenudson, M.M. Crizotinib and testing for ALK. *Journal of the National Comprehensive Cancer Network : JNCCN*9, 1335-1341 (2011).
- 98. Khozin, S., Blumenthal, G.M., Zhang, L., Tang, S., Brower, M., Fox, E., Helms, W., Leong, R., Song, P., Pan, Y., Liu, Q., Zhao, P., Zhao, H., Lu, D., Tang, Z., Al Hakim, A., Boyd, K., Keegan, P.,

Justice, R. & Pazdur, R. FDA approval: ceritinib for the treatment of metastatic anaplastic lymphoma kinase-positive non-small cell lung cancer. *Clinical cancer research : an official journal of the American Association for Cancer Research***21**, 2436-2439 (2015).

- 99. Ni, Z. & Zhang, T.C. Computationally unraveling how ceritinib overcomes drug-resistance mutations in ALK-rearranged lung cancer. *Journal of molecular modeling***21**, 175 (2015).
- 100. Organ, S.L. & Tsao, M.S. An overview of the c-MET signaling pathway. *Therapeutic advances in medical oncology***3**, S7-S19 (2011).
- 101. Sierra, J.R. & Tsao, M.S. c-MET as a potential therapeutic target and biomarker in cancer. *Therapeutic advances in medical oncology***3**, S21-35 (2011).
- Zhu, K., Kong, X., Zhao, D., Liang, Z. & Luo, C. c-MET kinase inhibitors: a patent review (2011 2013). *Expert opinion on therapeutic patents*24, 217-230 (2014).
- 103. Grullich, C. Cabozantinib: a MET, RET, and VEGFR2 tyrosine kinase inhibitor. *Recent results in cancer research. Fortschritte der Krebsforschung. Progres dans les recherches sur le cancer***201**, 207-214 (2014).
- Katayama, R., Kobayashi, Y., Friboulet, L., Lockerman, E.L., Koike, S., Shaw, A.T., Engelman, J.A.
 & Fujita, N. Cabozantinib overcomes crizotinib resistance in ROS1 fusion-positive cancer.
 Clinical cancer research : an official journal of the American Association for Cancer Research 21, 166-174 (2015).
- 105. Singh, J., Petter, R.C., Baillie, T.A. & Whitty, A. The resurgence of covalent drugs. *Nature reviews. Drug discovery***10**, 307-317 (2011).
- 106. Giroux, S. Overcoming acquired resistance to kinase inhibition: the cases of EGFR, ALK and BRAF. *Bioorganic & medicinal chemistry letters***23**, 394-401 (2013).
- 107. Keating, G.M. Afatinib: A Review in Advanced Non-Small Cell Lung Cancer. *Targeted oncology***11**, 825-835 (2016).
- 108. Wang, S., Cang, S. & Liu, D. Third-generation inhibitors targeting EGFR T790M mutation in advanced non-small cell lung cancer. *Journal of hematology & oncology***9**, 34 (2016).
- 109. Dangi-Garimella, S. FDA grants accelerated approval for ibrutinib for CLL. *The American journal of managed care***20**, E10 (2014).
- Wang, A., Yan, X.E., Wu, H., Wang, W., Hu, C., Chen, C., Zhao, Z., Zhao, P., Li, X., Wang, L., Wang, B., Ye, Z., Wang, J., Wang, C., Zhang, W., Gray, N.S., Weisberg, E.L., Chen, L., Liu, J., Yun, C.H. & Liu, Q. Ibrutinib targets mutant-EGFR kinase with a distinct binding conformation. *Oncotarget*7, 69760-69769 (2016).
- 111. Lavoie, H. & Therrien, M. Regulation of RAF protein kinases in ERK signalling. *Nature reviews. Molecular cell biology***16**, 281-298 (2015).
- 112. Beeram, M., Patnaik, A. & Rowinsky, E.K. Raf: a strategic target for therapeutic development against cancer. *Journal of clinical oncology : official journal of the American Society of Clinical Oncology* **23**, 6771-6790 (2005).
- 113. Holderfield, M., Deuker, M.M., McCormick, F. & McMahon, M. Targeting RAF kinases for cancer therapy: BRAF-mutated melanoma and beyond. *Nature reviews. Cancer***14**, 455-467 (2014).
- 114. Rahman, M.A., Salajegheh, A., Smith, R.A. & Lam, A.K. B-Raf mutation: a key player in molecular biology of cancer. *Experimental and molecular pathology***95**, 336-342 (2013).
- 115. Kim, G., McKee, A.E., Ning, Y.M., Hazarika, M., Theoret, M., Johnson, J.R., Xu, Q.C., Tang, S., Sridhara, R., Jiang, X., He, K., Roscoe, D., McGuinn, W.D., Helms, W.S., Russell, A.M., Miksinski,

S.P., Zirkelbach, J.F., Earp, J., Liu, Q., Ibrahim, A., Justice, R. & Pazdur, R. FDA approval summary: vemurafenib for treatment of unresectable or metastatic melanoma with the BRAFV600E mutation. *Clinical cancer research : an official journal of the American Association for Cancer Research***20**, 4994-5000 (2014).

- 116. Narita, Y., Okamoto, K., Kawada, M.I., Takase, K., Minoshima, Y., Kodama, K., Iwata, M., Miyamoto, N. & Sawada, K. Novel ATP-competitive MEK inhibitor E6201 is effective against vemurafenib-resistant melanoma harboring the MEK1-C121S mutation in a preclinical model. *Mol Cancer Ther***13**, 823-832 (2014).
- 117. Abraham, J. & Stenger, M. Dabrafenib in advanced melanoma with BRAF V600E mutation. *The Journal of community and supportive oncology***12**, 48-49 (2014).
- 118. Ballantyne, A.D. & Garnock-Jones, K.P. Dabrafenib: first global approval. *Drugs***73**, 1367-1376 (2013).
- 119. Roberts, P.J. & Der, C.J. Targeting the Raf-MEK-ERK mitogen-activated protein kinase cascade for the treatment of cancer. *Oncogene***26**, 3291-3310 (2007).
- 120. Wang, A.X. & Qi, X.Y. Targeting RAS/RAF/MEK/ERK signaling in metastatic melanoma. *IUBMB life***65**, 748-758 (2013).
- 121. Wright, C.J. & McCormack, P.L. Trametinib: first global approval. Drugs73, 1245-1254 (2013).
- 122. Chopra, N. & Nathan, P.D. Trametinib in metastatic melanoma. *Expert review of anticancer therapy***15**, 749-760 (2015).
- 123. Brazil, D.P. & Hemmings, B.A. Ten years of protein kinase B signalling: a hard Akt to follow. *Trends in biochemical sciences***26**, 657-664 (2001).
- 124. MacKeigan, J.P. & Krueger, D.A. Differentiating the mTOR inhibitors everolimus and sirolimus in the treatment of tuberous sclerosis complex. *Neuro-oncology***17**, 1550-1559 (2015).
- 125. Lim, S. & Kaldis, P. Cdks, cyclins and CKIs: roles beyond cell cycle regulation. *Development***140**, 3079-3093 (2013).
- 126. Sarita Rajender, P., Ramasree, D., Bhargavi, K., Vasavi, M. & Uma, V. Selective inhibition of proteins regulating CDK/cyclin complexes: strategy against cancer--a review. *Journal of receptor and signal transduction research***30**, 206-213 (2010).
- 127. Schwartz, G.K. CDK inhibitors: cell cycle arrest versus apoptosis. *Cell cycle* **1**, 122-123 (2002).
- 128. Gitig, D.M. & Koff, A. Cdk pathway: cyclin-dependent kinases and cyclin-dependent kinase inhibitors. *Molecular biotechnology***19**, 179-188 (2001).
- 129. Dhillon, S. Palbociclib: first global approval. *Drugs***75**, 543-551 (2015).
- 130. Roskoski, R., Jr. Cyclin-dependent protein kinase inhibitors including palbociclib as anticancer drugs. *Pharmacological research***107**, 249-275 (2016).
- Yip, P.Y. Phosphatidylinositol 3-kinase-AKT-mammalian target of rapamycin (PI3K-Akt-mTOR) signaling pathway in non-small cell lung cancer. *Translational lung cancer research***4**, 165-176 (2015).
- 132. Miller, B.W., Przepiorka, D., de Claro, R.A., Lee, K., Nie, L., Simpson, N., Gudi, R., Saber, H., Shord, S., Bullock, J., Marathe, D., Mehrotra, N., Hsieh, L.S., Ghosh, D., Brown, J., Kane, R.C., Justice, R., Kaminskas, E., Farrell, A.T. & Pazdur, R. FDA approval: idelalisib monotherapy for the treatment of patients with follicular lymphoma and small lymphocytic lymphoma. *Clinical cancer research : an official journal of the American Association for Cancer Research***21**, 1525-1529 (2015).
- 133. Dienstmann, R., Rodon, J., Serra, V. & Tabernero, J. Picking the point of inhibition: a

comparative review of PI3K/AKT/mTOR pathway inhibitors. *Mol Cancer Ther***13**, 1021-1031 (2014).

- 134. Zhang, J., Yang, P.L. & Gray, N.S. Targeting cancer with small molecule kinase inhibitors. *Nature reviews. Cancer***9**, 28-39 (2009).
- 135. Rix, U. & Superti-Furga, G. Target profiling of small molecules by chemical proteomics. *Nature chemical biology***5**, 616-624 (2009).
- 136. Liu, Y. & Guo, M. Chemical proteomic strategies for the discovery and development of anticancer drugs. *Proteomics*14, 399-411 (2014).
- 137. Wright, M.H. & Sieber, S.A. Chemical proteomics approaches for identifying the cellular targets of natural products. *Natural product reports***33**, 681-708 (2016).
- 138. Nomura, D.K., Dix, M.M. & Cravatt, B.F. Activity-based protein profiling for biochemical pathway discovery in cancer. *Nature reviews. Cancer***10**, 630-638 (2010).
- 139. Huang, F., Zhang, B., Zhou, S., Zhao, X., Bian, C. & Wei, Y. Chemical proteomics: terra incognita for novel drug target profiling. *Chinese journal of cancer***31**, 507-518 (2012).
- 140. Sadaghiani, A.M., Verhelst, S.H. & Bogyo, M. Tagging and detection strategies for activity-based proteomics. *Current opinion in chemical biology***11**, 20-28 (2007).
- 141. Heal, W.P., Wickramasinghe, S.R. & Tate, E.W. Activity based chemical proteomics: profiling proteases as drug targets. *Current drug discovery technologies***5**, 200-212 (2008).
- 142. Shahiduzzaman, M. & Coombs, K.M. Activity based protein profiling to detect serine hydrolase alterations in virus infected cells. *Frontiers in microbiology***3**, 308 (2012).
- 143. Witte, M.D., Walvoort, M.T., Li, K.Y., Kallemeijn, W.W., Donker-Koopman, W.E., Boot, R.G., Aerts, J.M., Codee, J.D., van der Marel, G.A. & Overkleeft, H.S. Activity-based profiling of retaining beta-glucosidases: a comparative study. *Chembiochem : a European journal of chemical biology*12, 1263-1269 (2011).
- 144. Galmozzi, A., Dominguez, E., Cravatt, B.F. & Saez, E. Application of activity-based protein profiling to study enzyme function in adipocytes. *Methods Enzymol***538**, 151-169 (2014).
- 145. Wang, K., Yang, T., Wu, Q., Zhao, X., Nice, E.C. & Huang, C. Chemistry-based functional proteomics for drug target deconvolution. *Expert review of proteomics***9**, 293-310 (2012).
- 146. Pan, S., Zhang, H., Wang, C., Yao, S.C. & Yao, S.Q. Target identification of natural products and bioactive compounds using affinity-based probes. *Natural product reports***33**, 612-620 (2016).
- 147. Yuan, K., Lei, Y. & Huang, C. Application of chemistry-based functional proteomics to screening for novel drug targets. *Combinatorial chemistry & high throughput screening***13**, 414-421 (2010).
- 148. Sun, B. & He, Q.Y. Chemical proteomics to identify molecular targets of small compounds. *Current molecular medicine***13**, 1175-1191 (2013).
- 149. Katayama, H. & Oda, Y. Chemical proteomics for drug discovery based on compound-immobilized affinity chromatography. *Journal of chromatography. B, Analytical technologies in the biomedical and life sciences***855**, 21-27 (2007).
- 150. Yang, Y.Y., Grammel, M., Raghavan, A.S., Charron, G. & Hang, H.C. Comparative analysis of cleavable azobenzene-based affinity tags for bioorthogonal chemical proteomics. *Chemistry* & *biology*17, 1212-1222 (2010).
- 151. Wang, Y. & Chiu, J.F. Proteomic approaches in understanding action mechanisms of metal-based anticancer drugs. *Metal-based drugs***2008**, 716329 (2008).
- 152. He, Q.Y. & Chiu, J.F. Proteomics in biomarker discovery and drug development. Journal of

cellular biochemistry89, 868-886 (2003).

- 153. Mikami, T., Aoki, M. & Kimura, T. The application of mass spectrometry to proteomics and metabolomics in biomarker discovery and drug development. *Current molecular pharmacology***5**, 301-316 (2012).
- 154. Bantscheff, M., Eberhard, D., Abraham, Y., Bastuck, S., Boesche, M., Hobson, S., Mathieson, T., Perrin, J., Raida, M., Rau, C., Reader, V., Sweetman, G., Bauer, A., Bouwmeester, T., Hopf, C., Kruse, U., Neubauer, G., Ramsden, N., Rick, J., Kuster, B. & Drewes, G. Quantitative chemical proteomics reveals mechanisms of action of clinical ABL kinase inhibitors. *Nature biotechnology***25**, 1035-1044 (2007).
- 155. Peters, E.C. & Gray, N.S. Chemical proteomics identifies unanticipated targets of clinical kinase inhibitors. *ACS Chem Biol***2**, 661-664 (2007).
- 156. Medard, G., Pachl, F., Ruprecht, B., Klaeger, S., Heinzlmeir, S., Helm, D., Qiao, H., Ku, X., Wilhelm, M., Kuehne, T., Wu, Z., Dittmann, A., Hopf, C., Kramer, K. & Kuster, B. Optimized chemical proteomics assay for kinase inhibitor profiling. *Journal of proteome research***14**, 1574-1586 (2015).
- 157. Crowther, G.J., Hillesland, H.K., Keyloun, K.R., Reid, M.C., Lafuente-Monasterio, M.J., Ghidelli-Disse, S., Leonard, S.E., He, P., Jones, J.C., Krahn, M.M., Mo, J.S., Dasari, K.S., Fox, A.M., Boesche, M., El Bakkouri, M., Rivas, K.L., Leroy, D., Hui, R., Drewes, G., Maly, D.J., Van Voorhis, W.C. & Ojo, K.K. Biochemical Screening of Five Protein Kinases from Plasmodium falciparum against 14,000 Cell-Active Compounds. *PloS one***11**, e0149996 (2016).
- 158. White, F.M. On the iTRAQ of kinase inhibitors. *Nature biotechnology***25**, 994-996 (2007).
- 159. Gholami, A.M., Hahne, H., Wu, Z., Auer, F.J., Meng, C., Wilhelm, M. & Kuster, B. Global proteome analysis of the NCI-60 cell line panel. *Cell reports***4**, 609-620 (2013).
- 160. Heinzlmeir, S., Kudlinzki, D., Sreeramulu, S., Klaeger, S., Gande, S.L., Linhard, V., Wilhelm, M., Qiao, H., Helm, D., Ruprecht, B., Saxena, K., Medard, G., Schwalbe, H. & Kuster, B. Chemical Proteomics and Structural Biology Define EPHA2 Inhibition by Clinical Kinase Drugs. ACS Chem Biol11, 3400-3411 (2016).
- Klaeger, S., Gohlke, B., Perrin, J., Gupta, V., Heinzlmeir, S., Helm, D., Qiao, H., Bergamini, G., Handa, H., Savitski, M.M., Bantscheff, M., Medard, G., Preissner, R. & Kuster, B. Chemical Proteomics Reveals Ferrochelatase as a Common Off-target of Kinase Inhibitors. ACS Chem Biol11, 1245-1254 (2016).
- 162. Chang, J., Kim, Y. & Kwon, H.J. Advances in identification and validation of protein targets of natural products without chemical modification. *Natural product reports***33**, 719-730 (2016).
- 163. Krysiak, J. & Breinbauer, R. Activity-based protein profiling for natural product target discovery. *Topics in current chemistry***324**, 43-84 (2012).
- 164. Graves, P.R., Kwiek, J.J., Fadden, P., Ray, R., Hardeman, K., Coley, A.M., Foley, M. & Haystead,
 T.A. Discovery of novel targets of quinoline drugs in the human purine binding proteome.
 *Molecular pharmacology*62, 1364-1372 (2002).
- Cheng, K.W., Wong, C.C., Wang, M., He, Q.Y. & Chen, F. Identification and characterization of molecular targets of natural products by mass spectrometry. *Mass spectrometry reviews*29, 126-155 (2010).
- 166. Linscheid, M.W., Ahrends, R., Pieper, S. & Kuhn, A. Liquid chromatography-mass spectrometry-based quantitative proteomics. *Methods in molecular biology***564**, 189-205 (2009).

- 167. Xie, F., Liu, T., Qian, W.J., Petyuk, V.A. & Smith, R.D. Liquid chromatography-mass spectrometry-based quantitative proteomics. *The Journal of biological chemistry***286**, 25443-25449 (2011).
- 168. Aebersold, R. & Mann, M. Mass spectrometry-based proteomics. *Nature*422, 198-207 (2003).
- 169. Tezel, G. A proteomics view of the molecular mechanisms and biomarkers of glaucomatous neurodegeneration. *Progress in retinal and eye research***35**, 18-43 (2013).
- 170. Nogueira, F.C. & Domont, G.B. Survey of shotgun proteomics. *Methods in molecular biology***1156**, 3-23 (2014).
- 171. Marshall, A.G. & Hendrickson, C.L. High-resolution mass spectrometers. *Annual review of analytical chemistry***1**, 579-599 (2008).
- 172. Glish, G.L. & Burinsky, D.J. Hybrid mass spectrometers for tandem mass spectrometry. *Journal* of the American Society for Mass Spectrometry**19**, 161-172 (2008).
- 173. Noziere, B., Kalberer, M., Claeys, M., Allan, J., D'Anna, B., Decesari, S., Finessi, E., Glasius, M., Grgic, I., Hamilton, J.F., Hoffmann, T., Iinuma, Y., Jaoui, M., Kahnt, A., Kampf, C.J., Kourtchev, I., Maenhaut, W., Marsden, N., Saarikoski, S., Schnelle-Kreis, J., Surratt, J.D., Szidat, S., Szmigielski, R. & Wisthaler, A. The molecular identification of organic compounds in the atmosphere: state of the art and challenges. *Chemical reviews***115**, 3919-3983 (2015).
- 174. Banerjee, S. & Mazumdar, S. Electrospray ionization mass spectrometry: a technique to access the information beyond the molecular weight of the analyte. *International journal of analytical chemistry***2012**, 282574 (2012).
- 175. Valentino, L.A. Matrix-assisted laser desorption/ionization (MALDI) imaging mass spectrometry (IMS): peering into the cup of Jamshid. *Haemophilia : the official journal of the World Federation of Hemophilia***20**, 304-305 (2014).
- 176. Calderaro, A., Arcangeletti, M.C., Rodighiero, I., Buttrini, M., Gorrini, C., Motta, F., Germini, D., Medici, M.C., Chezzi, C. & De Conto, F. Matrix-assisted laser desorption/ionization time-of-flight (MALDI-TOF) mass spectrometry applied to virus identification. *Scientific reports***4**, 6803 (2014).
- 177. Giansanti, P., Tsiatsiani, L., Low, T.Y. & Heck, A.J. Six alternative proteases for mass spectrometry-based proteomics beyond trypsin. *Nature protocols***11**, 993-1006 (2016).
- 178. Rubakhin, S.S. & Sweedler, J.V. A mass spectrometry primer for mass spectrometry imaging. *Methods in molecular biology***656**, 21-49 (2010).
- 179. Scigelova, M. & Makarov, A. Orbitrap mass analyzer--overview and applications in proteomics. *Proteomics***6 Suppl 2**, 16-21 (2006).
- 180. Angel, T.E., Aryal, U.K., Hengel, S.M., Baker, E.S., Kelly, R.T., Robinson, E.W. & Smith, R.D. Mass spectrometry-based proteomics: existing capabilities and future directions. *Chemical Society reviews***41**, 3912-3928 (2012).
- 181. Zhang, H. & Ge, Y. Comprehensive analysis of protein modifications by top-down mass spectrometry. *Circulation. Cardiovascular genetics***4**, 711 (2011).
- 182. Zhang, Y., Fonslow, B.R., Shan, B., Baek, M.C. & Yates, J.R., 3rd Protein analysis by shotgun/bottom-up proteomics. *Chemical reviews***113**, 2343-2394 (2013).
- 183. Tsai, Y.S., Scherl, A., Shaw, J.L., MacKay, C.L., Shaffer, S.A., Langridge-Smith, P.R. & Goodlett, D.R. Precursor ion independent algorithm for top-down shotgun proteomics. *Journal of the American Society for Mass Spectrometry*20, 2154-2166 (2009).
- 184. Resing, K.A. & Ahn, N.G. Proteomics strategies for protein identification. FEBS letters 579,

885-889 (2005).

- 185. Edwards, N.J. Protein identification from tandem mass spectra by database searching. *Methods in molecular biology***694**, 119-138 (2011).
- 186. Bantscheff, M., Schirle, M., Sweetman, G., Rick, J. & Kuster, B. Quantitative mass spectrometry in proteomics: a critical review. *Analytical and bioanalytical chemistry***389**, 1017-1031 (2007).
- 187. Beardsley, R.L. & Reilly, J.P. Fragmentation of amidinated peptide ions. *Journal of the American Society for Mass Spectrometry***15**, 158-167 (2004).
- 188. Roepstorff, P. & Fohlman, J. Proposal for a common nomenclature for sequence ions in mass spectra of peptides. *Biomedical mass spectrometry***11**, 601 (1984).
- Gulcicek, E.E., Colangelo, C.M., McMurray, W., Stone, K., Williams, K., Wu, T., Zhao, H., Spratt, H., Kurosky, A. & Wu, B. Proteomics and the analysis of proteomic data: an overview of current protein-profiling technologies. *Current protocols in bioinformatics*Chapter 13, Unit 13 11 (2005).
- 190. Ning, K., Fermin, D. & Nesvizhskii, A.I. Computational analysis of unassigned high-quality MS/MS spectra in proteomic data sets. *Proteomics***10**, 2712-2718 (2010).
- 191. Elias, J.E. & Gygi, S.P. Target-decoy search strategy for mass spectrometry-based proteomics. *Methods in molecular biology***604**, 55-71 (2010).
- 192. Choi, H. & Nesvizhskii, A.I. False discovery rates and related statistical concepts in mass spectrometry-based proteomics. *Journal of proteome research***7**, 47-50 (2008).
- 193. Zhu, W., Smith, J.W. & Huang, C.M. Mass spectrometry-based label-free quantitative proteomics. *Journal of biomedicine & biotechnology***2010**, 840518 (2010).
- 194. Wang, H., Li, Y., Yang, L., Yu, B., Yan, P., Pang, M., Li, X., Yang, H., Zheng, G., Xie, J. & Guo, R.
 Mass spectrometry-based, label-free quantitative proteomics of round spermatids in mice.
 Molecular medicine reports10, 2009-2024 (2014).
- 195. Prokhorova, T.A., Rigbolt, K.T., Johansen, P.T., Henningsen, J., Kratchmarova, I., Kassem, M. & Blagoev, B. Stable isotope labeling by amino acids in cell culture (SILAC) and quantitative comparison of the membrane proteomes of self-renewing and differentiating human embryonic stem cells. *Molecular & cellular proteomics : MCP***8**, 959-970 (2009).
- 196. Ramos-Fernandez, A., Lopez-Ferrer, D. & Vazquez, J. Improved method for differential expression proteomics using trypsin-catalyzed 180 labeling with a correction for labeling efficiency. *Molecular & cellular proteomics : MCP***6**, 1274-1286 (2007).
- 197. Shiio, Y. & Aebersold, R. Quantitative proteome analysis using isotope-coded affinity tags and mass spectrometry. *Nature protocols***1**, 139-145 (2006).
- 198. Wiese, S., Reidegeld, K.A., Meyer, H.E. & Warscheid, B. Protein labeling by iTRAQ: a new tool for quantitative mass spectrometry in proteome research. *Proteomics***7**, 340-350 (2007).
- 199. Cox, J., Hein, M.Y., Luber, C.A., Paron, I., Nagaraj, N. & Mann, M. Accurate proteome-wide label-free quantification by delayed normalization and maximal peptide ratio extraction, termed MaxLFQ. *Molecular & cellular proteomics : MCP***13**, 2513-2526 (2014).
- 200. Matzke, M.M., Brown, J.N., Gritsenko, M.A., Metz, T.O., Pounds, J.G., Rodland, K.D., Shukla, A.K., Smith, R.D., Waters, K.M., McDermott, J.E. & Webb-Robertson, B.J. A comparative analysis of computational approaches to relative protein quantification using peptide peak intensities in label-free LC-MS proteomics experiments. *Proteomics* 13, 493-503 (2013).
- 201. Megger, D.A., Bracht, T., Meyer, H.E. & Sitek, B. Label-free quantification in clinical proteomics.

*Biochimica et biophysica acta***1834**, 1581-1590 (2013).

- 202. Nahnsen, S., Bielow, C., Reinert, K. & Kohlbacher, O. Tools for label-free peptide quantification. *Molecular & cellular proteomics : MCP***12**, 549-556 (2013).
- Malumbres, M., Harlow, E., Hunt, T., Hunter, T., Lahti, J.M., Manning, G., Morgan, D.O., Tsai,
 L.H. & Wolgemuth, D.J. Cyclin-dependent kinases: a family portrait. *Nature cell biology*11, 1275-1276 (2009).
- 204. Duronio, R.J. & Xiong, Y. Signaling pathways that control cell proliferation. *Cold Spring Harbor perspectives in biology***5**, a008904 (2013).
- 205. Asghar, U., Witkiewicz, A.K., Turner, N.C. & Knudsen, E.S. The history and future of targeting cyclin-dependent kinases in cancer therapy. *Nature reviews. Drug discovery***14**, 130-146 (2015).
- 206. Kang, J., Sergio, C.M., Sutherland, R.L. & Musgrove, E.A. Targeting cyclin-dependent kinase 1 (CDK1) but not CDK4/6 or CDK2 is selectively lethal to MYC-dependent human breast cancer cells. *BMC Cancer***14**, 32 (2014).
- 207. Chohan, T.A., Qian, H., Pan, Y. & Chen, J.Z. Cyclin-dependent kinase-2 as a target for cancer therapy: progress in the development of CDK2 inhibitors as anti-cancer agents. *Current medicinal chemistry***22**, 237-263 (2015).
- 208. Finn, R.S., Aleshin, A. & Slamon, D.J. Targeting the cyclin-dependent kinases (CDK) 4/6 in estrogen receptor-positive breast cancers. *Breast cancer research : BCR18*, 17 (2016).
- 209. Cicenas, J. & Valius, M. The CDK inhibitors in cancer research and therapy. *Journal of cancer research and clinical oncology***137**, 1409-1418 (2011).
- 210. Sanchez-Martinez, C., Gelbert, L.M., Lallena, M.J. & de Dios, A. Cyclin dependent kinase (CDK) inhibitors as anticancer drugs. *Bioorganic & medicinal chemistry letters***25**, 3420-3435 (2015).
- 211. Kim, K.S., Sack, J.S., Tokarski, J.S., Qian, L., Chao, S.T., Leith, L., Kelly, Y.F., Misra, R.N., Hunt, J.T., Kimball, S.D., Humphreys, W.G., Wautlet, B.S., Mulheron, J.G. & Webster, K.R. Thio- and oxoflavopiridols, cyclin-dependent kinase 1-selective inhibitors: synthesis and biological effects. *Journal of medicinal chemistry***43**, 4126-4134 (2000).
- 212. Holkova, B., Supko, J.G., Ames, M.M., Reid, J.M., Shapiro, G.I., Perkins, E.B., Ramakrishnan, V., Tombes, M.B., Honeycutt, C., McGovern, R.M., Kmieciak, M., Shrader, E., Wellons, M.D., Sankala, H., Doyle, A., Wright, J., Roberts, J.D. & Grant, S. A phase I trial of vorinostat and alvocidib in patients with relapsed, refractory, or poor prognosis acute leukemia, or refractory anemia with excess blasts-2. *Clinical cancer research : an official journal of the American Association for Cancer Research* 19, 1873-1883 (2013).
- 213. Wiernik, P.H. Alvocidib (flavopiridol) for the treatment of chronic lymphocytic leukemia. *Expert opinion on investigational drugs***25**, 729-734 (2016).
- 214. Zeidner, J.F. & Karp, J.E. Clinical activity of alvocidib (flavopiridol) in acute myeloid leukemia. *Leukemia research***39**, 1312-1318 (2015).
- 215. Meijer, L., Borgne, A., Mulner, O., Chong, J.P., Blow, J.J., Inagaki, N., Inagaki, M., Delcros, J.G. & Moulinoux, J.P. Biochemical and cellular effects of roscovitine, a potent and selective inhibitor of the cyclin-dependent kinases cdc2, cdk2 and cdk5. *European journal of biochemistry***243**, 527-536 (1997).
- Hahntow, I.N., Schneller, F., Oelsner, M., Weick, K., Ringshausen, I., Fend, F., Peschel, C.
 &Decker, T. Cyclin-dependent kinase inhibitor Roscovitine induces apoptosis in chronic lymphocytic leukemia cells. *Leukemia*18, 747-755 (2004).

- 217. Zhang, T., Jiang, T., Zhang, F., Li, C., Zhou, Y.A., Zhu, Y.F. & Li, X.F. Involvement of p21Waf1/Cip1 cleavage during roscovitine-induced apoptosis in non-small cell lung cancer cells. *Oncology reports***23**, 239-245 (2010).
- 218. Cicenas, J., Kalyan, K., Sorokinas, A., Jatulyte, A., Valiunas, D., Kaupinis, A. & Valius, M. Highlights of the Latest Advances in Research on CDK Inhibitors. *Cancers***6**, 2224-2242 (2014).
- 219. Fujiwara, Y., Tamura, K., Kondo, S., Tanabe, Y., Iwasa, S., Shimomura, A., Kitano, S., Ogasawara, K., Turner, P.K., Mori, J., Asou, H., Chan, E.M. & Yamamoto, N. Phase 1 study of abemaciclib, an inhibitor of CDK 4 and 6, as a single agent for Japanese patients with advanced cancer. *Cancer chemotherapy and pharmacology***78**, 281-288 (2016).
- 220. Dickson, M.A., Shah, M.A., Rathkopf, D., Tse, A., Carvajal, R.D., Wu, N., Lefkowitz, R.A., Gonen, M., Cane, L.M., Dials, H.J. & Schwartz, G.K. A phase I clinical trial of FOLFIRI in combination with the pan-cyclin-dependent kinase (CDK) inhibitor flavopiridol. *Cancer chemotherapy and pharmacology* 66, 1113-1121 (2010).
- Parry, D., Guzi, T., Shanahan, F., Davis, N., Prabhavalkar, D., Wiswell, D., Seghezzi, W., Paruch, K., Dwyer, M.P., Doll, R., Nomeir, A., Windsor, W., Fischmann, T., Wang, Y., Oft, M., Chen, T., Kirschmeier, P. & Lees, E.M. Dinaciclib (SCH 727965), a novel and potent cyclin-dependent kinase inhibitor. *Mol Cancer Ther***9**, 2344-2353 (2010).
- 222. Kumar, S.K., LaPlant, B., Chng, W.J., Zonder, J., Callander, N., Fonseca, R., Fruth, B., Roy, V., Erlichman, C., Stewart, A.K. & Mayo Phase, C. Dinaciclib, a novel CDK inhibitor, demonstrates encouraging single-agent activity in patients with relapsed multiple myeloma. *Blood***125**, 443-448 (2015).
- 223. Baker, A., Gregory, G.P., Verbrugge, I., Kats, L., Hilton, J.J., Vidacs, E., Lee, E.M., Lock, R.B., Zuber, J., Shortt, J. & Johnstone, R.W. The CDK9 Inhibitor Dinaciclib Exerts Potent Apoptotic and Antitumor Effects in Preclinical Models of MLL-Rearranged Acute Myeloid Leukemia. *Cancer Res***76**, 1158-1169 (2016).
- 224. Flynn, J., Jones, J., Johnson, A.J., Andritsos, L., Maddocks, K., Jaglowski, S., Hessler, J., Grever, M.R., Im, E., Zhou, H., Zhu, Y., Zhang, D., Small, K., Bannerji, R. & Byrd, J.C. Dinaciclib is a novel cyclin-dependent kinase inhibitor with significant clinical activity in relapsed and refractory chronic lymphocytic leukemia. *Leukemia*29, 1524-1529 (2015).
- 225. Stephenson, J.J., Nemunaitis, J., Joy, A.A., Martin, J.C., Jou, Y.M., Zhang, D., Statkevich, P., Yao, S.L., Zhu, Y., Zhou, H., Small, K., Bannerji, R. & Edelman, M.J. Randomized phase 2 study of the cyclin-dependent kinase inhibitor dinaciclib (MK-7965) versus erlotinib in patients with non-small cell lung cancer. *Lung cancer*83, 219-223 (2014).
- 226. Squires, M.S., Feltell, R.E., Wallis, N.G., Lewis, E.J., Smith, D.M., Cross, D.M., Lyons, J.F. & Thompson, N.T. Biological characterization of AT7519, a small-molecule inhibitor of cyclin-dependent kinases, in human tumor cell lines. *Mol Cancer Ther***8**, 324-332 (2009).
- 227. Chen, R., Wierda, W.G., Chubb, S., Hawtin, R.E., Fox, J.A., Keating, M.J., Gandhi, V. & Plunkett,
 W. Mechanism of action of SNS-032, a novel cyclin-dependent kinase inhibitor, in chronic lymphocytic leukemia. *Blood*113, 4637-4645 (2009).
- 228. Conroy, A., Stockett, D.E., Walker, D., Arkin, M.R., Hoch, U., Fox, J.A. & Hawtin, R.E. SNS-032 is a potent and selective CDK 2, 7 and 9 inhibitor that drives target modulation in patient samples. *Cancer chemotherapy and pharmacology***64**, 723-732 (2009).
- 229. Li, T., Weng, T., Zuo, M., Wei, Z., Chen, M. & Li, Z. Recent progress of cyclin-dependent kinase inhibitors as potential anticancer agents. *Future medicinal chemistry* (2016).

- Costa-Cabral, S., Brough, R., Konde, A., Aarts, M., Campbell, J., Marinari, E., Riffell, J., Bardelli,
 A., Torrance, C., Lord, C.J. & Ashworth, A. CDK1 Is a Synthetic Lethal Target for KRAS Mutant
 Tumours. *PloS one*11, e0149099 (2016).
- 231. Koh, C.M., Sabo, A. & Guccione, E. Targeting MYC in cancer therapy: RNA processing offers new opportunities. *BioEssays : news and reviews in molecular, cellular and developmental biology***38**, 266-275 (2016).
- 232. Aleem, E. & Arceci, R.J. Targeting cell cycle regulators in hematologic malignancies. *Frontiers in cell and developmental biology***3**, 16 (2015).
- 233. Jaganathan, H., Overstreet, K. & Reed, E. Improving breast cancer therapy with CDK4/6 inhibitors. *Clinical breast cancer***14**, 379-380 (2014).
- 234. Baumann, K.H., Kim, H., Rinke, J., Plaum, T., Wagner, U. & Reinartz, S. Effects of alvocidib and carboplatin on ovarian cancer cells in vitro. *Experimental oncology***35**, 168-173 (2013).
- 235. Shim, E.Y., Walker, A.K., Shi, Y. & Blackwell, T.K. CDK-9/cyclin T (P-TEFb) is required in two postinitiation pathways for transcription in the C. elegans embryo. *Genes & development***16**, 2135-2146 (2002).
- 236. Krystof, V., Baumli, S. & Furst, R. Perspective of cyclin-dependent kinase 9 (CDK9) as a drug target. *Current pharmaceutical design***18**, 2883-2890 (2012).
- 237. DePinto, W., Chu, X.J., Yin, X., Smith, M., Packman, K., Goelzer, P., Lovey, A., Chen, Y., Qian, H., Hamid, R., Xiang, Q., Tovar, C., Blain, R., Nevins, T., Higgins, B., Luistro, L., Kolinsky, K., Felix, B., Hussain, S. & Heimbrook, D. In vitro and in vivo activity of R547: a potent and selective cyclin-dependent kinase inhibitor currently in phase I clinical trials. *Mol Cancer Ther***5**, 2644-2658 (2006).
- 238. Chen, H.R., Lin, G.T., Huang, C.K. & Fann, M.J. Cdk12 and Cdk13 regulate axonal elongation through a common signaling pathway that modulates Cdk5 expression. *Experimental neurology***261**, 10-21 (2014).
- 239. Kohoutek, J. & Blazek, D. Cyclin K goes with Cdk12 and Cdk13. *Cell division***7**, 12 (2012).
- 240. Hosoya, N. & Miyagawa, K. Targeting DNA damage response in cancer therapy. *Cancer* science**105**, 370-388 (2014).
- 241. Powell, S.N. & Bindra, R.S. Targeting the DNA damage response for cancer therapy. *DNA repair***8**, 1153-1165 (2009).
- 242. Zhang, T., Kwiatkowski, N., Olson, C.M., Dixon-Clarke, S.E., Abraham, B.J., Greifenberg, A.K., Ficarro, S.B., Elkins, J.M., Liang, Y., Hannett, N.M., Manz, T., Hao, M., Bartkowiak, B., Greenleaf, A.L., Marto, J.A., Geyer, M., Bullock, A.N., Young, R.A. & Gray, N.S. Covalent targeting of remote cysteine residues to develop CDK12 and CDK13 inhibitors. *Nature chemical biology***12**, 876-884 (2016).
- Grillo, M., Bott, M.J., Khandke, N., McGinnis, J.P., Miranda, M., Meyyappan, M., Rosfjord, E.C. & Rabindran, S.K. Validation of cyclin D1/CDK4 as an anticancer drug target in MCF-7 breast cancer cells: Effect of regulated overexpression of cyclin D1 and siRNA-mediated inhibition of endogenous cyclin D1 and CDK4 expression. *Breast cancer research and treatment***95**, 185-194 (2006).
- 244. Finley, R.S. Overview of targeted therapies for cancer. *American journal of health-system pharmacy : AJHP : official journal of the American Society of Health-System Pharmacists***60**, S4-10 (2003).
- 245. Fraser, C.S., Lee, J.Y., Mayeur, G.L., Bushell, M., Doudna, J.A. & Hershey, J.W. The j-subunit of

human translation initiation factor eIF3 is required for the stable binding of eIF3 and its subcomplexes to 40 S ribosomal subunits in vitro. *The Journal of biological chemistry***279**, 8946-8956 (2004).

- 246. Borgo, C., Franchin, C., Salizzato, V., Cesaro, L., Arrigoni, G., Matricardi, L., Pinna, L.A. & Donella-Deana, A. Protein kinase CK2 potentiates translation efficiency by phosphorylating eIF3j at Ser127. *Biochimica et biophysica acta***1853**, 1693-1701 (2015).
- 247. Mazzoccoli, G., Laukkanen, M.O., Vinciguerra, M., Colangelo, T. & Colantuoni, V. A Timeless Link Between Circadian Patterns and Disease. *Trends in molecular medicine***22**, 68-81 (2016).
- 248. Hanif, I.M., Hanif, I.M., Shazib, M.A., Ahmad, K.A. & Pervaiz, S. Casein Kinase II: an attractive target for anti-cancer drug design. *The international journal of biochemistry & cell biology***42**, 1602-1605 (2010).
- 249. Beurel, E., Grieco, S.F. & Jope, R.S. Glycogen synthase kinase-3 (GSK3): regulation, actions, and diseases. *Pharmacology & therapeutics***148**, 114-131 (2015).
- McCubrey, J.A., Steelman, L.S., Bertrand, F.E., Davis, N.M., Sokolosky, M., Abrams, S.L., Montalto, G., D'Assoro, A.B., Libra, M., Nicoletti, F., Maestro, R., Basecke, J., Rakus, D., Gizak, A., Demidenko, Z.N., Cocco, L., Martelli, A.M. & Cervello, M. GSK-3 as potential target for therapeutic intervention in cancer. *Oncotarget*5, 2881-2911 (2014).
- 251. Araki, S., Dairiki, R., Nakayama, Y., Murai, A., Miyashita, R., Iwatani, M., Nomura, T. & Nakanishi, O. Inhibitors of CLK protein kinases suppress cell growth and induce apoptosis by modulating pre-mRNA splicing. *PloS one***10**, e0116929 (2015).
- 252. Mikolcevic, P., Sigl, R., Rauch, V., Hess, M.W., Pfaller, K., Barisic, M., Pelliniemi, L.J., Boesl, M. & Geley, S. Cyclin-dependent kinase 16/PCTAIRE kinase 1 is activated by cyclin Y and is essential for spermatogenesis. *Molecular and cellular biology***32**, 868-879 (2012).
- 253. Martinez, A., Castro, A., Dorronsoro, I. & Alonso, M. Glycogen synthase kinase 3 (GSK-3) inhibitors as new promising drugs for diabetes, neurodegeneration, cancer, and inflammation. *Medicinal research reviews*22, 373-384 (2002).
- 254. Chon, H.J., Bae, K.J., Lee, Y. & Kim, J. The casein kinase 2 inhibitor, CX-4945, as an anti-cancer drug in treatment of human hematological malignancies. *Frontiers in pharmacology***6**, 70 (2015).
- 255. Fullerton, M.D. AMP-activated protein kinase and its multifaceted regulation of hepatic metabolism. *Current opinion in lipidology***27**, 172-180 (2016).
- 256. Horike, N., Takemori, H., Katoh, Y., Doi, J., Min, L., Asano, T., Sun, X.J., Yamamoto, H., Kasayama, S., Muraoka, M., Nonaka, Y. & Okamoto, M. Adipose-specific expression, phosphorylation of Ser794 in insulin receptor substrate-1, and activation in diabetic animals of salt-inducible kinase-2. *The Journal of biological chemistry***278**, 18440-18447 (2003).
- 257. Altarejos, J.Y. & Montminy, M. CREB and the CRTC co-activators: sensors for hormonal and metabolic signals. *Nature reviews. Molecular cell biology***12**, 141-151 (2011).
- 258. Takemori, H., Kajimura, J. & Okamoto, M. TORC-SIK cascade regulates CREB activity through the basic leucine zipper domain. *FEBS J***274**, 3202-3209 (2007).
- 259. Katoh, Y., Takemori, H., Horike, N., Doi, J., Muraoka, M., Min, L. & Okamoto, M. Salt-inducible kinase (SIK) isoforms: their involvement in steroidogenesis and adipogenesis. *Molecular and cellular endocrinology***217**, 109-112 (2004).
- 260. Jaitovich, A. & Bertorello, A.M. Intracellular sodium sensing: SIK1 network, hormone action and high blood pressure. *Biochimica et biophysica acta***1802**, 1140-1149 (2010).

- 261. Charoenfuprasert, S., Yang, Y.Y., Lee, Y.C., Chao, K.C., Chu, P.Y., Lai, C.R., Hsu, K.F., Chang, K.C., Chen, Y.C., Chen, L.T., Chang, J.Y., Leu, S.J. & Shih, N.Y. Identification of salt-inducible kinase 3 as a novel tumor antigen associated with tumorigenesis of ovarian cancer. *Oncogene***30**, 3570-3584 (2011).
- 262. Chen, H., Huang, S., Han, X., Zhang, J., Shan, C., Tsang, Y.H., Ma, H.T. & Poon, R.Y. Salt-inducible kinase 3 is a novel mitotic regulator and a target for enhancing antimitotic therapeutic-mediated cell death. *Cell death & disease***5**, e1177 (2014).
- Sakamaki, J., Fu, A., Reeks, C., Baird, S., Depatie, C., Al Azzabi, M., Bardeesy, N., Gingras, A.C., Yee, S.P. & Screaton, R.A. Role of the SIK2-p35-PJA2 complex in pancreatic beta-cell functional compensation. *Nature cell biology*16, 234-244 (2014).
- 264. Sasaki, T., Takemori, H., Yagita, Y., Terasaki, Y., Uebi, T., Horike, N., Takagi, H., Susumu, T., Teraoka, H., Kusano, K., Hatano, O., Oyama, N., Sugiyama, Y., Sakoda, S. & Kitagawa, K. SIK2 is a key regulator for neuronal survival after ischemia via TORC1-CREB. *Neuron*69, 106-119 (2011).
- Park, J., Yoon, Y.S., Han, H.S., Kim, Y.H., Ogawa, Y., Park, K.G., Lee, C.H., Kim, S.T. & Koo, S.H.
 SIK2 is critical in the regulation of lipid homeostasis and adipogenesis in vivo. *Diabetes*63, 3659-3673 (2014).
- 266. Ahmed, A.A., Lu, Z., Jennings, N.B., Etemadmoghadam, D., Capalbo, L., Jacamo, R.O., Barbosa-Morais, N., Le, X.F., Vivas-Mejia, P., Lopez-Berestein, G., Grandjean, G., Bartholomeusz, G., Liao, W., Andreeff, M., Bowtell, D., Glover, D.M., Sood, A.K. & Bast, R.C., Jr. SIK2 is a centrosome kinase required for bipolar mitotic spindle formation that provides a potential target for therapy in ovarian cancer. *Cancer cell***18**, 109-121 (2010).
- Ozanne, J., Prescott, A.R. & Clark, K. The clinically approved drugs dasatinib and bosutinib induce anti-inflammatory macrophages by inhibiting the salt-inducible kinases. *Biochem J*465, 271-279 (2015).
- 268. Clark, K., MacKenzie, K.F., Petkevicius, K., Kristariyanto, Y., Zhang, J., Choi, H.G., Peggie, M., Plater, L., Pedrioli, P.G., McIver, E., Gray, N.S., Arthur, J.S. & Cohen, P. Phosphorylation of CRTC3 by the salt-inducible kinases controls the interconversion of classically activated and regulatory macrophages. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*109, 16986-16991 (2012).
- 269. Sundberg, T.B., Choi, H.G., Song, J.H., Russell, C.N., Hussain, M.M., Graham, D.B., Khor, B., Gagnon, J., O'Connell, D.J., Narayan, K., Dancik, V., Perez, J.R., Reinecker, H.C., Gray, N.S., Schreiber, S.L., Xavier, R.J. & Shamji, A.F. Small-molecule screening identifies inhibition of salt-inducible kinases as a therapeutic strategy to enhance immunoregulatory functions of dendritic cells. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America***111**, 12468-12473 (2014).
- 270. Popa, C., Netea, M.G., van Riel, P.L., van der Meer, J.W. & Stalenhoef, A.F. The role of TNF-alpha in chronic inflammatory conditions, intermediary metabolism, and cardiovascular risk. *Journal of lipid research***48**, 751-762 (2007).
- 271. Oft, M. IL-10: master switch from tumor-promoting inflammation to antitumor immunity. *Cancer immunology research***2**, 194-199 (2014).
- 272. Magalhaes, J.G., Lee, J., Geddes, K., Rubino, S., Philpott, D.J. & Girardin, S.E. Essential role of Rip2 in the modulation of innate and adaptive immunity triggered by Nod1 and Nod2 ligands. *European journal of immunology***41**, 1445-1455 (2011).

- 273. Rak, R., Haklai, R., Elad-Tzfadia, G., Wolfson, H.J., Carmeli, S. & Kloog, Y. Novel LIMK2 Inhibitor Blocks Panc-1 Tumor Growth in a mouse xenograft model. *Oncoscience***1**, 39-48 (2014).
- 274. Santos, F.P. & Ravandi, F. Advances in treatment of chronic myelogenous leukemia--new treatment options with tyrosine kinase inhibitors. *Leukemia & lymphoma***50 Suppl 2**, 16-26 (2009).
- 275. Ryan, C., Abramson, A., Patel, M. & Menter, A. Current investigational drugs in psoriasis. *Expert opinion on investigational drugs***21**, 473-487 (2012).
- 276. De Marinis, F. & Passaro, A. [Nivolumab in second-line treatment of squamous non-small cell lung cancer.]. *Recenti progressi in medicina***107**, 634-640 (2016).
- Banzi, M., De Blasio, S., Lallas, A., Longo, C., Moscarella, E., Alfano, R. & Argenziano, G. Dabrafenib: a new opportunity for the treatment of BRAF V600-positive melanoma. OncoTargets and therapy9, 2725-2733 (2016).
- Davis, M.I., Hunt, J.P., Herrgard, S., Ciceri, P., Wodicka, L.M., Pallares, G., Hocker, M., Treiber,
 D.K. & Zarrinkar, P.P. Comprehensive analysis of kinase inhibitor selectivity. *Nature biotechnology*29, 1046-1051 (2011).
- Karaman, M.W., Herrgard, S., Treiber, D.K., Gallant, P., Atteridge, C.E., Campbell, B.T., Chan,
 K.W., Ciceri, P., Davis, M.I., Edeen, P.T., Faraoni, R., Floyd, M., Hunt, J.P., Lockhart, D.J., Milanov,
 Z.V., Morrison, M.J., Pallares, G., Patel, H.K., Pritchard, S., Wodicka, L.M. & Zarrinkar, P.P. A
 quantitative analysis of kinase inhibitor selectivity. *Nature biotechnology*26, 127-132 (2008).
- 280. Grover, N.S. & Park, S.I. Novel Targeted Agents in Hodgkin and Non-Hodgkin Lymphoma Therapy. *Pharmaceuticals (Basel, Switzerland)***8**, 607-636 (2015).
- 281. Kim, M.K., James, J. & Annunziata, C.M. Topotecan synergizes with CHEK1 (CHK1) inhibitor to induce apoptosis in ovarian cancer cells. *BMC Cancer***15**, 196 (2015).
- 282. Coussens, L.M. & Werb, Z. Inflammation and cancer. Nature420, 860-867 (2002).
- 283. Chanput, W., Mes, J.J. & Wichers, H.J. THP-1 cell line: an in vitro cell model for immune modulation approach. *International immunopharmacology*23, 37-45 (2014).
- 284. Pattison, M.J., Mackenzie, K.F. & Arthur, J.S. Inhibition of JAKs in macrophages increases lipopolysaccharide-induced cytokine production by blocking IL-10-mediated feedback. *Journal of immunology***189**, 2784-2792 (2012).
- 285. Rosas, M., Osorio, F., Robinson, M.J., Davies, L.C., Dierkes, N., Jones, S.A., Reis e Sousa, C. & Taylor, P.R. Hoxb8 conditionally immortalised macrophage lines model inflammatory monocytic cells with important similarity to dendritic cells. *European journal of immunology***41**, 356-365 (2011).
- 286. Wang, Y., Cao, Y., Meng, Y., You, Z., Liu, X. & Liu, Z. The novel role of thymopentin in induction of maturation of bone marrow dendritic cells (BMDCs). *International immunopharmacology***21**, 255-260 (2014).
- 287. Gori, B., Ricciardi, S., Fulvi, A., Intagliata, S., Del Signore, E. & de Marinis, F. New antiangiogenics in non-small cell lung cancer treatment: Vargatef (BIBF 1120) and beyond. *Therapeutics and clinical risk management***7**, 429-440 (2011).
- 288. Camarca, A., Gianfrani, C., Ariemma, F., Cimmino, I., Bruzzese, D., Scerbo, R., Picascia, S., D'Esposito, V., Beguinot, F., Formisano, P. & Valentino, R. Human Peripheral Blood Mononuclear Cell Function and Dendritic Cell Differentiation Are Affected by Bisphenol-A Exposure. *PloS one***11**, e0161122 (2016).
- 289. Wang, M., You, J., Bemis, K.G., Tegeler, T.J. & Brown, D.P. Label-free mass spectrometry-based

protein quantification technologies in proteomic analysis. *Briefings in functional genomics & proteomics***7**, 329-339 (2008).

- 290. Mueller, L.N., Brusniak, M.Y., Mani, D.R. & Aebersold, R. An assessment of software solutions for the analysis of mass spectrometry based quantitative proteomics data. *Journal of proteome research***7**, 51-61 (2008).
- 291. Roskoski, R., Jr. A historical overview of protein kinases and their targeted small molecule inhibitors. *Pharmacological research***100**, 1-23 (2015).
- 292. Serhan, C.N., Chiang, N. & Van Dyke, T.E. Resolving inflammation: dual anti-inflammatory and pro-resolution lipid mediators. *Nature reviews. Immunology***8**, 349-361 (2008).
- 293. Coutinho, A.E. & Chapman, K.E. The anti-inflammatory and immunosuppressive effects of glucocorticoids, recent developments and mechanistic insights. *Molecular and cellular endocrinology***335**, 2-13 (2011).
- 294. Moeschler, S., Locher, S., Conzelmann, K.K., Kramer, B. & Zimmer, G. Quantification of Lyssavirus-Neutralizing Antibodies Using Vesicular Stomatitis Virus Pseudotype Particles. *Viruses***8** (2016).
- 295. Quan, L.D., Thiele, G.M., Tian, J. & Wang, D. The Development of Novel Therapies for Rheumatoid Arthritis. *Expert opinion on therapeutic patents***18**, 723-738 (2008).
- Schade, A.E., Schieven, G.L., Townsend, R., Jankowska, A.M., Susulic, V., Zhang, R., Szpurka, H.
 & Maciejewski, J.P. Dasatinib, a small-molecule protein tyrosine kinase inhibitor, inhibits T-cell activation and proliferation. *Blood*111, 1366-1377 (2008).
- 297. Miklossy, G., Hilliard, T.S. & Turkson, J. Therapeutic modulators of STAT signalling for human diseases. *Nature reviews. Drug discovery***12**, 611-629 (2013).
- 298. Cyktor, J.C. & Turner, J. Interleukin-10 and immunity against prokaryotic and eukaryotic intracellular pathogens. *Infection and immunity***79**, 2964-2973 (2011).
- 299. Bootz, F. & Neri, D. Immunocytokines: a novel class of products for the treatment of chronic inflammation and autoimmune conditions. *Drug discovery today***21**, 180-189 (2016).
- 300. Grimbaldeston, M.A., Nakae, S., Kalesnikoff, J., Tsai, M. & Galli, S.J. Mast cell-derived interleukin 10 limits skin pathology in contact dermatitis and chronic irradiation with ultraviolet B. *Nature immunology***8**, 1095-1104 (2007).